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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREH|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am delighted to present the annual report
of the Group for FY2022. Meanwhile, |, on behalf of the Company,
hereby express my wholehearted gratitude to all stakeholders,
including but not limited to the Shareholders, employees, customers,
suppliers, business partners and vendors, for their ongoing trust and
confidence in the Group and continuous support for the Group’s
business development throughout the tough and challenging year of
2022.

The Shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange by way of the Global Offering on 15 July 2022. This
marked an important milestone to the development of the Group in
another stage.

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020, a series
of precautionary and control measures had been undertaken by
governments across the world including Hong Kong, Macau and the
PRC, those measures limited the business development of the Group
in such regions. The strict border closing policy between Hong
Kong, Macau and the PRC delayed the original investment plans of
customers in the IT related projects, which adversely affected the
Group's financial performance in the second half of FY2022.

Although the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic continues, the
governments of Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC started easing
the strict precautionary and control measures in late 2022 to foster
the recovery of the economy. In addition, the finalisation of the
arrangement for gaming operator license renewal also removed
another uncertainty in Macau.

Despite the Group encountered adverse economic impacts resulting
from the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in Macau, Hong Kong
and the PRC, the Group still recorded an increase in the revenue
from approximately HK$534.3 million for FY2021 to approximately
HK$580.8 million for FY2022, representing an increase by
approximately HK$46.5 million or 8.7%.

The Group is rooted in Macau and Hong Kong, and positions itself as
an integrated IT service provider by providing high quality enterprise
IT solution service and distribution for customers in both regions.
In addition, the Group also notices a lot of emerging business
opportunities in the PRC, especially in the Greater Bay Area, with the
support policies from Macau and the PRC government conducive to
Macau based enterprises. The Group has invested and has extended
its business in the PRC since 2021. During FY2022, the Group
endeavored to reduce the reliance on the Macau market with a
remarkable progress. The revenue generated from the PRC increased
from approximately HK$0.2 million for FY2021 to approximately
HK$41.1 million for FY2022. It is also a strong proof for the correct
direction of the Group’s business development.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERH/E

Even amid the challenges over FY2022, the Group is resilient under
the tough economic environment. Other than strengthening its
leading position as an IT solutions provider in Macau by providing
core IT solutions with up-to-date technology and maintaining
business relationship with existing customers, the Group will explore
and identify new business opportunities in the PRC in order to seize
new business opportunities from the recovery of the economy in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, especially in the Greater Bay Area.

On top of this, the Group is actively looking for new elements to
existing IT solutions and potential new business opportunities. The
Group is aware of the increasing importance and popularity of using
artificial intelligence in different industries and established AloT
and BCI team, which specialise in (i) developing brain-computer
interaction and related sense technology and sensory-induced
Electroencephalography signal acquisition technology; and (ii)
developing own eco-system which could integrate with different
functions in different industries in the market in FY2022. As at 31
December 2022, there were 57 employees in R&D department in
the PRC. The Group expects the number of employees under R&D
team will grow continuously in 2023. Also, the Group contemplates
the possibility of conducting fund raising from market investors and
financial institutions in the PRC for such R&D. When the market
and related technology become mature, the Group wishes to
commercialise certain products with BCl features, which is believed
to be another profit driver to the Group in the future.

With the talented and experienced management as well as
R&D team, the Group will continue to assess potential business
opportunities in a cautious manner and enhance the Shareholders’
value in the future.

Yours sincerely,

Chao Ka Chon
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERR DT

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK

IT solutions involve the design, supply, integration, operation
and maintenance of IT systems. IT solutions could be primarily
categorised into two components, namely (i) enterprise IT solutions
and (i) distribution and resale of hardware and software. Enterprise
IT solutions could be further categorised as (i) Professional IT services,
(i) Managed services, (iii) lease income from IT equipment and (iv) IT
maintenance and consultancy services.

As an IT solutions provider and authorised distributor, the Group
introduces IT products and services, and provides related IT solutions
to the local markets, including Macau and Hong Kong, and provides
IT solution services covering procurement and integration, Managed
services and maintenance services to the end users in Macau and
Hong Kong. The Group also distributes IT products to IT solutions
providers and resellers. The Group had extended its footprint to the
Greater Bay Area since FY2021 and executed several IT solutions
projects during FY2022.

The adverse effect on the economy resulting from COVID-19
pandemic has been eased along with the border reopening policy
in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau. The Group expects the growth
of IT industry in the Greater Bay Area will resume to a remarkable
growth for the following reasons:

(@) the demands for professional IT solutions, even during the
period of severe COVID-19 pandemic, from various customers
in different industries remain strong. However, the pandemic
limited their budgets and plans on the IT infrastructure
refurbishment. It is expected that those customers will
accelerate and continue its original plans on IT infrastructure
refurbishment and new project investment along with the rapid
post-COVID recovery in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau;

(b) the uncertainty on the arrangement of the new gaming
operator license renewal during FY2022 limited the plans
and budgets on IT infrastructure refurbishment investment of
existing operators during FY2022. The Group expects those
demands will resume quickly along with the successful renewal
of new 10-year gaming operator license in December 2022,

(c) the new 10-year gaming operator license was finalised in
December 2022, and operators pledged to invest and support
the development of non-gaming industries in Macau in coming
years under the new requirements of the license. With the
increasing efforts from the Macau government in diversifying
away from its reliance on gaming industry, the Group expects
that it will benefit indirectly from the increasing demand for
IT solutions relating to the investments to be made by those
operators in the coming years;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBWR DT

(d) the Macau government will adopt the “1+4"” adequate
diversification development strategy to enrich Macau’s function
s “One Centre” for integrated tourism and leisure, while
facilitating the development of four nascent industries, namely
the “Big Health” industry; modern financial services; high
technology; and conferences and exhibitions, commerce and
trade, and culture and sports in “2023 Policy Address”. The
Group expects the demand of IT solutions in the above sectors
will increase along with the increasing influence of IT elements

in business operations;

(e) the Group will leverage the technical know-how and
experience in Macau and will extend its service scope by
extending its comprehensive enterprise IT solution business on
top of the existing distribution business and IT maintenance
and consultancy services in Hong Kong and the Greater Bay
Area in coming years;

(f)  with the intensified competitions over gaming and hospitality
industry, market participants endeavor to create a better and
immersive experience to customers by adding new features and
value-added services on the existing IT infrastructure; and

() the development of 5G Network, advancement and
popularisation of data analytics, increased infrastructure
requirements for emerging technology adoption and increased
data exposure would also continuously drive the demand for IT
solutions in Macau.

The following emerging business opportunities in Macau and the
Greater Bay Area also offer a platform for the Group to expand its
business:

Supportive governmental policies in promoting
smart city

The Macau government has been actively promoting the
development of smart city for several years. According to the
“Government of Macau SAR Five Years Development Plan (2016-
2020)" published in 2016, “Technology Innovation and Smart City
Working Group” has been introduced to establish a comprehensive
and hierarchical system to assist higher institution and research
institutes to develop Macau into a smart city. The overall direction
aims to integrate smart technologies into urban management,
government services, medical services, transportation management,
tourism and custom services by utilising advanced IT. Such smart
city development will boost the demand for IT solutions services
in Macau. For FY2022, the Group engaged and completed certain
relevant projects for the Macau government. The Group expects to
participate in more similar projects in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Implementation of IOT network

The “Outline of Development Plan for Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area” (BB B KN ERZERERFEIME) aims to
build up a smart urban agglomeration. In order to facilitate the
development of smart city within the Greater Bay Area, Macau
government has invested extensive resources to conduct research
and development on the implementation of the loT network over
the years. As a result, along with the development of 5G network
and supportive governmental policies, the rapid development of loT
in Macau will directly drive the demand for IT solutions in coming
years.

Development of Fin-tech and e-commerce services

In May 2020, People’s Bank of China, China Banking and Insurance
Regulatory Commission, China Securities Regulatory Commission
and State Administration of Foreign Exchange issued “Opinions on
Financial Support for The Construction of The Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area” (BAM & BiSz 7 E RN EE 258
E 5.) which stated the development direction and emphasised the
cooperation of financial institutions within the Greater Bay Area. In
response to the development goal, Macau government will provide
financial incentives to local small and medium enterprises and help
them develop e-Commerce and cross-border e-Commerce business,
as well as popularising digital payment system.

R&D of BCl and metaverse technology

The Group is in the process of developing a new technology
platform and products with BCI features, which could create synergy
on the existing IT solution offered by the Group and such technology
could be implanted to products from other fields, including but not
limited to, healthcare, smart auto-mobile, smart home and smart
wearable devices.

In 2022, the Group established AloT team and BCl team in
the PRC, which specialises in (i) developing brain-computer
interaction and related sense technology and sensory-induced
Electroencephalography signal acquisition technology; and (ii)
developing own eco-system which could integrate with different
functions in different industries in the market. As at 31 December
2022, there are 57 employees in R&D department in the PRC. The
Group expected the number of employees under R&D team will
grow continuously in FY2023. Also, the Group contemplates the
possibility of conducting fund raising from market investors and
financial institutions in the PRC for such R&D.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBWR DT

During FY2022, the Group achieved prospective R&D progress in BCI
technology and an experimental product, namely BCI headband, was
developed. It is a non-invasive BCl interactive product which consists
of brain-computer headband, standardised brain-computer access
module, brain-computer operating system and other applicable
products. It is a connector between virtual world and reality together
with multi-sensory interaction, allowing users to enter multi-scenario
application ecosystem in metaverse industry. The Group plans to
commercialise BCl headband when the technology and operating
environment become mature.

The Group's non-invasive BCI headband is a closed loop control
system, which is a device that could automatically analyse, execute,
and regulate a system to maintain at desired state without human
interaction. Along with the advancement of signal acquisition and
decoding technology, BCI technology also offers feedback to users
and improve the interactive experience in metaverse. BCl technology
is widely applied in fields such as medical rehabilitation, the AloT
and the metaverse industry.

At the same time, the Group is also in the process of developing the
“Metaverse Public Cloud Platform Space”, which is based on the
self-developed 3-dimension reconstruction algorithm and artificial
intelligence rendering algorithm. It enables users to quickly create
virtual characters and interact with each other in “Metaverse Public
Cloud Platform Space”.

Individual users can also use Saa$S platform tools to customise virtual
characters with reference to character-library in the “Metaverse
Public Cloud Platform Space”, which enables users to build different
scenarios quickly. The Group has successively tested such technology
in different scenarios, such as metaverse exhibition, metaverse
education, metaverse entertainment and metaverse cultural tour.
BCl is a vehicle adhered with the consciousness from users, and it
allows users to communicate between the virtual world and reality
without any limitation.

BCl is one of the important human-computer interaction
technologies for the integration and connection between virtual
world and reality, and it is expected to be widely applied and used
in the future in different aspects with the increasing importance in
different fields. The Group has made a blueprint in the development
of BCl technology and metaverse. It is expected that such technology
will become another profit driver for the Group in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

The Shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1204.HK) by way of the Global Offering on
15 July 2022. This marked an important milestone of the Company.

Opportunities in the PRC

Looking forward, the Group would excel its existing competitive
strengths to maintain its leading position in Macau and capture
further business opportunities in Hong Kong and the PRC, especially
in the Greater Bay Area.

One of the subsidiaries of the Group is located in Henggqin, a city
positioned at the stage of developing tourism, leisure, healthcare,
commercial and financial services, culture, science, education, and
high-tech industries in the Greater Bay Area, and hence the IT
solutions demand in Henggin is predicted to grow at a remarkable
pace. The preferential tax treatment for enterprises that are
conducive to Macau's economic diversification would further put
the Group to an advantageous position in exploring the market and
business opportunities in Henggin.

The Group believes subsidiaries located in Henggin and Zhuhai are
complementary to each other and will create synergy for the growth
of the business in the PRC in the future.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During FY2022, the Group continuously maintained its
leading position in the Macau IT solutions market by providing
comprehensive and high-quality end-to-end Enterprise IT solutions
to customers under various sectors in Macau, Hong Kong and the
PRC as well as conducting distribution business in Hong Kong and
resale business in Macau and the PRC.

Despite the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic persisted in FY2022,
the number of orders under the business segment of distribution
and resale has increased, resulting in a growth of the Group’s
revenue for FY2022.

The revenue of the Group increased from approximately HK$534.3
million for FY2021 to approximately HK$580.8 million for FY2022,
representing an increase of 8.7% as compared to that of FY2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBWR DT

Enterprise IT solutions

The revenue from Enterprise IT solutions decreased from
approximately HK$395.0 million for FY2021 to approximately
HK$357.5 million for FY2022. Such decrease was attributable to the
net effect of the increase in the revenue from Managed services by
approximately HK$5.6 million and the decrease in the revenue from
Professional IT services and IT equipment leasing by approximately
HK$26.6 million and HK$16.0 million respectively. The change
in revenue under Professional IT services was mainly due to the
decrease in the revenue recognised from the significant contracts
resulting from the completion of major parts of contracts as well
as the adverse impact from the resurgence of COVID-19 pandemic
which delayed budget allocations for building or upgrading the
IT infrastructure from customers. The decrease in revenue from IT
equipment leasing was mainly due to the decrease in the number
and scale of projects with lease component. In addition, the increase
in the revenue from Managed services was driven by the increase in
the demand for related services from the market.

With increasing awareness of cyber security along with supportive
policies in Macau and Hong Kong and the development of
customers’ network and sales channel in the PRC, the Group expects
the demand of Enterprise IT services would remain strong in 2023.
On top of strengthening the competitive edge of the Group in IT
industry by expanding and exploring more business opportunities
in Managed services and IT maintenance and consultancy services,
the Group would proactively seek for new business opportunities in
the Greater Bay Area which help diversify the revenue from different
geographical locations. During FY2022, the Group achieved
promising progress in expanding the business in the PRC, in which
the revenue generated from the PRC increased from approximately
HK$0.2 million for FY2021 to approximately HK$41.1 million for
FY2022. On the other hand, the Group could also benefit from
steady revenue source from Managed services and IT maintenance
and consultancy services due to its recurring nature.

Distribution and resale

During FY2022, the Group continuously acted as a distributor by
partnering with system vendors or their authorised distributors in the
sale and distribution of a selected range of hardware and associated
system relating to corporate mobility and cybersecurity solutions
in Hong Kong. Furthermore, the Group expanded its business in
the PRC by committing several resale orders with large order value.
The ease of the shortage of chips for network-related products also
allowed the Group to fulfill the outstanding orders received in prior
year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Resulting from the abovementioned development of the Group, the
revenue from distribution and resale increased from approximately
HK$139.3 million for FY2021 to approximately HK$223.3 million
for FY2022. Such increase in the amount was attributable to the
increase in the number of resale orders with large order value in the
PRC and fulfilment of outstanding orders of wireless LAN products
in Hong Kong.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The total revenue increased by approximately HK$46.5 million
or 8.7% to approximately HK$580.8 million for FY2022 from
approximately HK$534.3 million for FY2021. The increase was
primarily attributable to the aggregate effect of the decrease
in revenue generated from Enterprise IT solutions business by
approximately HK$37.5 million and the increase in revenue
generated from distribution and resale business by approximately
HK$84.0 million. For explanations of such change in revenue, please
refer to the section headed “BUSINESS REVIEW" in this annual
report.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales increased by approximately HK$58.3 million
or 13.8% to approximately HK$480.5 million for FY2022 from
approximately HK$422.2 million for FY2021. The extent of the
increase in cost of sales was greater than that of the revenue for
FY2022, the reason was mainly due to the decrease in the number
of projects with higher gross profit margin and the increase in the
revenue from distribution and resale business which generated lower
gross profit margin as compared to that of Enterprise IT solutions
business.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit decreased by approximately HK$11.7 million
or 10.4% to approximately HK$100.4 million for FY2022 from
approximately HK$112.1 million for FY2021. The decrease in the
gross profit and gross profit margin was attributable to the decrease
in the profit margin resulting from (i) the resurgence of COVID-19
pandemic in Macau in the second half of FY2022; (i) the decrease
in the number of newly-accepted projects with higher gross profit
margin during FY2022; and (iii) the increase in the contribution of
the revenue from distribution and resale business which generated
lower gross profit margin as compared to that of Enterprise IT
solutions business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBWR DT

Other income and other net gains

Other income and other net gains increased by approximately
HK$3.6 million or 289.5% to approximately HK$4.8 million for
FY2022 from approximately HK$1.2 million for FY2021. The increase
was mainly attributable to the one-off subsidy for the purpose
of providing financial support due to the prolonged unexpected
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong and the subsidy
for employees’ benefit expenses as well as the rental subvention for
offices in the PRC.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
HK$5.9 million or 31.5% to approximately HK$24.6 million for
FY2022 from approximately HK$18.7 million for FY2021. The
increase was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in the salaries
payable to the salespersons and commission expenses resulting
from the expansion of the selling and marketing team for FY2022
and (ii) the increase in sponsorship expenses in which the Group
participated to promote its business and market presence in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

General and administrative expenses

The general and administrative expenses increased by approximately
HK$5.5 million or 8.9% to approximately HK$67.2 million for
FY2022 from approximately HK$61.7 million for FY2021. The
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in entertaining and
travelling expenses, depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, auditors’ remuneration and legal and
professional expenses upon Listing.

R&D expenses

The R&D expenses increased by approximately HK$6.7 million
for FY2022. It mainly represents the costs incurred by AloT and
BCl teams newly established in the PRC, which specialise in the
development of core technologies widely applied in metaverse
experience, including three-dimension reconstruction, haptic
feedback, iris recognition technology, artificial intelligence, loT, and
edge computing, aiming to develop a metaverse eco-system for new
users’ experience and enhance the existing IT solutions provided by
the Group in the future.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

H A K L fth Y 25 5 58

H U AR E MU e F R R 2021 F I FR491.2
BEATEINL3.68 8 87w2289.5% %2022
FHFERNLISEEEIL - ENETZHRAEE
COVID- 19 B EEREFZEMEL — X
MR ATIRHAOB ISR - UREBEMFAZR
AR B ARIRERE S WAL o

HERDHMAX

HE RO M T E2021EMENN18THEE
TTHEANLI5.98 & T E31.5% E2022FHFEH)
#4924 6 A BBTT ° BH1E B HFN)2022F B FF 54
ENEHEERET  BEEMNEEAST S LA
SRR ER AEEEEEERPED
¥R LTS AL T2 B E BRI S 0 o

—BRRITHEX
H2021 B FERL61.78 BB LB NS 5E B
BITER8.9% E2022F M FHI67 2B BB T ©
EMNEZRRIEE R ERFASY - W - BE &K
HARFEREEEITE « BB & EThEE
EREEEREM -

WrEp <

2022F I I RSB M6 7TEE BT - £
2 E A B AR ST E AloT 2 BC I K P 25 A 9 K
N BEEEBEMAREZEBRTTFHERD
AT - BIEZHER  BERE - WEER
Bl - ATE8E - WBAR - 25GTES > §54&H
BERNAFPEBRNITHLEARRFIIRAAS
EFTRERIRBITER S

2022 ANNUAL REPORT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance costs — net

The finance costs — net decreased by approximately HK$0.7 million
or 41.2% to approximately HK$1.0 million for FY2022 from
approximately HK$1.7 million for FY2021. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the increase in the finance income from bank deposits
by approximately HK$0.5 million, netting off by the combined effect
of (i) the increase in the finance costs from the borrowings during
FY2022; and (ii) the decrease in finance costs from the financial
liability with redeemable right which was lapsed and derecognised
upon Listing.

Income tax expense

The income tax expense decreased by approximately HK$2.6
million or 43.3% to approximately HK$3.4 million for FY2022 from
approximately HK$6.0 million for FY2021. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the decrease in profit before income tax from FY2021
to FY2022. The listing expenses, which are non-deductible items
for computing assessable profit during FY2022 and FY2021, and
unrecognised tax loss in the PRC have led to the high effective tax
rate of approximately 51.3% and 20.0% for FY2022 and FY2021,
respectively.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing reasons, the profit for the year of the
Group for FY2022 decreased by approximately HK$20.8 million
or 86.7% to approximately HK$3.2 million for FY2022 from
approximately HK$24.0 million for FY2021.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a conservative approach towards its treasury
policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout
FY2022. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
assessing the potential customer’s credit quality, define credit limit
by customer and conducting regular meetings and reviews on the
overdue status of the customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management of the Company to finance the
Group’s operations and meet its short-term and long-term funding
requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBWR DT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed its operations mainly through a combination
of cash flow from operations and borrowings. As at 31 December
2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$105.5 million (31 December 2021: HK$14.5 million) that were
mainly denominated in HK$, MOP, RMB and US$.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2022, which was
calculated based on the total borrowings as at the respective dates,
was nil (31 December 2021: approximately 18.6%).

On 23 March 2021, the Company entered into an investment
agreement with one of the pre-IPO investors, DHQ (Macau). Pursuant
to the agreement, the Company or Tai Wah had an obligation to
repurchase the Company’s ordinary Shares issued to DHQ (Macau)
and the redeemable rights are recognised as a financial liability.
The relevant interest rate is assessed to be 5.25%. The redeemable
rights lapsed upon the successful Listing of the Company and the
corresponding amount of financial liability was derecognised upon
Listing. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no financial liability
for redeemable rights (31 December 2021: approximately HK$37.9
million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no borrowings (31
December 2021: approximately HK$31.5 million), and total lease
liabilities of approximately HK$12.2 million (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$10.1 million), of which the current portion
amounted to approximately HK$6.6 million (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$6.1 million).

On 15 July 2022, the Company issued a total of 125,000,000
ordinary Shares at a price of HK$1.08 per Share upon the
completion of the Global Offering. The number of total issued
Shares of the Company was increased to 500,000,000 Shares upon
completion of the Capitalisation Issue and the Global Offering.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions
or recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the Group entities’ functional currency. For commercial
transactions, the exposure to foreign exchange risk is minimal as the
majority of subsidiaries of the Group operates in Macau and Hong
Kong with most of the transactions denominated and settled in
HKS.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For assets and liabilities, a majority of the monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in HK$, MOP and US$ and the foreign
exchange risk is considered minimal as these currencies are pegged.
The Group considers Macau and Hong Kong subsidiaries are
exposed to minimal foreign exchange risk from insignificant amounts
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in RMB.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing regular
reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and tries to
minimise these exposures through close monitoring. The Group did
not carry out any hedging activities by using any financial instrument
against its foreign currencies’ during FY2022 and FY2021.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no capital commitments (31
December 2021: approximately HK$0.9 million).

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group did not
have any significant contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no significant investment, material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group during
FY2022. Save for the future plans as disclosed under the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus,
there was no plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31
December 2022.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 249
employees (including four executive Directors and excluding one
non-executive Director and three INEDs, as compared to a total
of 189 employees as at 31 December 2021. The remuneration
packages that the Group offers to its employees include salary,
commissions, discretionary bonuses, pension scheme and other cash
subsidies. In general, the Group determines employee salaries based
on each employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. The Group
has designed an annual review system to assess the performance of
its employees, which forms the basis of its decisions with respect to
salary raises, bonuses and promotions. The total staff costs incurred
by the Group for FY2022 were approximately HK$90.2 million
compared to approximately HK$72.7 million for FY2021. Various
on-the-job trainings were provided to the employees based on their
job duties’ needs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBWR DT

The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the Board upon
recommendation from the Remuneration Committee having regard
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group
did not pledge any non-financial assets including property, plant
and equipment to banks or any other financial institutions. The
bank deposit of HK$53,317,000 was restricted for securing
banking facilities as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021:
HK$2,925,000).

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
15 July 2022. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities
during the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this
annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of final
dividend for FY2022 (FY2021: nil).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Board, as at the date of
this annual report, the Company has maintained the public float of
not less than 25% of the issued Shares as required under the Listing
Rules.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Net Proceeds from the Listing amounted to HK$93.0 million
after deducting the underwriting fees and commissions and other
listing expenses borne by the Company. As at date of this annual
report, the Directors are not aware of any material change to the
planned use of proceeds as set out in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The Company will use
the Net Proceeds raised from the Global Offering in accordance with
the intended application of the Net Proceeds as set out in the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWmRST

An analysis of the planned usage of the Net Proceeds as stated in BRI EZAT MM AISREFENAE R EALE
the Prospectus and the actual utilisation of the Net Proceeds for the — _E7i1 H#J#E M E = AF R A 8 - HAR TS 5 IBF
period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report ~ ZERIEBERIBRDOHAT :

is set out below:

Utilised
Net Proceeds as
Percentage of at the date
total Allocation of of this Unutilised
Net Proceeds Net Proceeds  annual report Net Proceeds
B2 BHE REFHEH
NEEH FSRE EYalil)s ABANFE
Use of proceeds FrisRERZ BAk RRIE HERE MEFE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEAT BEAT
(Note)
(Bzx)
Capturing business opportunities REXEEMEE
in the Greater Bay Area 43.8% 40.7 75 33.2
Upfront costs of two Enterprise GBS EIEL)
IT solution projects AT ERRR AR 30.4% 283 - 283
Strengthening the product ISR EE A B ae )
development capabilities 15.8% 14.7 45 10.2
General working capital —REEES 10.0% 93 23 7.0
Total @it 100.0% 93.0 143 78.7

Note: As disclosed in the Prospectus, the estimated Net Proceeds after  FIiE : INBIRERAMEE - R BHEER LM NA

deduction of underwriting fees and commissions and estimated REMREIRBEERENOGEETRE - G5
expenses payable by us in connection with the Global Offering, were FISSIRFRELR104.8B & BT - ManALR
approximately HK$104.8 million, which was revised to HK$94.1 AIBEIR2022F7A14BMBEBRELZERA
million as disclosed in the Company’s offer price and allotment results EARE - Z2WEBRIRMABEET - K
announcement dated 14 July 2022. The actual Net Proceeds received NEWE R BRI RIEFRELRB.0BEE
by the Company were approximately HK$93.0 million. The Company T ARRIRRBRERMRREESEAD
intends to adjust the difference of approximately HK$1.1 million to the R HEBRBETERNABEET
business strategies in the same proportion as the original funds applied HUFEE o

as shown in the Prospectus.
Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other update on the B EXFF#EBEIN - BEARFHRAH - AEEH
use of Net Proceeds up to the date of this annual report. Further —fEE B AMERIEFER GOSN ER o WAT

announcement will be published if there is any change in the use of ~ SRIBFEREBEAEE) - WIAIGE—TBM
Net Proceeds. N
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DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of eight Directors, comprising four
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three INEDs.
The following table sets forth certain information regarding the

=

EFEeRM/\REFER AT ERNERTE
= —BFPTEER=EBIFRNTEE - T
RESNEREESNETER -

Directors.
Relationship
amongst
Date of Directors Relationship
Date of joining appointment  Length of Existing position Main roles and and senior with substantial
Name Age  the Group asaDirector  service in the Company responsibilities management shareholder
WA BZIR EZRER BIERRH
fe FR F5EEY 209 BBER BRELANEL  FEBERER EEENBE B
Executive Directors
HITEE
ChaoKaChon 46 21 April 2003 18 February 3 years Chairman, CEOand ~ Overall management,  Cohabiting with Ms.  N/A
2021 executive Director strategic Chiu as a spouse
development and
leading the business
development of the
Group
AR 45  2003F4A218 202152A188 3% IR BREHTER AKENEEEE B SRBEKLIRE TER
YES BERRBEER
R
ChiuKoon Chi 44 11 January 2011 18 February 3 years Executive Director Overall administration, ~ Cohabiting with Mr.  Cohabiting with
2021 operations and Chaoasaspouse  Mr. Chaoasa
human resources spouse
and marketing of
the Group
icfied Mz 0MEFIANB 202152A188 3% HiEs AREMBEIHE ERBETLRE ERBAXLRE
B 2ERANE
RAREH
Lei Sok Han 45 3 June 2013 18 February 3 years Executive Director Overall development of -~ None None
2021 product solutions
and marketing
strategies of the
Group
Eite 455 2013F6A38  2001F2A18H 3% HER ARENERYE E B &
7 RN E R
Ng Hong Kei 35 1July 2014 18 February 3 years Executive Director Overall business Elder brother of Mr.  None
2021 development Ng Hong Seng,
and business a member of the
consultation of the senior management
Group team
REH 3% 201457818 20152A188 3% HiTES AEEMBREARUR SREEEENUE &
R L —RERTER
B
Non-executive Director
FHUTEE
Li Haodong 46 1 April 2021 1 April 2021 3 years Non-executive Director  Providing strategicand ~ None None
development advice
to the Board
ZHER 4  201F4R1B 2021418 3% IHNITER WMESSRERMEE & &
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EERSREERE

Relationship
amongst
Date of Directors Relationship
Date of joining appointment  Length of Existing position Main roles and and senior with substantial
Name Age  the Group asaDirector  service in the Company responsibilities management shareholder
WA BZER EZREH BIERRH
#e FR FREEH 209 RBFER BRRALFANRL  TEREREHR EEENER B
INEDs
BUFHTEE
Man Wing Pong 52 20June 2022 20June 2022  3years INED Supervising and providing None None
independent advice to
the Board
3K 5% 202066A208 200256A208 3F BUFHTES EERMEZERNEL E &
U Seng Pan 52 20June 2022 20June 2022  3years INED Supervising and providing None None
independent advice to
the Board
RECE 5% 202056A208 200256A208 3F BUFHTES EERREZERIEL B £
ot
Suen ChiWai 58 20June 2022 20June 2022 3 years INED Supervising and providing None None
independent advice to
the Board
K 58  202066A208 200256A208 3F BUFHTES EERREZERNEL E &
o
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chao Ka Chon ( A =X 18 ), aged 46, is the founder of the
Group and Chairman, CEO and executive Director who is primarily
responsible for the overall management, strategic development
and leading the business development of the Group. Mr. Chao was
appointed as a Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated
as Chairman, CEO and an executive Director on 20 April 2021.
Mr. Chao is a sole director of Tai Wah, which is a substantial
Shareholder. Mr. Chao is cohabiting with Ms. Chiu as a spouse.

Mr. Chao has over 18 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior
to first commencing the business operation of the Group in 2010,
Mr. Chao worked at HKBN JOS (Macau) Limited (formerly known
as Jardine OneSolution (Macau) Limited) which principally engages
in the provision of enterprise systems in Macau and is a subsidiary
of HKBN Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1310), as a senior account manager from March 2006 to May 2009.
From June 2002 to June 2005, Mr. Chao worked as a senior system
engineer and a senior system analyst at Noveland Textiles Limited
(formerly known as Novetex Spinners Limited).

BARELE 465 AXEEMAIBKARE
& BREATERNTES  BXEAELREE
HEBER BRERLESEBER - AL
HER2021F2R18HEZEAESE © WHK2021
FAA20BEFARAEE  BRATERNTE
£ o FEAEBTERRETal Wahtlfi—EE - [7
SRR @EEZTRE -

FEARITITER AR I8FEKR - NAEEAE
010FHAHAREBEE 2R - BAEER
HKBN JOSCGRF) A R A7) (A8 Ate i R
FERAT)HEE:  Z2r B EEIEERAA]
(B—MERB AT LT RAE (BB R - 1310)
KB AR - EERRPIN BRI 2 ZRIRS
%7 B2006F3 A E2009F5 AEESREF
4RI o H520024F6 A E2005F6 A © FELLEREE
Bt AR AR (A ARETHER AR EE
B EGTRARS BRSO
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Mr. Chao was elected as a member of FE A RBUAH A E 2 E
THEEMMEZEEZEE (the 14th Guangzhou District Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference*) on
22 January 2022 and is currently a member and a standing
committee member of FEIA RBUGHEEZENTHEZ 8
& (Guangzhou Baiyun District Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference*) since October 2021. Mr. Chao is
currently a member of the £ 753 &Z% & & (Economic Development
Council*) since August 2021 and has been the vice chairman of &
VESR K & 5 B 48 B8 (the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area Internet Alliance*) since December 2020. Mr. Chao has
been the executive vice chairman of the board of supervisors of the
Macau International Industrial Technology Development Association
since October 2018. Mr. Chao has also been the vice chairman of
the board of supervisors of the Guangdong and Macao Federation
of Industry and Commerce since July 2018.

Since launching the scholarship and internship awards programme
in collaboration with the Institute of Data Science of the City
University of Macau in May 2019, a programme that aims to support
and cultivate talents in Macau, Mr. Chao has been the chairman
of such scholarship committee and has been leading the overall
co-ordination and candidates’ selection process of the programme.

Mr. Chao obtained a degree of bachelor of science and a
postgraduate diploma in science from The University of Auckland
in New Zealand in October 2000 and June 2002, respectively. Mr.
Chao was awarded “Excellence Award in Entrepreneur” by the
Business Awards of Macau in November 2019.

Ms. Chiu Koon Chi (5@ %), aged 44, is an executive Director who
is primarily responsible for the overall administration, operations
and human resources and marketing of the Group. Ms. Chiu was
appointed as a Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated
as an executive Director on 20 April 2021. Ms. Chiu first joined the
Group as a director of BoardWare Macau in January 2011. Ms. Chiu
is also a director of each of BoardWare Macau, BoardWare HK and
Synergy CCL. Ms. Chiu is cohabiting with Mr. Chao as a spouse.

Ms. Chiu has over 15 years of experience in marketing. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Chiu worked at IDT Telecom Asia Pacific
Limited, a subsidiary of IDT Corporation, a company listed on The
New York Stock Exchange (stock code: NYSE:IDT), from May 2005
to July 2007 where her last position was a senior marketing officer.
From June 2002 to March 2005, Ms. Chiu worked as a sales and
marketing assistant at Noveland Textiles Limited (formerly known as
Novetex Spinners Limited).

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e
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B R FIN2019%5 A EIRFIN T A 2 HURTL 24
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[& % £ B 20004 10 A 200246 A R 78
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OB o 2019 1A - BEABFRFMAMER
#(Business Awards of Macau) 8 %[ b2 xR S
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Ms. Chiu obtained a degree of bachelor of social sciences from
Lingnan University, Hong Kong in December 2001. In July 2006, Ms.
Chiu obtained a diploma in marketing from The University of Hong
Kong School of Professional and Continuing Education in association
with the Chartered Institute of Marketing.

Ms. Lei Sok Han (Z=3#f), aged 45, is an executive Director who
is primarily responsible for the overall development of product
solutions and marketing strategies of the Group. Ms. Lei was
appointed as a Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated
as an executive Director on 20 April 2021. Ms. Lei first joined the
Group as a manager of the product and marketing department
of BoardWare Macau on 3 June 2013 and has been a director of
the aforementioned department of BoardWare Macau since April
2016. Ms. Lei is also currently a director of BoardWare Macau and
BoardWare HK.

Ms. Lei has over 19 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Lei worked at CSA Automated (Macau)
Limited, a subsidiary of Automated Systems Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 771), which principally engages in the provision of IT services,
from September 2010 to May 2013 with her last position as an
account manager in the sales & marketing department. From
February 2008 to February 2009, Ms. Lei worked as a sales manager
at Certis Security (Macau) Ltd., which principally engages in the
provision of security services. Ms. Lei worked as a senior account
manager at Mega Tecnologia Informatica Lda., a Macau IT services
provider, from May 2001 to January 2008.

Ms. Lei obtained a degree of bachelor of business administration
in marketing from the University of Macau in January 2001.
In June 2007, Ms. Lei obtained a degree of master of business
administration from CapStone University, the United States through
distance learning.

Mr. Ng Hong Kei (R781), aged 35, is an executive Director who
is primarily responsible for the overall business development and
business consultation of the Group. Mr. Ng was appointed as a
Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated as an executive
Director on 20 April 2021. Mr. Ng first joined the Group as a
manager of the presales and consultant department of BoardWare
Macau in July 2014 and was promoted to be a director of the
business consultation department of BoardWare Macau in October
2018.

Mr. Ng has over 11 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Ng worked at NetCraft Information
Technology (Macau) Co., Ltd., an IT solution provider in Macau,
from August 2008 to October 2010 and January 2012 to May 2014
with his last position as an assistant manager of the pre-sales team.

EERSREERE
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Mr. Ng obtained a degree of bachelor of business administration in
business information system from the University of Macau in March
2009. Mr. Ng was recognised as a Cisco certified design associate
from May 2009 to October 2017, a Cisco advanced wireless
design specialist from June 2009 to June 2011 and a Cisco security
solutions and design specialist from August 2010 to August 2012
and from October 2014 to October 2016, by Cisco Systems, Inc.

Mr. Ng has been serving as a member of B S B4t [ERGHEAEZE
& (the Islands District Community Service Advisory Committee*) of
Macau since January 2019. He is currently appointed as the Deputy
Coordinator of the committee for a term up to 29 January 2025.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Li Haodong (Z%5R), aged 46, was appointed as a Director on
1 April 2021 and re-designated as a non-executive Director on 20
April 2021. Mr. Li is primarily responsible for providing strategic and
development advice to the Board.

Mr. Li has over eight years of experience in industrial and
infrastructure development and recruitment consultancy services in
the PRC. Mr. Li has been a director and the general manager of DHQ
(Macau), which principally engages in the provision of industrial
development, project investment and management services, since
December 2019. Mr. Li has been a general manager assistant of
BB REZEEEAFR A F (Zhuhai Da Henggin Group Limited*),
which principally engages in the provision of infrastructure project
investment, construction and industrial development, property
management and consultancy services, since March 2019. Mr. Li
worked at ZK/EMEEFHREA AN ERKRE B R QT (Zhuhai
Henggin New Area Elites Human Resources Services Co., Ltd*),
which principally engages in the provision of recruitment and
consultancy services, from March 2016 to April 2020 as a general
manager. Mr. Li worked at BB KEZEEZM B HERBR QA
(Zhuhai Da Henggqin Building Material Technology Development Co.
Ltd*), which principally engages in the provision of research and
development of building and urban green technology development
services, from June 2012 to February 2016 as a deputy general
manager.

Mr. Li obtained a degree of bachelor of science in industrial
automation from Guangdong University of Technology, the PRC in
July 1998. Mr. Li also obtained a master of business administration
degree from Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications, the
PRC in December 2008.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Man Wing Pong (327K #§), aged 52, was appointed as an INED
on 20 June 2022. He is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Man has over 18 years of experience in corporate finance,
investment banking and asset management. Mr. Man has been
working at Arion & League Capital Limited as a managing director
since April 2020. Mr. Man worked at Mason Global Capital Limited
from January 2019 to February 2020 as a corporate finance senior
vice president. Mr. Man worked at ABCI Capital Limited from
September 2014 to April 2018 with his last position as a senior
vice president of the investment banking department. Mr. Man
worked at RHB OSK Capital Hong Kong Limited from June 2011
to September 2014 with his last position as a senior vice president
of the corporate finance department. Mr. Man worked at China
Merchants Securities (HK) Co., Ltd from October 2007 to June 2011
with his last position as a manager. Mr. Man worked at Deloitte &
Touche Corporate Finance Ltd from December 2004 to September
2007 with his last position as a manager.

Mr. Man obtained a degree of bachelor of social science from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1993. Mr. Man
obtained a master degree of financial management from Rotterdam
School of Management, Erasmus University in August 2004. Mr.
Man obtained a postgraduate diploma in professional accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2018. Mr.
Man is currently a fellow of CPA Australia, a fellow of Institute of
Public Accountants, a fellow of Institute of Financial Accountants,
a member of China Committee of the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute and a member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors. Mr. Man is currently licensed under the SFO as a
responsible officer of Silverstone Investments Limited to carry out
Type 4 (Advising on Securities), Type 6 (Advising on Corporate
Finance) and Type 9 (Asset Management) regulated activities.

EERSREERE
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Mr. U Seng Pan ( 5k & 3& ), aged 52, was appointed as an INED
on 20 June 2022. He is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. U has nearly 30 years of experience in the IT industry. Mr.
U is currently a management member of Silergy Corp., a high-
tech company which has the industry-leading process technology
to design innovative mixed-signal and analog IC for automotive,
industrial, consumer, computing and telecom equipment, since
March 2023. Mr. U was the co-founder and currently Council
President of Macao Institute of Industrial Technology (MIIT), a non-
profit organisation and business incubator aiming for technological
innovation and entrepreneurship by facilitating applied research,
uniting and attracting international and cross-border high-end talents
and teams for technological transformation since September 2022.
Mr. U served as co-chief executive officer and a managing director
of Macau of Akrostar Technology Co., Ltd, a high-tech company
which principally engages in the provision of chip design and system
applications with advanced semiconductor intellectual property
development and services, from March 2021 to August 2022. In
October 2001, Mr. U also co-founded Chipidea Microelectronics
(Macau) Ltd which was acquired in 2009 by Synopsys Inc, a world
leading high-tech company principally engages in the provision of
advanced technologies for chip design, verification, IP integration
and software security services, his last position as the research and
development director until February 2021. Mr. U worked at the
University of Macau from September 1994 to February 2021 with
his last position as a deputy director of the State Key Laboratory of
Analog and Mixed Signal VLSI and full professor of the faculty of
science and technology in University of Macau.

Mr. U has been currently a member of the & # & R Z B &
(Economic Development Council*) since August 2021 and a
member of the Macao Committee for Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Great Bay Area Development of the Boao Forum for Asia
(BFA) with his appointment valid until November 2025. Mr. U has
been a committee member of JBFIFRITTHREBFEHETZ B (The
Technology Committee of the Government of Macau*) and JBF94F
BIFTH R BT AL 3R Z BE (The Talent Development Committee
of the Government of Macau*), since August 2016 and March
2020, respectively. Mr. U has been the vice chairman of the China
Semiconductor Industry Association IC Design Branch of the PRC
since November 2019. Mr. U has been a committee member of the
Science and Technology Commission of Ministry of Education of the
People’s Republic of China since March 2016 until 2021.
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In recognition of his pioneering contribution both in academic
research & industrial development, he was awarded by The
2021 Best Sci-Tech Innovation Award for Outstanding Young
Entrepreneur in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area, Macau SAR government the 2010 Honorary Title of Value
and the 2021 Merit Medal of Industry and Commerce, and 2019
National Commemorative Medal of celebration of 70th anniversary
of the founding of the PRC.

Mr. U obtained a bachelor of science in electronics engineering
from Jinan University in Guangzhou, the PRC in June 1991. Mr. U
obtained a master of electrical and electronic engineering from the
University of Macau in July 1997. Mr. U obtained a doctorate degree
in electrical and electronic engineering from the University of Macau
in July 2002. Mr. U obtained a doctorate degree in electrical and
computer engineering from the Instituto Superior Técnico of the
University of Lisbon, Portugal in April 2004. Mr. U has been a fellow
of The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers since January
2016.

Mr. Suen Chi Wai (& £ &), aged 58, was appointed as an INED
on 20 June 2022. He is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Suen has over 20 years of experience in corporate finance and
with area of practice principally in initial public offerings on the
Stock Exchange, mergers and acquisitions, corporate reorganisations
and Listing Rules compliance matters. Mr. Suen has been a partner
of Withers since February 2018. Mr. Suen worked at DLA Piper in
Hong Kong from June 2007 to February 2018 with his last position as
a partner. Mr. Suen served as a manager in the investment products
department of the SFC from October 2005 to July 2006, responsible
for reviewing applications of collective investment schemes and
monitoring continuing compliance of authorised schemes. Mr. Suen
worked as an assistant solicitor at Woo Kwan Lee & Lo in Hong
Kong from September 2000 to March 2005.

Mr. Suen has been serving as an independent non-executive director
of (i) Xin Yuan Enterprises Group Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1748) since
September 2018; (ii) Venus Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc., a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2500) since July 2019; and (iii) Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1073) since July 2019.
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Mr. Suen obtained a degree of bachelor of science from University
of East Anglia, the United Kingdom in July 1987 and a postgraduate
certificate in laws from the University of Hong Kong in June 1998.
Mr. Suen has been admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong since
October 2000 and in England and Wales since December 2003.
Mr. Suen has also been a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since May 1998 and a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 1993.

Save as disclosed above, each of the Directors:

(i) did not hold other positions in the Company or other members
of the Group as at the date of this annual report;

(i) did not hold other major appointments and professional
qualifications as at the date of this annual report;

(i) had no other relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial Shareholders as at the date of this
annual report;

(iv) did not have any other directorships in public companies the
securities of which are listed on any securities markets in Hong
Kong or overseas in the three years prior to the date of this
annual report; and

(v) confirmed, to the best of his or her knowledge, information
and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, there were no
other matters that need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders in connection with his or her appointment, and
there was no information relating to him or her required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules as at the date
of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, save as the interests of Mr.
Chao in the Shares which are disclosed in the section headed
“Disclosure of Interests and Other Information” in directors’ report
in this annual report, each of the Directors does not have any
interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Other than the Directors, the senior management team consists
of seven members, who, together with executive Directors, are
responsible for the day-to-day management and operation of the

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSHREEE

BREEE
PREES

Group. The table below sets out information in respect of the senior
management personnel.

SREREERHCRKEAR K
EEPTEFARAEAEEANAEERRE
B TREYEESNEEERENER

Date of
appointment Relationship with
as a member Directors, controlling
Date of joining  of senior Existing position in Shareholders and
Name Age  the Group management the Group Roles and responsibilities substantial Shareholders
BzEAR4 HEE  ZRRRR
i £k MATKERY EREMRERE BRARENEQ BBREL TERRHBEE
Tsang Tik Man 34 2 May 2019 2 May 2019 Financial controller and company  Overall financial management ~ None
secretary and company secretarial
matters of the Group
BHX 35 201985828 2019%5A28  MBHERATNE ARERENBHEER &
REANESH
Leong Wai Meng 38 23 June 2014 1 August 2019 Director of the sales department ~ Overall supervision and None
of BoardWare Macau management of the sales
matters of the Group
216 /5 014568238 2019581 BREMEENEE ERREEAKEMERHE &
E
Chan Kuong Kit 36 2January 2020 2January 2020 Assistant director of the Overall management and None
application development development of the software
department of BoardWare application business of the
Macau Group
Bt 365 2020F1A28 20061A28 BRERMEREFFRIENE IEEINEREARHENE B
B BERREE
°
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Date of
appointment Relationship with
as a member Directors, controlling
Date of joining  of senior Existing position in Shareholders and
Name Age  the Group management  the Group Roles and responsibilities substantial Shareholders
BzEAE4 HEZ  ZRRRR
#E £k MATKERY ERERERE BRAKENEQ BEREL TERRHBEE
Hoi Ut Sim 40 1 November 2017 1 June 2019 Assistant Managed services Overall business development ~ None
director of BoardWare Macau ~ and the supervision of
Managed services matters of
the Group
AR 407 2017F1MAIE 201986718 BRRFHEXERSE AREMBRXHYRLEE B
g TERBEE
Ho lo Keong 53 23 September 23 September Director of professional service  Overall daily operations of the ~ None
2013 2013 department of BoardWare service team and overseeing
Macau the delivery of service
functions of the Group
(s 53 203F9A2BE  01359A23F  BERFEXRKTEE AREMEERGENNAE &
Efe YEERERNE
3
Ng Hong Seng 34 2 January 2014 1June 2019 Assistant director of professional - Overall supervision of the Younger brother of
service department of engineering and project Mr. Ng, an executive
BoardWare Macau management teams of the Director
Group
RAE ME 2014F1828 2019F6A1E  BARMEXRERIELE EREEARENTENER ANEERALONS
EEEK
Chan Hon Fan 46 2 May 2000 April 2018 General manager of Synergy ~ Overall management of the None
ccL daily operations and talent
development programmes of
the Group
REE 465 200095828 2018547 EHR e BREEARENER &
LERATER:E
]
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Mr. Tsang Tik Man ( & # 3 ), aged 34, joined the Group as a
financial manager on 2 May 2019 and was promoted to be the
financial controller of the Group on 1 January 2021. Mr. Tsang was
appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 20 April
2021. Mr. Tsang is primarily responsible for the overall financial
management and company secretarial matters of the Group.

Mr. Tsang has over nine years of experience in professional auditing,
accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Tsang worked at Nexion Technologies Limited, a company listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8420) which principally
engages in the provision of information and communications
technology solution, from July 2017 to January 2019 with his last
position as a finance manager. Mr. Tsang worked at Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu from September 2011 and July 2017 with his last position
as a manager.

Mr. Tsang obtained a degree of bachelor of business administration
in accounting from Hong Kong Baptist University in November
2011. Mr. Tsang completed the Chartered Governance Qualifying
Programme launched by The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries in February 2021 and was admitted as chartered
secretary and chartered governance professional in November 2022.
He was admitted as a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in January 2015 and is a
certified public accountant (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He was also admitted as chartered
accountant of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales in January 2022.

Mr. Leong Wai Meng (2 & 8) (formerly known as Li Jing Hong
( Z AR %8 )), aged 38, joined the Group as a manager of the sales
department of BoardWare Macau on 23 June 2014. He has been an
assistant director of the aforementioned department since 1 August
2019. Mr. Leong is primarily responsible for the overall supervision
and management of the sales matters of the Group.

Mr. Leong has over 11 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Leong worked at NetCraft Information
Technology (Macau) Co., Ltd., a solution provider in Macau, from
July 2009 to June 2014 where his last position was a sales manager
of the sales department.

Mr. Leong obtained a degree of bachelor of engineering from
Northeastern University, the PRC in July 2009.
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Mr. Chan Kuong Kit (BR 3 #§), aged 36, joined the Group as an
assistant director of the application development department
of BoardWare Macau on 2 January 2020. Mr. Chan is primarily
responsible for the overall management and development of the
software application business of the Group.

Mr. Chan has over seven years of experience in the IT industry.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan worked at EasyTone Network
Technology Limited, an online payment platform company focusing
on system development and research, from November 2013 to
December 2019 with his last position as a general manager.

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of bachelor of business administration
(business information system) from the University of Macau in July
2008.

Ms. Hoi Ut Sim (5F B i), aged 40, joined the Group as a business
engagement manager of the presales team of the business
consultation department of BoardWare Macau in November 2017.
She has been an assistant Managed services director of BoardWare
Macau since 1 June 2019. Ms. Hoi is primarily responsible for the
overall business development and the supervision of Managed
services matters of the Group.

Ms. Hoi has over 24 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Hoi worked at Microsoft Hong Kong Limited,
a subsidiary of Microsoft Corporation which is a company listed on
Nasdaq (stock code: MSFT), from December 2014 to April 2017 as
a services account executive. From September 2012 to December
2014, she worked as a services sales supervisor for Microsoft Macau
Limited, a subsidiary of Microsoft Corporation. From September
2007 to September 2012, Ms. Hoi worked as an assistant product
marketing manager at Mega Tecnologia Informatica Lda., a Macau
IT services provider. From May 1999 to August 2007, Ms. Hoi
worked at Detection Security Systems (Macau) Co., Ltd. with her last
position as a senior clerk.

Ms. Hoi obtained a degree of bachelor of management from Macao
Polytechnic Institute in August 2008.
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Mr. Ho lo Keong (fil#25#), aged 53, joined the Group as a director
of the professional service department of BoardWare Macau on 23
September 2013. Mr. Ho is primarily responsible for the overall daily
operations of the service team and overseeing the delivery of service
functions of the Group.

Mr. Ho has over 26 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Ho worked at CSA Automated (Macau)
Limited, a subsidiary of Automated Systems Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 771) which principally engages in the provision of IT services,
from July 1994 to July 2013 with his last position as a technical
services manager.

Mr. Ho obtained a degree of master of business administration
with a major in international business from the European University,
Montreux Campus, Switzerland in March 2016 which was a long
distance learning course.

Mr. Ng Hong Seng ( ® 35 % ), aged 34, joined the Group as a
solution architect of the professional service department of
BoardWare Macau on 2 January 2014 and was promoted to be a
technical manager on 1 January 2017. Mr. Ng has been an assistant
director of the professional service department of BoardWare Macau
since 1 June 2019 where Mr. Ng is primarily responsible for the
overall supervision of the engineering and project management
teams of the Group.

Mr. Ng has over eight years of experience in the IT industry. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Ng worked at CSA Automated (Macau)
Limited, a subsidiary of Automated Systems Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 771), which principally engages in the provision of IT services,
from December 2011 to February 2013 with his last position as a
network engineer in the engineering department.

Mr. Ng obtained a degree of bachelor of management from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University, the PRC in July 2011. Mr. Ng was
awarded as a certified information systems security professional
by the International Information System Security Certification
Consortium in September 2020 and was recognised as having
completed the relevant certification test requirements in relation to
routing and switching by Cisco Systems, Inc. in July 2013.
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Mr. Chan Hon Fan (FR#8)), aged 46, joined the Group as a field
service engineer of Synergy CCL on 2 May 2000. Mr. Chan has
been the general manager of Synergy CCL since April 2018 and
is primarily responsible for the overall management of the daily
operations and talent development programmes of the Group.

Mr. Chan has over 21 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chan worked at Chat Horn Engineering Ltd. as
an assistant radio frequency maintenance technician from June 1999
to May 2000.

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of bachelor of science from Oxford
Brookes University, the United Kingdom in June 2007 through
distance learning. He also obtained a degree of master of science in
electronic and information engineering and a degree of master of
business administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in October 2011 and September 2016, respectively.

* For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEREAHRE

The board is pleased to present the CG report of the Company for
FY2022.

CG PRACTICES

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements
of good CG in the management structures and internal control
procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability.
The Company has adopted the Code Provisions.

Except for the deviation from provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
Company’s CG practices have complied with the CG Code during
FY2022 and up to the date of this annual report. The reason for the
deviation is explained in the paragraph headed “CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE" in this CG report.

The Directors will review the CG policies and compliance with
the CG Code each financial year and comply with the “comply or
explain” principle in the CG report, which will be included in this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors regarding any
non-compliance with the Model Code. All the Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code in FY2022.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF AND DELEGATION BY
THE BOARD

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
is in place for the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions
performed by the Board include but are not limited to formulating
the Group’s business and investment plans and strategies, deciding
all significant financial (including major capital expenditure) and
operational issues, developing, monitoring and reviewing the
Group's CG practices and all other functions reserved to the Board
under the Articles of Association.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERRSE

The Company has delegated certain responsibilities to various
committees as set out in their respective terms of reference.
The responsibilities of these committees include monitoring the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensuring that
appropriate internal control and risk management systems are in
place. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions to
the management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management is mainly responsible for the execution of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board and
other duties assigned to it from time to time.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the Company’s needs. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management on the Company’s behalf.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
the management has an obligation to supply the Directors with
adequate information in a timely manner to enable the Directors
to perform their responsibilities. The Directors are entitled to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expense.

CG FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that CG should be the collective responsibility
of Directors and has delegated the CG duties to the Audit
Committee which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on CG
and make recommendations to the Board,;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Group; and

(e) to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code from time

to time adopted by the Group and the disclosure in the CG
Report to be contained in the Company’s annual report.
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The responsibilities of the Audit Committee in relation to CG
functions are set out in the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee. Upon the Listing, the Audit Committee appointed the
consultant to perform a CG Code compliance review. The review
covered the Company’s terms of reference of Board Committees,
CG policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and the senior management and
disclosures in the CG report. The consultant has provided certain
recommendations on improving the Company’s CG practices,
which the Company has adopted accordingly to ensure sound CG
practices.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board
should include a balanced composition of executive Directors, non-
executive Director and INEDs so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

At the date of this annual report, the Board currently consists of
eight Directors, comprising four executive Directors, one non-
executive Director and three INEDs as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chao (Chairman and CEQ)
Ms. Chiu

Ms. Lei

Mr. Ng

Non-executive Director
Mr. Li

INEDs

Mr. Man
Mr. U
Mr. Suen

Except that Ms. Chiu is cohabiting with Mr. Chao as a spouse, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship) among the Board.

The biographical details of each Director are set out in the section
headed “DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT" of this annual
report.
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The non-executive Director and INEDs have brought in a wide
range of business and financial expertise, valuable experience
and independent judgement to the Board for promoting the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders. Through active
participation in the Board meetings and serving on various Board
committees, all INEDs will continue to make various contributions to
the Company.

Throughout the year, the Company had three INEDs, meeting the
requirements of the Listing Rules that the Board must include at
least three INEDs and the number of INEDs must represent at least
one-third of the Board members, and that at least one of the INEDs
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation and not aware of any
adverse event, the Company considers that all the INEDs are
independent and have met the independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Directors and senior management of the Company
for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed annually.

DIRECTORS" CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director was provided with the necessary
induction programme, training and information to ensure that
he/she has proper understanding of his/her responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other applicable laws, rules and regulations prior
to his/her appointment. The Directors are encouraged to participate
in continuous professional development courses and seminars to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company will
continue to arrange and fund suitable training and regular seminars
to provide Directors with updates on the latest developments and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements regularly.
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All Directors have participated in training provided by the Company
prior to the Listing, and for the period from the Listing Date up
to the date of this annual report, all Directors have been updated
with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements through reading materials to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

The individual training record of each Director received during the
period from the Listing Date up to the date of this annual report is
summarised below:
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Attended
Attended trainings
trainings organised
organised by
by the professional Reading
Company organisations materials
ZmBRA" SmAEXEE
Directors 3=} B|WAIEI  BEPRIEI RAEM R
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chao (Chairman) RAEE(ERE) v v 4
Mr. Ng REHE v v v
Ms. Lei Tt v v v
Non-executive Director HETEE
Mr. Li FERE v v v
INEDs BUHBTEE
Mr. Man XA v v v
Mr. U RIEE v v v
Mr. Suen R v v v
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Chao is Chairman and CEO.
In view of the fact that Mr. Chao has been responsible for the
day-to-day management of the Group since 2010 and the steady
development of the Group, the Board believes that with the support
of Mr. Chao’s extensive experience and knowledge in the business
of the Group, vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive
officer in Mr. Chao strengthens the consistent and solid leadership
of the Group, and thereby allows for efficient business planning and
decision which is in the best interest of the Group as a whole.

Directors consider that the deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstances. Notwithstanding
the above, the Board is also of the view that the current
management structure is effective for the Group’s operations, and
sufficient checks and balances are in place. The Board will continue
to review the effectiveness of the CG structure of the Company in
order to assess whether separation of the roles of Chairman and
CEO is necessary.

The Board and the senior management, which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals can ensure the balance of
power and authority. As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised
four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
INEDs.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Chao, Ms. Chiu, Ms. Lei and Mr. Ng, being the executive
Directors, has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date.

Mr. Li, being the non-executive Director, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a fixed term of three years,
and renewable automatically for a successive term of two years,
commencing from the Listing Date.

Each of Mr. Man, Mr. U and Mr. Suen, being the INEDs, has entered

into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of
three years commencing from the Listing Date.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation,
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit
himself/herself for election by shareholders at the first general
meeting of the Company after appointment and any new Director
appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself
for re-election by the shareholders at the next following annual
general meeting of the Company after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-election and succession planning of Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the CEO.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF BOARD MEETINGS

The Shares were listed in the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 15 July 2022. The Company adopts the practice of holding
board meetings regularly. Both the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once every year and
the Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. Notices of
not less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings
to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include
matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers
are despatched to the Directors or committee members at least
seven days before the intended date of the meeting to ensure that
they have sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately
prepared for the meeting. When Directors or committee members
are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters
to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman or the committee members prior to the meeting.
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Minutes of meetings are kept by the Company Secretary with copies
circulated to relevant Board or Board Committee for comments and
records. Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by the Board or committee members and dissenting views
expressed. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and committee
meeting are sent to the relevant Board or committee members for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for
inspection by Directors.

From the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, two board

NREWERTGHLE  LAHEREEERES
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B o

BEMAMENEEANFHRAY BT TMAE

meetings were held and the attendance of the individual Director at ~E&€€%#% @ AR EENZF RN HE BRI
these meetings is set out in the table below: AT -
Meetings attended/Eligible to attend
BHE/GERLESE
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting AGM

EZeeE EZE89E RAZE89E ¥HZEe8E RREFAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chao AxE 212 NATNEA 11 1 N/ATNE A
Ms. Chiu Lo 22 N/ATEF N/ATSEF N/AT & N/AT 8
Ms. Lei Tt 212 N/ATE A N/ATNE NATE A N/ATER
Mr. Ng REHE 2/2 N/ATNE N/ATNE N/ATNE A N/ATE A
Non-executive Director FHTEE
Mr. Li TRE 12 NATEF N/ATE A N/ATE A N/ATE A
INEDs BUFHTERE
Mr. Man XRE 2/2 3/3 i N/ATNE A N/ATE A
Mr. U REE 2/2 3/3 N/ATNE A 17 N/ATEF
Mr. Suen BEE 22 33 11 1 N/ATNE A
AGM BRRBFKRE

An AGM is an important forum in which the management of the
Company can communicate with the shareholders. The upcoming
AGM will be held on 20 June 2023.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Group delegates certain responsibilities to various committees.
In accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules, the Group has established Board Committees, each Board
Committee has its own terms of reference relating to its authority
and duties, which have been approved by the Board and are
reviewed periodically. The terms of reference of each committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each Board Committee has also been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request,
is able to seek independent profession advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Group's expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 20 June
2022 in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
consists of three INEDs, namely Mr. Man, Mr. U and Mr. Suen, Mr.
Man has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee
and he possesses the appropriate professional qualifications as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The major duties of
the Audit Committee are the followings:

Maintain relationship with the Company’s
independent auditor

(@) to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the independent auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the independent auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the independent auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
shall discuss with the independent auditor the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit
commences, and to ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved. Procedures to review and monitor the
independence of independent auditor may include:

considering all relationships between the Group and the
independent auditor (including non-audit services);
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i. obtaining from the independent auditor annually,
information about policies and processes for maintaining
independence and monitoring compliance with relevant
requirements, including those for rotation of audit
partners and staff; and

ii. meeting with the independent auditor, at least once
annually, in the absence of the management, to discuss
matters relating to audit fees, any issues arising from the
audit and any other matters the independent auditor may
wish to raise.

to develop and implement policy on engaging the independent
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose, an
independent auditor includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee shall report to the Board, identifying and making
recommendations on any matters where action or improvement
is needed:;

to ensure that the independent auditor’s provision of non-
audit services does not impair its independence or objectivity.
When assessing the independent auditor’s independence or
objectivity in relation to the provision of non-audit services, the
Audit Committee may wish to consider:

i.  whether the skills and experience of the independent
auditor make it a suitable supplier of non-audit services;

i. whether there are safeguards in place to ensure that
there is no threat to the objectivity and independence of
the audit work as in itself of the provision of non-audit
services by the independent auditor;

iii. the nature of the non-audit services, the related fee levels
and fee levels individually and in total relative to the
external independent auditor; and

iv.  criteria for compensation of the individuals performing the
audit work.

to review with independent auditor and the staff of the
Group'’s finance department, the Group’s management, the
adequacy of the Group’s policies and procedures regarding
internal controls (including financial, operational and
compliance controls) and any statement by the Directors to be
included in the annual accounts prior to endorsement by the
Board;
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Review the Company’s financial information

(a)

to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual reports and accounts, interim reports and, if prepared
for publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them. In reviewing
these reports before submission to the Board, the Audit
Committee shall focus particularly on:

any changes in accounting policies and practices;
ii.  major judgmental areas;
iii.  significant adjustments resulting from the audit;
iv.  the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;
v.  compliance with accounting standards; and

vi. compliance with the Listing Rules and legal requirements
in relation to financial reporting.

regarding above:

members shall liaise with the Board and senior
management of the Company and the Audit Committee
must meet, at least twice a year, with the independent
auditors;

i. the Committee shall consider any significant or unusual
items that are, or may need to be, reflected in the
reports and accounts, and shall give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the Company’s
staff responsible for accounting and financial reporting
function, the compliance officer or the auditors; and

ii. discussing problems and reservations with the
independent auditors arising from final audit, and any
matters the independent auditors may wish to discuss (in
the absence of management where necessary);

Oversee the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control procedures

(a

(b)

to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have an effective system. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function;
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to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its
own initiative and management’s response to those findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-ordination
between the internal and independent auditors and to review
and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the independent auditor’'s management letter,
any material queries raised by the independent auditor to
management about accounting records, financial accounts or
system of control and management’s response;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the independent auditor;

to review the whistle-blowing arrangements of which
employees of the Group and other persons who have
connections with the Company, such as customers and
suppliers, may use, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters relating to the Company. The Audit Committee
shall ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate
follow-up action;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the independent auditor's management letter,
if any;

to report to the Board on the matters set out in the CG Code
and CG Report (Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules);

to do any such things to enable the Audit Committee to
discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the
Board;

to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that
may from time to time be contained in the memorandum
and Articles of Association or imposed by the Listing Rules or
applicable law;
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(m) to consider agreeing with the Board in relation to the
Company'’s policies on hiring employees or former employees
of the independent auditor and monitoring the application
of these policies. The Committee should then be in a position
to consider whether there has been or appears to be any
impairment of the independent auditor’s judgment or
independence for the audit;

(n) to review ongoing connected transactions of the Company and
ensure compliance with the terms of approval by shareholders
of the Company; and

(0) to consider such other matters as the Board may from time to
time determine.

In the meetings, the Audit Committee considered and approved for
presentation to the Board for consideration and approval (i) the draft
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2022;
(i) the draft unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022; (iii) the audit
scope and audit plan prepared by the independent auditor relating
to the audit for FY2022; and (iv) the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 20
June 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance with
the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, namely
Mr. Chao and two INEDs, namely Mr. Man and Mr. Suen. Mr. Suen
has been appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
The major duties of the Nomination Committee are the followings:

(@) toreview the structure, size and composition (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service) of the Board at least annually, to evaluate
whether Directors have committed adequate time to discharge
their responsibilities, and to make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and senior management of the Company, and
to select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships or senior
management for approval. In identifying suitable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall consider candidates on merit
and against the objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board;
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(c) to assess the independence of INEDs, review the INEDs' annual
confirmations on their independence and make disclosure of its
review results in the CG report;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the CEO, taking into
account the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future,
together with the Board, as appropriate;

(e) to review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and review
measurable objectives for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy and progress on achieving the objectives, and to make
disclosure of its review results in the CG report annually;

(f)  do any such things to enable the Nomination Committee to
perform its duties and functions conferred on it by the Board,;
and

(9) conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the Articles of Association of
the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable law.

In the meetings, the Nomination Committee (i) reviewed and
discussed the policy, procedure and criteria for nomination of the
Directors; (i) reviewed and discussed the Board Diversity Policy and
discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the policy
and the progress made towards meeting the measurable objective in
the policy; (iii) assessed the independence of INEDs; (iv) considered
the re-appointment of the retiring Directors, reviewed the time
commitment required from the non-executive Director; and (v)
fulfilled duties as required aforesaid.

NOMINATION POLICY
Objective

The Nomination Committee shall identify candidates who are
qualified/suitable to become a member of the Board of the Company
and to make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
candidates nominated for directorships with a view to ensuring
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.
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The Nomination Committee is authorised by the Board to determine
the nomination of Directors, the procedure, process and criteria
to be adopted for the purposes of selecting and recommending
candidates for directorship, and shall make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Director and
succession planning for the Directors, in particular, the Chairman
and the CEO.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the Nomination
Committee may make reference to certain criteria such as
Company'’s need, reputation for integrity, motivation, experience in
principal business of the Company, balance of skills, knowledge and
experience on the Board, the amount of time and effort that the
candidate will devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities
and, in case of INEDs, the independence requirements set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and take into account various aspects
set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the Company, number of
directorship(s) in other listed/public companies, and in case of INED,
number of years he/she has already served in the Company.

Selection Criteria

(@) Proposed candidate will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information, together with his/her written consent to
be appointed as a Director and to the public disclosure of his/
her personal data on any documents or the relevant websites
for the purpose of or in relation to their standing for election as
a Director;

(b) Non-executive Director and INEDs will receive a formal letter
of appointment on his/her appointment to the Board, setting
out clearly the expectations of him/her in terms of time
commitment, committee service and involvement outside Board
meetings; and

() Any appointment of proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall be
made in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association
and other applicable rules and regulations.
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Nomination Procedures

(@

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall invite
nominations of candidates from Board members if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not
nominated by Board members;

Non-executive Director should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election;

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
on or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until
the first AGM of the Company after his appointment, and
shall then be eligible for re-election. The Board shall have the
final decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of
candidates to stand for election at any general meeting. Every
Director, including those appointed for a specific term, should
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years;

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the
circular to the Shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting:

the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

ii. if the proposed INED will be holding their seventh (or
more) listed company directorship, why the Board believes
the individual would still be able to devote sufficient time
to the Board;

ii. the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

iv. how the individual contributes to diversity (including
gender diversity) of the Board; and

If an INED serves more than 9 years, his further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
shareholders. The papers to the Shareholders accompanying
that resolution should include the reasons why the Board (or
the Nomination Committee) believes he/she is still independent
and should be re-elected, including the factors considered, the
process and the discussion of the Board (or the Nomination
Committee) in arriving such determination.
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(f)  Every newly appointed Director should receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on appointment. Subsequently,
he/she should receive any briefing and professional
development necessary to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and business
and is fully aware of his/her responsibilities under statute and
common law, the Listing Rules as amended from time to time,
legal and other regulatory requirements and the Company's
business and governance policies.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee shall keep under review the leadership
needs of the Company, for both executive and non-executive
Directors, with a view to ensuring the continued ability of the
Company to compete effectively in the marketplace. The Nomination
Committee will report annually in its CG report on how this policy
is being applied in recommending candidates for directorship and
retiring Directors for re-election during the year.

Review of nomination policy

The Nomination Committee shall keep up to date and be fully
informed about strategic issues and commercial changes affecting
the Company and the market in which it operates. The Nomination
Committee will review this policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of this Policy in line with the Company’s strategy.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Board Diversity Policy has been adopted, which sets out the objective
and approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives of the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy
provides that the Company should endeavour to ensure that the
Board members have the appropriate skills, expertise and diversity
of perspectives that are required to support the execution of the
Group's business strategy. Board Diversity Policy (including gender
balance) is reviewed from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness and the Company will disclose the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy in the CG report on an annual basis.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, selection of candidates for
Directors will be based on a range of perspectives, including but not
limited to skills, professional experience, educational background,
knowledge, expertise, culture, age and gender. The ultimate decision
of the appointment will be based on merit and the contribution
which the selected candidates will bring to the Board and the
business needs of the Company from time to time.
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The Board believes that such merit-based appointments will
best enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and other
stakeholders going forward. The Board comprises of eight members,
including four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
three INEDs. Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including
management and strategic development, corporate finance,
investment banking, legal and professional accounting in addition
to experiences in the IT industry. Furthermore, the Board has a
wide range of age, ranging from 35 years old to 58 years old, and
comprises of two female Directors and six male Directors. The Group
also has a good mix of new and experienced Directors, who have
valuable knowledge and insights of the Group’s business over the
years, while the new Directors are expected to bring in fresh ideas
and new perspective to the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Group had eight Directors
in the Board. Set out below is the detailed breakdown of the
composition of Directors by designations, gender and age.

DESIGNATIONS GENDER
Bt (EF:]

Bl Female &%
Male B4

B Executive Director ITTEH
B Non-executive Director JF#1TE =
INED M FEEITES

As at 31 December 2022, the ratio of women to men in the
workforce (excluding non-executive Director and INEDs) was 24:76.
For details of gender distribution, please refer to ESG report in this
annual report.

As regards gender diversity of the Board and the senior management
team, the Group has two female Directors and six male Directors,
and one out of seven members of the senior management team
is female. The Group is committed to creating favorable working
environment to employ and promote more females in the workforce
to hold senior management positions based on the qualifications,
experience and skills required for those positions. The Group strives
to increase the ratio of females in the workforce to the extent
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possible onwards and maintain diversity and equality in respect of its
workforce.
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The Nomination Committee will (i) report annually, in the CG report
contained in this annual report, on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives, and monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy; and (ii) review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
and discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 20
June 2022 in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Chao and two INEDs, namely Mr. Suen and Mr. U.
Mr. U has been appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The major duties of the Remuneration Committee are
the followings:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management'’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

() either:

to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director
and senior management of the Company; or

i. to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director
and senior management of the Company.

This should cover bonus, benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group. The Remuneration Committee shall
also ensure that the levels of remuneration should be sufficient
to attract and retain the Directors needed to run the Company
successfully but should avoid paying more than is necessary for
this purpose;

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXREAHRSE

REZBEBNBFRAFEREMHEEER
BETFREHEEAENEFSARFELRS - I
EEEZE2Z T CBERNAITIEN ¢ &)@k
R EFRETCBR - UWBRESFEZ TR
RHOBRMEA A REFETNERERTER
WREFSHEBTARBETER  UHEZR
B o

FMEEE

NAFIRIE E TR BIE3.2506720224F6 H20H
RYHMEE S - WARBSEE RTRIRIFTES
HREHE - FTHEEeh — R TESASLLE
NGRS IEMITER R ERREEEN © R
EECEZEATHEESER - FEE 2N
FEBENT :

@@ BMARFEZBEZREHNEEABNH M
BR R ZRHE - RLBIRTH MR R IER
mEBRAENIERF  MEFSRLEZS

o) BEEEFEFTOLFHREETRIE
ot SR BT BIRE

(@ NUNTmMEZ—:

. EEEeERET BrAARER
HNTEENSAEEABNTINE
Bk

i. MEFERZARXAEMRTESER
SRERANEWHFITE -

hEBEAF - ESENE  RKSEF
EEECBE(BRMBAIR I EBBHERE
A S EAIEE(E)

d) BERITEEOHFMAEESRLEZS

() ERERBRARIZMHF - AR H YR
NOB B DA R 7R & [ 9 A B AL /9 1B AR A
o HZE B g I EERF BIKFEE R A
Wl W B ARARNBIKNEEMTNES -
Bt E - FEE e S T B E B
IKIE
[}

022 FEHE o BEESHEERLT

53



54

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERRSE

(m)

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management of the Company for any
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not
excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

to determine the criteria for assessing employee performance,
which should reflect the Company’s business objectives and
targets;

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration;

advise shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service
contracts of the Group’s directors which require shareholders’
approval under Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules;

reviewing matters relating to the Group'’s share scheme;

confirm to any requirement, Direction and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the Articles of Association of
the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable law;
and

do any such things to enable the Remuneration Committee to
perform its duties and functions conferred on it by the Board.

In the meeting, the Remuneration Committee (i) discussed
and reviewed the remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management of the Company; (ii) assessed performance of
executive Directors; and (iii) made recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management (i.e. the model of Remuneration Committee
under Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code) and fulfilled duties
as required aforesaid.
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REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEELHRE

Number of person(s)

Band of remuneration £ 48 B A
From Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 5
From HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ L% 2,000,000/ 7T 1
From HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,00178 T2 3,000,000/ 7T 1

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid employees are set out in notes 8 and 31 respectively to
the consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During FY2022, PwC was engaged as the Group’s independent
auditor. The remuneration paid/payable to PwC for audit and non-
audit services in respect of FY2022 is set out below:

EXZRORRSFMALHE—SFHBED HIER
IRAMIEImRME8 N3 -

B BT
R2022 5815 - BAMAEGHADEHHAES
EAREEBIRBA - N202FHF - BB
S RIEEHRBEN BN RERER TR
BABERIIMT -

Fee paid/payable

Services Ri% et EAER

HK$'000

FEIT

Audit services — Annual audit Fit RS — FEER 2,601

Non-audit services — Taxation service fee IEEET RS — B IS AR S 17

Total @5t 2,618
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF EZ¥HMKEHRRNELE

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2022 which
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of the Group’s consolidated
financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with all applicable IFRS, IAS, amendments
and interpretations issued by the IASB and in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides
all members of the Board with monthly updates on Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.
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The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the independent auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEM

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in
achieving the Company's strategic objectives, and ensuring that
the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. The Board oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Board acknowledges that such risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate
the risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Group has established an enterprise risk
management policy in order to provide sound and effective risk
management. This sets out a framework for the identification,
analysis, evaluation, treatment, monitoring and reporting of the
Group's key risks, with a view to supporting the achievement of the
Group's overall strategic objectives. The Company does not have an
internal audit department. The Board has reviewed the need for an
internal audit function and currently takes the view that there is no
immediate need to set up an internal audit department in light of
the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. The need
for an internal audit department will be reviewed from time to time.

In view of the Group’s business and scale of operations, and in
order to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting
periodic reviews of the Group’s internal control and enterprise risk
management systems, the Board has engaged an independent
consultant firm to execute the internal audit function. Independent
consultant has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
Group's enterprise risk management, corporate level controls and
financial reporting and disclosure controls for FY2022. The report
issued by the independent consultant firm was reviewed by the
Audit Committee and the Board and no major issue was raised for
improvement.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
aimed to manage, rather than eliminating, the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and thus can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including
financial, operational, strategic and compliance controls and has
considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company's
accounting and financial reporting functions. The Board considers
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review of the
risk management and internal control systems will be performed
annually.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of the SFO and the Listing
Rules. The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the
safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully
disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the information is kept
strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may
have been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensuring that
information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of
a material fact. The Group is committed to ensuring that information
contained in announcements is presented in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative
facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tsang Tik Man has been appointed by the Board as the
Company Secretary since 20 April 2021. His biographical details
are set out under the section headed “DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT"” in this annual report. The Company Secretary is
responsible for facilitating the Board's processes and communications
among Board members, shareholders and the management of the
Company. During FY2022, the Company Secretary had confirmed
that he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting for
each substantially separate issue at shareholder meetings, including
nomination and election of individual Director.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner after each Shareholder meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

Procedures for convening general meeting by
shareholders

In accordance with Article 58 of the Article, any one or more
member(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 58 of the Articles for requisitioning
an extraordinary general meeting and including a resolution at such
meeting. The requirements and procedures of Article 58 of the
Articles are set out above.

Procedures for putting forward enquiries to the
Board

The Group values feedback from Shareholders on its efforts to
promote transparency and foster investor relationship. Shareholders
are encouraged to send their enquiries to the Board by post
to the principal place of business set out in the section headed
“CORPORATE INFORMATION" in this annual report. Shareholders
may also make enquires with the Board at the general meetings of
the Company.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted, on 20 June 2022, the amended and
restated memorandum and Articles which took effect from 15 July
2022. There was no change in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022.

COMMUNICATION POLICY

Under the Company’s communication policy, to promote
effective communication, the Company maintains a website of
“www.boardware.com” which provides the shareholder and
stakeholder a communication channel with the Company. The
website provides up-to-date information and updates on the
Company’s financial information, CG practices, biographical
information of the Board and other information are available for
public access.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the shareholders’ communication policy, and considered that
the current available communication channel for shareholders and
stakeholders is effective and adequate.
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ABOUT THE GROUP

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of Professional IT
services, Managed services, IT equipment leasing, IT maintenance
and consultancy services, as well as distribution and resale of
packaged hardware and software.

ABOUT THE ESG REPORT

This ESG Report summarises the Group’s ESG practices, plans and
performance.

Reporting Period

Unless specifically stated otherwise, this ESG Report covers the ESG
activities, challenges and measures of the Group for 2022.

Reporting Scope

The reporting scope is consistent with this annual report and covers
all the business operations under the direct operational control of
the Group, including the headquarters in Macau, offices in Hong
Kong, Zhuhai and Nansha in the PRC. The major business segments
representing the Group’s major sources of revenue include (a) the
provision of enterprise IT solutions, including (i) Professional IT
services, (i) Managed services, (ii) lease income from IT equipment
and (iv) IT maintenance and consultancy services; and (b) distribution
and resale of hardware and software.

Reporting Framework

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide. This ESG Report complies with all “comply or
explain” requirements and reports on all mandatory disclosures
outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide. Information relating to the
Group's CG practices can be found in the CG report in this annual
report.

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied
the reporting principles in the ESG Reporting Guide, as described
below:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted with key
stakeholders to identify material issues during the Reporting Year,
thereby adopting the confirmed material issues as the focus for
the preparation of this ESG Report. The materiality of issues was
reviewed and confirmed by the Board and the Sub-committee. For
further details, please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.
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Quantitative: Environmental and social performance data were
collected in accordance with the ESG Guide and relevance to the
Group's targets and ESG direction. The standards, methodologies
and applicable assumptions used in the calculation of KPIs data were
supplemented by explanatory notes.

Consistency: This is the first ESG report presented by the Group.
The Group will adopt consistent statistical methods in subsequent
years for meaningful comparison in the future.

Balance: This ESG Report aims to provide a balanced and
transparent representation of the Group’s performance. It
avoids selections, omissions, or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the report
reader.

MESSAGE FROM CHAIRMAN
Dear Valued Stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present this ESG Report
which demonstrates the Group’s growing commitment to improving
the Group’s ESG performance in both environmental and social
aspects including but not limited to environmental management,
employment and labour practices, operating practices and
community involvement.

The Group believes that business sustainability can only be
accomplished by operating a profitable business without sacrificing
the well-being of either the Group’s society or the environment. It
therefore incorporates ESG concepts into its business philosophy to
cultivate sustainable value for shareholders by seizing opportunities
and managing risks associated with developments in the economy,
society and environment. The Group’s ESG responsibility initiative
depends critically on the Group’s ability to comprehend how various
ESG issues may impact the Group’s business and the Group's
stakeholders.

The Group continues improving CG practices while keeping
compliance and effectiveness as the Group’s top priorities. In order
to effectively manage ESG related matters within the Group, the
Board has the overall responsibility on the Group’s ESG issues and
has set up the Sub-committee. Information about the Group’s
ESG governance structure is stated in the section headed "ESG
Governance Structure”.
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To identify and prioritise material ESG issues that have a
significant impact on the Group’s operations and stakeholders,
the Group continuously communicates with internal and external
stakeholders. The Board has delegated the Sub-committee and
hired an independent third party to carry out the materiality
assessment. Details about the stakeholder engagement channels
and the materiality assessment conducted by the Group are stated
in the sections headed “STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT” and
“MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT" respectively. In order to have a more
comprehensive understanding on stakeholders’ expectations of the
Group's sustainable development, the Group will further strengthen
its communication with stakeholders and formulate relevant policies
and measures based on their opinions to improve the Group's ESG
performance.

As an enterprise that promotes corporate social responsibility,
the Group recognises the value of minimising its potential
adverse impact on the environment. Aligning with the corporate
strategy and the national vision of carbon neutrality, the Group
has set quantifiable environmental targets to give stakeholders a
better understanding of the Group’s progress in improving ESG
performance. The Group actively carries out various measures at
operational levels in order to meet such targets. The Sub-committee
has been given authority by the Board to gather ESG data, monitor
and analyse the Group’s performance, and assess the Group's
progress toward its targets. Relevant results are summarised in the
section headed "Environmental Targets”.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to closely monitor
the pandemic, pay attention to the multi-faceted impact of the
market environment changes on corporate compliance, business
development and ESG, and actively respond to national, regional
and industry calls to formulate timely and effective strategies strictly
in line with the requirements of the central and local governments.
The Group will continue to pay efforts to create higher economic
and social value.

Chao Ka Chon
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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ACCREDITATION AND AWARDS

Awards

3]

RIE - HERERERS
7.7 B 3% 1

Organisers

EZ ]

2021 Best Performance Partner

2021 RIERBAIERH

2021 High Performance
2021 FBAERA

Top Performance Distributor 2021 — Growth Rate
202N FARERRLHE — B RE

Platinum Partner FY23
2023F I F A BAEERMY

FY22 Aruba Top Performance Distributor
2022 F B F Arubafx (£ R IBALEH

FY22 Aruba Guru — Technical
2022 B4 Aruba Guru— 5T

The Outstanding Contribution Partner 2021
2021 FEER B RIA TR

Top Performing Aruba Partner 2021
20215 Arubasx ER B A EEH

Top Partner New Business Growth Award 2022
022 RIEAERH —HEBIER

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

H3C Technologies Co., Limited
E=EEARAR

Trend Micro Limited
BEREERAT]

Check Point Software Technologies Ltd.
Check Point Software Technologies Ltd.

Veritas Technologies LLC
Veritas Technologies LLC

Hewlett-Packard HK SAR Limited
Hewlett-Packard HK SAR Limited

Hewlett-Packard HK SAR Limited
Hewlett-Packard HK SAR Limited

Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd
Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd

Hewlett-Packard HK SAR Limited
Hewlett-Packard HK SAR Limited

Veritas Technologies LLC
Veritas Technologies LLC

ESGEGRE

The Group has developed an ESG governance structure to ensure  ZRE[E 2 | FESGE AL - IR HESGE IR

its ESG governance aligns with its business strategy and to integrate
ESG management into its business operations and decision-making
process.

The Board holds the overall responsibility for overseeing the
Group's ESG risks and opportunities and sets out ESG management
approach, strategy, priorities and objectives. The Board is responsible
for ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and approving disclosures in the ESG report.
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The Group’s Sub-committee serves a supportive role to the
Group's Board in implementing the agreed ESG policy, targets and
strategies, conducting materiality assessments of environmental-
related, climate-related, social-related risks and assessing how the
Group adapts the Group’s business in light of climate change,
continuously monitoring of the implementation of measures to
address the Group’s ESG-related risks and responsibilities and
ensuring compliance with ESG-related laws and regulations.
While preparing for the ESG report, the ESG data collected from
different parties by the Group’s Sub-committee are confirmed by
the respective departments. The Group’s Sub-committee is also
responsible for keeping track of the progress with the KPIs against
relevant ESG-related goals and targets set by the Board. When there
is any deviation from targets, it will investigate and liaise with the
responsible department to take prompt rectification actions. The
Group's Sub-committee reports to the Group’s Board on an annual
basis via board meeting on the Group’s ESG performance and the
effectiveness of these ESG systems.

An ESG team comprised of personnel from departments such as
human resources, administration and procurement is also set up
to coordinate and manage general ESG affairs. The ESG team is
responsible for guiding the development of ESG-related matters,
communicating with stakeholders and assessing ESG-related risks,
including climate-related risks and opportunities. Related ESG issues
would be discussed with the Board at meetings at least once every
year. Where appropriate, external advisors would be engaged to
provide expertise and professional advice for the ESG management
process.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Effective and ongoing stakeholder engagement is an integral part of
the Group’s business development and commitment to environment
and society. By understanding the Group's stakeholders’ views,
the Group can better align the Group’s business practices with
their needs and expectations. This approach enables the Group to
build trust and mutual beneficial relationships with the Group's
stakeholders and promote sustainability.
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The Group formulates its engagement approach based on the
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AEEEREFNELENBEIEED S EM

engagement objectives and stakeholders’ level of interest and 2 H#IFEFMHENR BT o (EAH EFEERE

influence. As part of its business strategy, the Group engages with
its stakeholders via different channels shown in the table below.

Stakeholders

B —#5 - AKERIB TR HRETRREIR

Expectations and concerns

DERFBE

Communication channels

& HMERETER BBRE
Shareholders and investors — CGsystem — AGM and shareholders’ meetings
— Business strategies and — Financial reports
performance — Announcements and circulars

BREREE

Employees

7l
]

Suppliers

atitE]

Customers

P

Government and regulatory bodies

B R E R

Media, non-governmental
organisations and the public

IREE - FFEUFABE AR

— Financial results

- BEERGIE
— PIERRRES
— MBERE

— Career development

— Occupational health and safety
— Remuneration and benefits

— Equal opportunities

— Company'’s prospect

- BEZER

- BERELRZE

— B RAET

- FEKke

— RAEIFIR

— On-time payment

— Fair and open procurement
— EBAR

— RFRFRE

— Quality of products and services
— Privacy protection

— Business ethics and reputation
— EmkREEE

— BiLR#E

— BEREEREER

— Compliant operation
— Payment of tax
- BRKE

— W

— Environmental protection

— Social welfare

— Transparent information disclosure
— RERE

- HERA

— EHERRE

2022 FERE o

— Company website

— Social media

- BREBFRGRBREGH
— BBWmE

— RERBE

— REIHEL

— MR

— Trainings, seminars and briefing
sessions

— Company activities

- Performance review

— B FHERERE
— DEEE
— BB

— Supplier audit and assessment

- Email
— HEmER RaE
~ BYEH

— Customer satisfaction survey
— Customer service hotline and email
— Company website

- BEPREERE
— BPRIEBRLEFIHT
— RAE

— Compliance officer
— Legal advisor

- AREE
— JREERE

— Company website
— Media channels
—  ESG reports

— ARHL
— fERERE
— ESGHE °
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In hope of understanding the views and expectations of stakeholders
on the Group’s ESG performance effectively, the Group adopts a
systematic approach in conducting the annual materiality assessment.
With reference to the Group’s business development strategy and
industry practices, the Group identified and determined a list of
material ESG issues. The Group prepared a questionnaire based on
the list and invited relevant stakeholder representatives to rate the
potential material issues according to the level of importance to
the stakeholders and to the Group. The results of the survey were
analysed and a materiality matrix was developed. The materiality
matrix and the identified material topics were reviewed and
confirmed by the Board and the Sub-committee and disclosed in
the ESG Report. During the Reporting Year, the Group’s materiality
matrix is shown below:

ERME
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MATERIALITY MATRIX

EEMIEME
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g Privacy and Data Security
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: Quality Management
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CONTACT THE GROUP

Stakeholders’ valuable opinions can help the Group continue to P ENBEE R A B A EBIFEIRAESGE
improve performance on ESG. Please feel free to contact the Group 3 o tNA I EAARESGRERB B E R & -

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HEREGHRSE

BRAEE

with any comments or suggestions related to the ESG Report. R AREE -
Address:  Unit 01-02, 12/F., Tower |, Enterprise Square ik EANENEE
No. 9 Sheung Yuet Road B
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong EESE12201-02F
Email: ir@boardware.com BE : ir@boardware.com
A. ENVIRONMENTAL A. RE
Environmental Targets RIEEE
To better manage the Group’s material topics and its REFHWEBRBRAEENERZERETR
sustainability performance, the Group has set targets for the BEREBEN  AEET2022FE 4 ER
environmental aspect in 2022. The table below summarises the BHEMNER - TRESKREENIRE R
Group's environmental targets, of which the progress will be B BRERENARREFEITER KT
monitored and assessed in the coming years: 1t
Aspects Environmental targets
EmE REAE

GHG emissions
= RS

Waste reduction

B RERY)

Energy use efficiency

BEIR{E ALK

Water efficiency

FAKME

© & 00

Maintain the total GHG emissions intensity for 2023 to be not more than the
2022 baseline.
RIF2023F AR E R P EE T iBiB2022F AR -

Maintain the total non-hazardous waste intensity for 2023 to be not more
than the 2022 baseline.
RIF2023FMEEEREZYEE NEIE2022F L

Reduce the total non-hazardous waste intensity by 3% by 2027 compared to
the 2022 baseline.
PAEBEEEEYTE - FHER2027F 2 5182022 F K ELR 3% °

Maintain the total energy consumption intensity for 2023 to be not more than
the 2022 baseline.
REF2023F VB RLIRHFER E TR 82022 F HO AR o

Reduce the total energy consumption intensity by 3% by 2027 compared to
the 2022 baseline.

BRRBRERERERE  FHEMN2027F ZATE2022F R EZE T 3% ©
Conduct or participate in awareness-building activities related to water

conservation annually from 2023 onwards.

H2023F i - FFETHSHEMEKNEIEZRED -

022 FEHE o BEESHEERLT

67



68

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERHRS

A1. Emissions

A1, HER

The Group recognises the importance of environmental
protection as the starting point for sustainability. The
Group continues to reduce the adverse environmental
impact of the Group’s operations and to promote
environmental protection within the Group and the supply
chain. The Group has developed comprehensive ESG
Policy to meet the Group’s environmental objectives in
carbon footprint reduction and waste reduction.

Although the Group is predominantly service-oriented
and do not belong to heavy-polluting industry, the Group
recognises its operations still have a certain level of impact
on the environment and acknowledge that addressing
environmental issues is a collective responsibility shared by
every member of the community. The Group is committed
to minimising the adverse impact that its operations may
have on the environment. The Group continually improves
its environmental management practices and measures to
reduce energy and other resource consumptions, minimise
waste and promote a recycling culture within the Group
on “Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and Replace” basis.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not have any
material non-compliance of environmental laws and
regulations relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations
include but not limited to the “Environmental Law (Law
no. 2/91/M)" of Macau, the “Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric
Pollution”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution Caused
by Solid Wastes” of the PRC, the “Air Pollution Control
Ordinance”, “Water Pollution Control Ordinance” and the
“Waste Disposal Ordinance” of Hong Kong.

REEEHIRBREEAIHESR
EREBNEZM AKEEBEEZ IR
DAREBMEREIRENAEZE -
I 1E 7N £ B A4 R B R IR IR AR
E o ASEEHIT2EAESGHEE -
LA E 3R A 52 (8 72 Rk A Ak 2 5 RO A g
YIAEAIRERRZ -

BEAEBENRERE AL - TBR
ERRTE BAKENEENAE
REEE-ERENTE  WARE
RREHERHREEKEARNE
- AEERIRNEERIEZE
RRERBERNTANEE - ARET
B g e R E R HIMEE - PA
B BERMEAMERAEFE - BER
PREINORER - BEWER - &
REEMERERINER L £A%
2 A BB R I W A XL

RB|EFE  AEBYTMEBEME
RERBBEBEIALBEEREEMR - [
KELHHEES EEREZEEY
MELSMIRELR RO E AN E
EELASEAFE - HEEZERBELE
FETRRRIE 2/91/MSER(RIE
MEE)  PECPEARLMBEIRE
REE)  (PEAREFE KSR
SRR (REAREMEI KRS
SAVEY (REAREMBEIEEEYS
RREAE)RBEB(ERSTRE S
i) ~ K5 B BHED D) RCEDRE
EEBI) -
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Air Emissions

Due to the Group's business nature, the Group does not
involve any industrial production or possess any factory
facilities, which had an extensive consumption of fossil
fuel. Therefore, the Group’s air emissions are mainly
generated from the fuel consumption by its motor vehicle
and only generates slight amount of air emissions during
the Group’s operation and hence no relevant targets were
set. Nevertheless, the Group has implemented measures
relating to the reduction of air emissions including:

e  Perform efficient planning on driving routes to
minimise the number of trips made for business
purpose;

e Regularly maintain and repair the vehicle by qualified
personnel to ensure fuel consumption efficiency
and respective emissions have complied with local
emission standards; and

e Switch off the engine when the vehicle is idling.

RIR - HERERHRS

R
HRARENEBLEE - ARETY
REMTEEESERTAHEEAE
R TR - Bt - AEE
M Z= RPN E B R B E EWAYIR
HER WAREERARTEELD
BRERGN - Bt &R EHEREE
= BENY  ARECERERD
FERFAERBRIEIE - BIE

BERRBTERSE  BERED
ERE

EHHRAERABETERMEE
RARE » DARELR KA H FE R
KA HE T & B H BER
R

RS

The Group's air emissions are as follows: REEMEREAOT

Type of air emissions’ Unit 2022
BERBERE R B 20225
Nitrogen oxides g 300.21
REH I

Sulphur oxides g 5.57
maty I

Particulate matter g 22.10
RERIY) I

Note: k3

1. The calculation method of air emissions is based on
“How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock
Exchange.

1. BERBMENFEESRBIE
I EERE HERERR
=M REMRASIERER
&3 -
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69



70

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HEREGRSE

GHG Emissions

The Group’s GHG emissions are mainly attributable to
direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) from the fuel consumption
by its vehicle, and energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope
2) from the purchased electricity. In order to achieve the
emission reduction targets described under the section
headed “Environmental Targets”, the Group has actively
adopted measures on vehicle usage described in the
section headed “Air Emissions” above, as well as the
energy-saving measures which are described in the section
headed “Energy Management” in Aspect A2.

The Group’s GHG emissions and its intensity performance
are as follows:

BEREHH

AREEMNEEREHEREEREESE
EE M EENER R EREI R
(BEN) RINEE HEEMREREEZE
EREHN(&EE2) - BEMHIIREE
Z—fmtR R E  AEEERE
IREREN_E X BE R BE | — i Pt o B
WEREN  ARA2EE EREE
—EIFTI AR REFE e ©

AEENRERBYRLEZEWT

Type of GHG emissions sources? Unit 2022
B E RS BRI B 2022%F
Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions

#HE — EEREREHN

e Petrol tCO,e 1.01
e UM 7=

Scope 2 - Energy indirect GHG emissions

#HE2 — g RAERERIEN

e Purchased electricity tCO,e 224.1
e HNEE WE—SULIRE S

Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and 2) tCO,e 225.12
BEREHNEE(BEIR2) WE LI E S

Total GHG emissions intensity tCO,e/HK$'000 revenue’ 0.0004

HRERBHIREE mE— &t

Notes:

2. The calculation method of GHG emission data is based
on, including but not limited to, the “How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the
“2022 Sustainability Report” released by CLP Holdings,
the “Notice on the Management of Enterprise Greenhouse
Gas Emissions Reporting by Power Generation Industry
for 2023-2025" issued by the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment of the People’s Republic of China and
“Sustainability Report 2021" by CEM of Macau.

3. The revenue of the Group for 2022 was HK$580,833,000.
The data is also used for calculating other intensity data.

/TR T

GEE

2. REREHREENFENAKEER
FEAB N PR OB 22 BT 35 A IR (AT 4R 8
RS dHgkeEams—ME— R
FRRESRIERERES) - hEE
P B 2022 F RIS E RIS ) -
hEARAMBEERREHLEMD
(B 7 2023-2025F B BT E b
EREREHIGREEERH TN
WA RRPIE N R BR D EE
2021 F A B R RIS ©

3. 2022F A& E R UL E &580,833,000
BIL o ZEUR ARG EEMEREER
% -
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Sewage Discharge

The office operations of the Group do not generate any
industrial waste water during the course of operation,
but only domestic sewage. As the sewage discharged
by the Group will be sent to the sewage treatment
plant through the sewage pipe network, the amount of
sewage discharge is considered as the water consumed.
Information related to water consumption will be
described in the section headed “Water Management” in
Aspect A2.

Waste Management

Under the aforementioned ESG Policy, the Group has
formulated a “Policy on Generation of Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Wastes” to ensure that all hazardous and
non-hazardous waste is properly and safely managed.

Hazardous Wastes

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group does
not generate a significant amount of hazardous wastes
during daily operation, and therefore no relevant targets
have been set. Nevertheless, the Group has established
guidelines in governing the management and disposal
of hazardous wastes. In case of any hazardous waste
generated, the Group shall engage a qualified chemical
waste collector to handle such waste to comply with
relevant environmental laws and regulations.

Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group adopts the principle of “Reduce, Reuse,
Recycle and Replace” for waste management and strives
to promote better utilisation of resources. The major
non-hazardous waste generated during the course of
the Group's daily operations is office paper. Paper and
general wastes are collected and sorted with recycle bins
for recycling.

In order to achieve the waste reduction target described
under the section headed “Environmental Targets”, the
Group has implemented measures including but are not
limited to the following:

. Utilise electronic communication means such as
e-leave system, e-cards for festival greetings, medical
e-claims, and e-brochures, where applicable;

e  Reduce printing and paper wastage by minimising
font sizes and deleting unnecessary blank space in
documents;

RIR - HERERHRS

ST
AEBERNGAAELEEBRETTESE
EAITREK  EEEEESK - H
RS BB 5K BiR5KE®
REJSKEER - FSKBERER
RAKE - BFKERBNHENSE
BEA2[KERERE | —fih i

BEEYEE

RIE_FAESGEUR - NEE D HIECE
EEEREZEEYNEGR) © R
FEEENEEREMHFIZER

LTRE o

- EL

HRAEENEBILEE - AEERA
FREDPYBELAERERRY
A RZRERBER - BELU - K
KECHEE AREEAEREEYN
EEE - WMEETABEEEEYD
AEEAEREERN BRI E
ERIEZEREY - AETHBRRE
BRI -

AEBUDRAER - BEYER - BR
BERBERERINRUEEERY -
HAOREERNER - AEEHEL
LBRETELNEZEENEIEZRN
DR - BRR —REEYS W
& YREWAEET D EO -

RERIRBEGR | — STt e RE
ZWER  ARECRRER - 8%
BRR

. EABERETEMANL i
BEFHEBES BTET  BE
EFEBRETFME
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Use double-side printing as default mode for printers
and encourage employees to reuse single-side paper
for internal documents or drafting need;

Use high-performance multifunction printers which
incorporate the functions of printing, scanning, and
copying, and share the printers among different
departments to reduce energy consumption;

Redeploy office furniture, computers, and notebook
where possible;

Place recycling bins and appropriate signage in office
areas to encourage recycling; and

Sort recyclable wastes into appropriate receptacles
and educate employees on sorting methods if

7% BT Epl) 3% B 4T BN O FR 2
B BB R B R A B e
BEREREEEAEmAR

ERARMEENZINEEITHE - 8
FRATED ~ TR RAEENTHRE - AWM
NRVERPT 2 A 2L = 4T EN4 DAL
BEROBRE

NIRRT EF AR R AR
B - EERERTE

AW A R I8 E B YR K i E
1R USEE W - &

A IR ERY D EREEE
ENRHT  WAFE - MIEER

needed. HEDREFE -

The Group’s non-hazardous wastes generation and its REBENBEERENELERAEER

intensity performance are as follows: BT -

Type of non-hazardous wastes Unit 2022
BERERYER B 20225
Total non-hazardous wastes

BERRYEE

e Office paper kg 1,031.12
LIS ' /NS ES TR

Total non-hazardous wastes intensity kg/HK$'000 revenue 0.0018
BEEEENTE Fr /ATl
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A2. Use of Resources

The Group has established “Policy on the Efficient Use of
Energy and Other Raw Materials” under the ESG Policy
to manage the use of resources with a view to achieving
energy-saving and reducing consumption as well as to
minimising the negative impact on the environment
during the Group's business operations.

Energy Management

During its daily operations, apart from the slight direct
consumption of fuel by its vehicle, the major source of the
Group's energy consumption is electricity consumption
for its operations. To achieve the target and prevent
unnecessary energy wastage, employees are required to
adopt the following energy-saving measures as stated in
the aforementioned “Policy on the Efficient Use of Energy
and Other Raw Materials”:

e Turn off lights when not in use and use natural light
when possible;

e Turn off, not just log off, all computers, speakers and
other office equipment at the end of every work day;

e Turn off power strip at the end of every work day;

e Activate the power down features on computer and
monitor to enter into a low-power or sleep mode
when not in use;

e Unplug equipment that drains energy even when
not in use, such as cell phone chargers, fans, coffee
makers, desktop printers and radios;

e Air-conditioning should be maintained at 25 degrees
Celsius; and

e Identify and apply feasible clean technology such as
energy efficiency equipment in the Group’s business
operations.

RIR - HERERHRS

A2. ERERA

REE D RIRESGHER B E(E A A
BER KR EMEM R BEIAEEER
BER - DAERENREFEFEA B /Y - R
PAEBERBELBIETLHIRENE
EE -

FEREE

REE2ED  BREEWEMERHE
FERVMRELIN - RNEBREIRBEREM TR
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s EEFEABARGHER I
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e REEIERERFHEMERE
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The Group’s energy consumption and its intensity
performance are as follows:

AEBNERBERENATERRIT

Type of energy Unit 2022
REIR SR B 20225
Direct energy consumption MWh 3.67
BHERRER KL

Indirect energy consumption MWh 406.79
B BEIRH#E KL

Total energy consumption MWh 410.46
RERHRERE KL

Total energy consumption intensity MWh/HK$'000 revenue 0.0007
BRERERETE KRR, FAETWE

Water Management KEREE

The Group’s water consumption is mainly attributable to
the usage in offices. Based on the locations of the Group’s
operations, and as the property management company
is responsible for the provision of water within the office
premises, the Group did not encounter any issues in
water sourcing. As water usage has been included in the
rent, the consumption data is not available and thus no
guantitative target has been set.

Although the Group’s business is not a water-demanding
business, the Group understands the importance of saving
water. The Group has implemented the water-saving
measures and encourage employees of the Group to use
water efficiently within the operation:

e Extend the air conditioning drain to a barrel to collect
wastewater for watering and cleaning;

. Flush toilets with high or low water flow rate,
depending on the amount of water needed to flush
dirt; and

e Perform regular maintenance and replace old faucets
timely.

The Group is committed to conducting or participating in
activities related to water conservation to raise awareness
among employees. The Group will continuously look for
opportunities to improve water efficiency in the future.

HARAEENAKEIZHRAEES
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Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group’s main business is the provision of IT
solutions and services, the products involved during the
provision of IT solutions and services are pre-packaged
by the suppliers, it is less likely to provide re-packaging
service on the products, hence no respective disclosures
on policies and data are available and no respective
targets have been set.

The Environment and Natural Resources

In view of the IT-related business nature of the Group,
highly-polluting production and procedures are not
involved in its daily operation. The impact on the
environment of the Group’s business activities is mainly
attributable to the consumption of energy. The Group is
conscious of the potential adverse impact of the Group's
operations on the environment and the Group strives to
conduct operations and activities in an environmentally
responsible and sustainable manner. The Group has
established the aforementioned “Policy on the Efficient
Use of Energy and Other Raw Materials” to recognise
that reducing and, where possible, eliminating the
environmental impacts of the Group’s activities is an
important part of the Group’s mission. In addition, the
paper used for printing the interim reports and annual
reports are supplied by paper mills that are members of
Forest Stewardship Council, which aims to promote the
responsible and sustainable use of the resources from
forests in the world.

Environmental Awareness

In addition to strictly requiring employees to implement
the environmental protection measures formulated by
the Group, the Group needs to proactively promote
environmental awareness among the Group’s employees.
They are frequently reminded to recycle wastes, conserve
energy and water and protect the natural environment.
They are also encouraged to participate in environmental
protection activities and share their views on the
environmental issues via internal communication channels.
In addition, the Group adopts green procurement
practices when purchasing resources such as paper and
electronic appliances. The Group continues to review
and minimise the impacts of the daily operations on the
environment.
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B - HEREARE
Indoor Air Quality FAEREE
The Group is dedicated to providing a comfortable NEERBNAEN TGN ER
and green working environment for the employees E=REE - MO RBIRMHTENGZ
by constantly monitoring the indoor air quality in the B ITIERE - MAEHZEFAFBEE
workplace. The air-conditioning and ventilation systems EREFFEFRNNR  UEREANER
in the offices are cleaned four times a year to ensure that EE2RFERMKFE o
indoor air quality is maintained at a good level.

A4. Climate Change Ad. RIZEMt
Climate change poses escalating risks and challenges to R B 2 BRSO BB A T BT AR
the global economy, and such risks may negatively impact e MBkE - ZERBRAEEHAEE
the Group's business. It also increases the occurrence of MEBEEEETE - RIKFE(LINE
extreme weather and intensify global warming which may DoiR s K A B A RNB 2 BRE R
indirectly lead to a higher electricity consumption by using A AR ET g EE g
air-conditioning appliances in a more frequent manner. In REEE -  RERMEHRIEZ(L
response to the community’s gradual concern on climate RiE@RENZRHE LT ~EEEE
changes and related issues, the Group has implemented MEABREESGEUR - (B AFIM R kA
the relevant ESG Policy. The “Policy on the Efficient fth R AR O BUR OBl AN &= (8] B B R MR
Use of Energy and Other Raw Materials” outlines the HEBENEIE S  UAREEEE
Group’s management approach on climate-related issues MEBEEEERLERE  EEMKE
and commitment to climate mitigation, adaptation and RIRZ (LR FGE - NEEEHR T
resilience across its operations and along the value chain. EliEa RS SEE SV EDN-Z -
The Group identified the material impacts on the Group’s
business arising from the following risks:
Physical Risks BERmEE
The Group is aware of the risks brought forth by climate REBEEFHINRIRELF R R -
change, especially the increasing frequency and intensity FRIRREEEmARIBENARmBEE
of extreme weather conditions such as typhoons. KogZl o WEBEHHERMEERE
The increasing frequency and severity of such events MARHES - ATeEREINEE - e
may increase the risk of power failures, supply chain FETFI RIS ETIE SRR - KRR
disruptions, and damage to the office premises. This KE - HAEERA AN EENREE
could disrupt the Group's service activities, resulting in 15 BHIRAF DU KRB ERRRE
reduced revenue as well as increased costs for repairing RABRAIEG N - REETEBIZS
and insurance premiums in long term. The Group is also EHAREERERAEINER - ER
aware that these incidents may endanger the safety of its B ANEEZYETE T
employees. As mitigation, the Group closely monitors the HPIEMARFIRRERREER °
latest weather alerts and suggestions issued by the local S EEHCE IF M) &l 5E B /@ A7
government authorities. The Group has established work B TEZHE - HRFTA A B U ES
arrangements during typhoons in the “Staff Manual” LR R R RIE AR ERE - SRS
to ensure that all personnel are prepared to deal with S S AT i KSRV IE S T AT B AE R &Y
such extreme weather conditions, aiming at reducing BEBRXREGSE - REEDHIEC(ERS
or avoiding potential losses and injuries during extreme EEMEED - MERAKEERERE
weather circumstances. A “Business Continuity Plan” is ML ESEET c AREITIREZE
in place to ensure operational continuity of processes HRBRIE - WREHEEREEN
and activities of the Group. The Group also maintains a frac ol
comprehensive insurance coverage to safeguard its assets
and employees.
{ ]
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Transition Risks

The development of international policy and regulation
on climate change, and the evolving commitment of the
PRC and Hong Kong Government to carbon reduction are
anticipated and may present potential risks to the Group
in the coming years. In addition, the Stock Exchange
requires listed companies to strengthen climate-related
disclosures in their ESG reports, which may increase
related compliance costs. Such transition risks which
require the Group to move towards a sustainable business
model may potentially lead to impacts such as increasing
operational costs from change of operational practices.
Failure to meet climate change compliance requirements
may expose the Group to the risk of claims and
litigation, which may result in a possible loss of corporate
reputation. The Group will regularly monitor existing and
emerging climate-related trends, policies and regulations
to avoid reputation risk due to slow response. The Group
will continue to assess the energy consumption proportion
in the Group’s operation comprehensively and optimising
the corresponding procedures.

B. SOCIAL
B1. Employment

The Group considers its employees to be its greatest asset
and strives to attract and retain the best people for its
sustainable growth. The Group has established the “Staff
Manual” and “Human Resources and Payroll Management
Policy” to ensure that employees are treated fairly and
equally, and that their rights and interests are protected.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations include
but not limited to the “Labour Relations Law (Law
no. 7/2008)" of Macau, the “Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Social Insurance
Law”, the "Regulation on the Administration of Housing
Accumulation Funds” of the PRC and the “Employment
Ordinance” of Hong Kong.

RIR - HERERHRS
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 249 employees
(including four executive Directors and excluding one non-
executive Director and three INEDs) (as at 31 December
2021: 189 employees). Employees’ composition by
gender, age group, employment type and geographical
region is shown as follows:

HZE2022%F12A8318 - "EEAF 249
ZRERE(BRENZEHTESHETRIE
—BERTEER =B IERTE
£)(HZE2021F12A31H : 189% 18
8) o R - FEAER - EFEERA
MR B D BRI T ¢

Number %
AE %
By gender =1
Male Bk 189 75.90
Female egid 60 24.10
By age group RERAR
<31 1A T 97 38.96
31-50 31E508% 145 58.23
> 50 505 A £ 7 2.81
By employment type RERER
Full-time o 245 98.39
Part-time FRE 4 1.61
By geographical region R E
Macau EPT 122 48.99
Hong Kong HAE 42 16.87
The PRC H 85 34.14

Recruitment, Compensation, Promotion and
Dismissal

The Group believes each employee is entitled to fair,
courteous and dignified treatment. The “Policy on
Recruitment, Promotion and Development of Talent”
has been formulated under the ESG Policy to offer an
innovative, growth-oriented and challenging workplace
with the expectation that everybody contributes to the
results and shares in the success of the Group. The Group
recruits employees mainly through online recruitment
platform, recruitment agent and by referral. Educational
backgrounds, technical qualifications, characters, relevant
industry experiences and adoption to the corporate
values are key recruitment criteria. The human resources
department of the Group reviews the Group’s recruitment
policy from time to time to cope with the needs of the
Group's business operation.

7B - #B - B REE

AEBERR  BUEIHAEREGIR
I BREAEEENHET AEER
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The Group is committed to providing a competitive
remuneration package to all eligible full-time and part-
time employees which are outlined in the “Policy on
Other Benefits and Welfare” under the ESG Policy. The
Group's remuneration package generally comprises basic
salary, performance-based commission, if applicable, a
discretionary performance-based bonus and other benefits
such as medical/labour insurance and travel insurance.
The Group will review and evaluate the performance of
the Group’s employees periodically and make any salary
adjustments and promotions accordingly. The Group
is required under relevant PRC laws and regulations
to make contributions to employee benefit plans at
specified percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain
allowances of the Group’s employees, up to a maximum
amount specified by the local jurisdiction from time to
time.

Employees are subject to performance appraisals
every year, which conduct an assessment of their
past performance and jointly formulate their career
development direction. Subject to the company operation,
the results of appraisals may be used as the standards and
grounds for promotion recommendation, deployment or
salary adjustment.

For employees who do not fulfil the responsibilities
set out by the performance criteria, rules, procedures
and standards of conduct may be subject to adverse
personnel action. Dismissal is applicable to conduct or
job performance of an employee that results in a decision
to impose a disciplinary penalty of demotion, suspension
without pay or dismissal.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a EREFE  FAEBHEEREAERY
turnover rate* of approximately 24.90%. The breakdown® 24.90% ° =M R - FEAR R E
of employee turnover rate by gender, age group and DHE B MR ERAM I IR
geographical region is shown as follows:

80

Turnover rate Mk E %
Total CEl 24.90
By gender R

Male ESlia 26.98
Female 7t 18.33
By age group REHRER

<31 3M1EA T 43.30
31-50 31E505% 13.79
> 50 S0BRIA L -
By geographical region Rt E

Macau L 21.31
Hong Kong BA 28.57
The PRC s 28.24
Notes: N

4. Calculation method of turnover rate: (total number of
departures in the reporting period = total number of
employees at the end of the reporting period) X 100%.

5. Calculation method of turnover rate for each category:
(total number of departures in the specific category during
the reporting period = total number of employees in the
specific category at the end of the reporting period) X
100%.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

To suit different business needs, the working hours may
vary from different positions. The “Policy on Working
Hours and Compensation” has provided an overview on
working hours and compensation for employees. Subject
to the Group's work assignments and executive Director’s
approval, the employee’s supervisor shall determine the
hours of employment that best suits the needs of the
work to be done by the individual employee. The policy
has also provided regulations regarding attendance,
punctuality and overtime compensation. On the other
hand, rest periods and holidays are provided to employees
according to the “Policy on Rest Periods” to ensure the
work-life balance of employees and in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations.
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

Creating a discrimination and harassment free work
environment is every employee’s responsibility and one
of the major goals of the Group. The Group upholds
the value of diversity and shall act as the responsible
agent in the full implementation of the “Policy on Equal
Employment Opportunity” under its ESG Policy. The
policy applies to the Group to provide equal opportunities
in all aspects of employment, including recruitment,
hiring, job assignments, promotions, working conditions,
scheduling, benefits, wage, and salary administration,
disciplinary action, termination, and social, educational
and recreational programs. The Group does not tolerate
any forms of discrimination within the Group’s operations
with regard to race, colour, religion, national origin, sex,
age, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, political
affiliation, personal appearance, family responsibility,
matriculation or any other characteristics as recognised
by relevant anti-discriminatory regulations. The “Policy on
Discrimination and Harassment” is also in place to clearly
define and prohibit discrimination or harassment in the
workplace, whether committed by or against managers,
co-workers, customers, vendors, or visitors. Any claims
of discrimination or harassment will be investigated
promptly, and appropriate disciplinary action will be taken
to eliminate inappropriate behaviour.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to achieving excellence in
occupational health and safety management in a
dynamic process and continually strive to improve the
Group's performance. It is the foundation for continuous
improvement in the Group’s facilities, products and
services. The Group has developed and adopted “Policy
on Occupational Health and Safety” to ensure and provide
a safe and healthy working environment for all employees
with zero tolerance for unsafe acts or conditions.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to
health and safety that would have a significant impact on
the Group. Relevant laws and regulations include but not
limited to the “General Regulation of Work Safety and
Hygiene Offices, Services and Commercial Establishment
(Decree-Law no. 37/89/M)” and the “Legal Regime of
Compensation of Damages Caused by Industrial Accidents
and Occupational Diseases (Decree-Law no. 40/95/
M)” of Macau, the “Provisions on the Administration
of Occupational Health at Workplaces”, the “Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Treatment of Occupational Diseases” of the PRC and the
“Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance” of Hong
Kong. In the past three years (including the Reporting
Year), the Group did not record any work-related fatalities
and injuries. During the Reporting Year, the Group also
did not record any working days lost due to work-related
injuries.

Measures on Occupational Health and Safety
The Group provides the Group's employees with safe
working environment, and strives to protect them
from potential health hazards and injuries. Employees
are required to familiarise themselves with local safety
requirements including wearing adequate personal
protective equipment when required and reporting unsafe
acts, conditions and safety risks. To raise employees’
awareness of safety, mandatory training and observation
programs such as safety training, fire drills, first-aid
certificate course are provided for them to take part
in. The management is responsible for facilitating risk
assessments and developing protective measures in
cooperation with employees. The Group also provides
industrial accident insurance for employees as a protection
measure.

The human resources department of the Group is
responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the
above measures relating to occupational safety and
health matters of the Group. In each of the workplace in
Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC, cases of personal work-
related injury by accident must be reported by the human
resources Manager to the relevant regulatory authorities
within the respective time limit. All employees of the
Group may, from time to time, raise any occupational
health and safety related issues through various channels.
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Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

In response to the COVID-19 outbreak and to prevent the
spread of the virus, the Group strictly maintains a high
hygiene standard and complies with the virus prevention
regulations issued by the local governments and has
disseminated information on the pandemic situation
and preventive measures to its employees. During the
Reporting Year, the Group has implemented prevention
and control measures at the Group’s offices in Macau,
Hong Kong and the PRC such as providing face masks
and sanitiser to the Group’s employees and requiring
them to undergo mandatory temperature checks. In case
if any of the employees contracted or is suspected to
have contracted COVID-19, they are to report the same
to the management and be prohibited from returning
to the Group's offices. In light of the recent outbreak of
COVID-19 in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, the Group
has adopted special work arrangements such that the
Group's staff work on rotation and they are required to
take COVID-19 test before returning to the office.

Development and Training

The Group adopts a philosophy of continuous
improvement and endeavours to keep the Group’s
technical professionals abreast of the latest technology
developments. To always stay at the technological
forefront in an everchanging market, the Group
encourages employees to continuously improve and
further develop their skill sets. The Group’s performance
management process encourages timely fact-based
feedback and promotes regular opportunities to discuss
development. The Group provides ongoing product and
other on-the-job training and development opportunities
through formal programs, coaching, mentoring and on
the job experiences. In addition, the Group provides global
training programs in a variety of areas, such as people
management and leadership. The Group has stipulated
management procedures on employee training in its “Staff
Manual” under the section headed “Employee Training
and Development”.
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Subject to the needs of business development, employees
may be required to take part in training or professional
examinations to obtain industry certifications and
accreditations, of which the expenses are subsidised by
the Group as an encouragement. It is believed that all-
around training can increase productivity, build confidence
in its workforce, and create a better working environment.
Trainings will be offered to engineers regularly to
keep their technical standards up to market level and
equip them for certification examinations. Before their
participation in the training or professional examinations,
they are required to sign an agreement on employee
training stating their willingness to serve the Group
within a certain service binding period after the training
or professional examinations. In addition, pursuant to
the “Taxes Management Policy”, the Group provides
continuing professional development for staff of the
Finance Department to ensure tax filing is prepared and
reviewed competently and is submitted to the regulatory
bodies timely and accurately.

In view of the significance of data security due to the
Group’s business nature, relevant trainings have been
provided to employees during the Reporting Year to
enhance their awareness and familiarity. The Group's
project management professionals have earned leadership
experience and expertise with globally-recognised
certification. In addition, employees who are qualified
Certified Public Accountants have attended development
trainings to fulfil the professional requirement. A summary
of the Group’s training data during the Reporting Year is as
follows:
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Percentage of Breakdown of Average
employees employees training
trained® trained’ hours?®
ZIEEESLS RIESHA FHIIEHEC
% % Hour
% % /INBEF
Total &t 12.05 - 2.00
By gender R 5
Male St 15.34 96.67 2.32
Female pgEd 1.67 333 1.00
By employee category RESER
Senior management RRERE 7.69 3.33 2.65
Middle management RARERE 11.11 10.00 4.30
General —REE 12.44 86.67 1.67
]
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Notes:

6.  Percentage of employees trained = (number of employees
trained during that year in the category = number of
employees at the end of that year in the category) X
100%.

7. Breakdown of employees trained = (number of employees
trained during that year in the category =+ total number of
employees trained during that year) X 100%.

8. Average training hours = number of training hours during
that year in the category = number of employees at the
end of that year in the category.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits human rights abuses over
the entire business operations. During the Reporting
Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to the
prevention of forced labour or child labour that would
have a significant impact on the Group. Relevant laws and
regulations include but not limited to the “Employment
Policy and Labour Rights (Law no. 4/98/M)”, “Regulation
on the Prohibition of lllegal Work (Law no. 17/2004)",
the “Law for the Employment of Non-resident Workers
(Law no. 21/2009)" of Macau, the “Provisions on the
Prohibition of the Use of Child Labour” of the PRC, the
“Employment Ordinance” and the “Employment of
Children Regulations” of Hong Kong.

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group has detailed all recruitment procedures and
requirements in the “Human Resources and Payroll
Management Policy”. In order to avoid child and forced
labour, procedures of pre-employment investigation
including background and reference check would be
conducted by the human resources officer under the
consent of the job applicants prior to the issuing of job
offer. Applicants who are found providing misleading,
erroneous or deceptive information during the recruitment
process would not be considered.
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As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Working Hours
and Rest Periods” under Aspect B1, the regulations on
working hours and overtime are set out in detail in the
ESG Policy. Employees may request the opportunity
to vary their work schedules to better accommodate
personal responsibility. To prevent forced overtime work,
any necessary arrangements of overtime would only be
made upon the request of an employee’s supervisor.
Overtime pay as compensation is in line with the local
laws and regulations. Employees’ rest periods are well
respected; hence, they are entitled to various types of
holiday as described in the “Staff Manual”. If any form
of forced labour is found, the Group will immediately
investigate and stop such situation, and will investigate
and communicate with the senior management in a timely
manner.

IE4nB1 BT IE T /[ TR R IR B
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Supply Chain Management B5. e EE
Building a trust relationship with suppliers helps the HEENEEEEREINAEE
Group manage the Group’s potential environmental and ERBEENIRRET R - FIRRE
social risk while enhancing the efficiency of the Group'’s SAEEAEENE REBEHER
operations. The Group's suppliers comprise system BREZGHER  BELHERES B
vendors, authorised distributors and subcontractors. e MIEITHIRTRER S - Lk
Under the enterprise IT solutions business, the suppliers HEERRFGMHENARELEY -
are mainly the authorised distributors of the system REE MRS H R RS HE R
vendors, and the Group purchases the products from the BELARIBEER - AREEHIR
authorised distributors of the system vendors for project BRI RBER) - WA HERBHITIA
application. The Group has implemented the “Purchases THEMERED - RIMEFE - A
& Payment Policy” with the following practices on supplier SEEEF104REER - HERSM
management for all suppliers. During the Reporting Year, BOMAT :
the Group had a total of 194 suppliers. The geographical
distribution of suppliers is as follows:
Number
Geographical Region HE 2
Macau P 82
Hong Kong B 81
The PRC A [ 14
Others (Israel, Taiwan, Australia, Finland, US, EM(ABY] - 5 « BAFE -
Thailand, Singapore, Malta, Malaysia) 368 - B - ZED - RN

FHEM - FHRAE:) 17

Total wmEt 194
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Procurement Mechanism

The Group has established the “Purchases & Payment
Policy” which stipulates the procedures whenever
engaging a new vendor. The director of Product
and Marketing Department should fill in the Vendor
Registration Form with the potential vendor’s basic
information and then conduct background check and
United Nations sanction check with relevant supporting
documents to ensure the potential vendor is valid.
Upon approval by the CEO, the director of Product and
Marketing Department should register the qualified
vendor into the Approved Vendor List for the CEQ’s
approval. The documents must be obtained before
the purchase order is placed to the new vendor and
properly filed and retained. Due to the business nature,
occasionally some required goods and services may not be
provided by the existing vendors on the Approved Vendor
List. In those cases, a quotation would be obtained from
the single potential vendor before placing purchase order.

Supply Chain Environmental and Social Risk
Management

The Group conducts an annual performance evaluation
to all the approved vendors to weed out undesirable
vendors based on performance indicators including
defect rate, pricing and discounts, turnaround time and
validity time of quotes, packaging integrity and delivery
schedule, technical skills and ability, flexibility, accessibility
and responsiveness to queries. The evaluation results are
recorded in the Vendor Performance Evaluation Form to
be reviewed and approved by the CEO. The Approved
Vendor List should be updated based on those results and
unqualified vendors would be removed from the list.

In addition, the Group puts emphasis on compliance with
environmental and social laws and regulations which helps
to identify and minimise risks along the supply chain.
Any non-compliance to relevant laws and regulations
discovered by the Group will be promptly reported to
the management. Corrective action will be carried out to
remediate the identified risk in a timely manner.
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Promoting Environmentally Preferable
Products and Services

The Group has adopted green procurement practices
suggested in the ESG Policy which aim at providing
the Product and Marketing Department with guiding
principles when making sustainable procurement
decisions. It further promotes and supports the
environmental protection initiatives in the supply chain
by encouraging suppliers to explore and implement
innovative environmental practices. Throughout the
procurement process, higher preference would be given to
those suppliers adopting green specifications and meeting
the Group's environmental protection requirements. The
above requirements are clearly specified at the beginning
of procurement process. Approved vendors are monitored
and assessed with the annual performance evaluation
as detailed in the paragraph headed “Supply Chain
Environmental and Social Risk Management” above, with
environmental protection as one of the criteria.

Product Responsibility

The Group places customer satisfaction as the Group's
top priority and strives to keep up with the evolving needs
of the customers. The Group has established the “Product
Responsibility Policy” to standardise procedures for the
quality management of products and services. The Group
strives to establish and maintain good relationships with
customers, to listen to their concerns, and to surpass
their expectations with the Group’s premium quality.
As technology continues to advance, the Group will see
changes in customers’ behaviour and expectations.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling, and
privacy matters about products and services provided and
methods of redress that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations include
but not limited to the “Consumer Protection Law (Law
no. 12/88/M)”, the “Personal Data Protection Act (Law
no. 8/2005)" of Macau, the “Cyber Security Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Data Security Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Civil Code of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Personal Information
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China” of the
PRC, the “Sale of Goods Ordinance (Chapter 26 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)” and the “the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong)” of
Hong Kong.
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Quality Assurance

The Group believes that stringent quality control is critical to
the Group'’s success and reputation. With the commitment to
delivering products which are safe and of consistent quality,
the Group ensures that products are sold in compliance
with local rules and regulations related to health and safety.
The Group has put in place high-standard quality control
measures at various stages of the Group’s work process,
including project planning, procurement of hardware,
the associated system and components, and project
implementation to ensure the quality of the work adheres to
the contractual requirements and customers’ specifications.
In projects where subcontractors are engaged, the Group
also takes steps to ensure that their work conform with
the requirements, specifications and timeline. The Group
monitors the performance of the Group’s subcontractors
through conducting on-site reviews, and the subcontractors
are required to submit progress reports to the Group on
a regularly basis to record and report the work completed
by them. If the products are defective upon arrival, the
authorised distributors of the system vendor in general would
unconditionally replace with new products within seven days
of the delivery. In other cases, product repairs or returns
depend on the warranty purchased by the Group’s customer,
the periods of which generally range from one year to three
years. The Group provides back-to-back warranty to the
Group's customers accordingly. During the Reporting Year,
there were no products recalled for safety and health reasons
and no related complaints received.

Privacy and Data Security

The Group is committed to respecting privacy rights and
protecting the personal information clients share with
the Group. Therefore, it has formulated the "Policy on
Data Protection and Privacy of Personal Data” under its
ESG Policy to set forth how the Group will manage the
personal data that it collects in the normal course of
business. The Group takes steps to make sure the proper
use and collection of personal data. The Group will allow
data subjects reasonable access to personal data about
themselves during normal working hours and upon
reasonable request, and will be allowed to update and/
or correct any inaccurate information. As a precaution to
mitigate risks of data leakages and privacy breaches leading
to increased costs in addressing regulatory actions and also
potentially tarnishing the Group’s reputation, employees
would be required to sign non-disclosure agreement. The
Group will take other reasonable precautions to protect
personal data from loss, misuse, unauthorised access,
disclosure, alteration and destruction.
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The Group uses a self-assessment approach to assure
compliance with this privacy policy and periodically
verifies that the policy is accurate, comprehensive for
the information intended to be covered, prominently
displayed, completely implemented and accessible and
in conformity with the principles. The Group encourages
interested individuals to raise any concerns regarding use
and disclosure of personal data in accordance with the
principles. If a complaint or dispute cannot be resolved
through the Group's internal process, the Group agrees
to resolve it using a third-party resolution provider as a
method of redress.

As an enterprise providing IT solutions and cyber security,
data security is material to the Group’s business. Thus, the
“Staff Manual” provides guidelines relevant to tackling
potential threats such as hacking and cyber phishing.
Preventive measures on handling e-mails and documents
as well as setting passwords are set out in the guidelines.
Employees are provided with external training and briefing
sessions on data security by relevant IT solution providers
from time to time. Employees are also encouraged to
report on suspicious situations.

Intellectual Property Rights

To protect the Group's intellectual property rights, the
Group has registered or made applications to register
the Group’s patents, copyrights, trademarks and domain
names in different jurisdictions. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group has registered 6 trademarks, 10 copyrights
and 3 domain names which are material in relation to
the Group's business. Despite of these, litigation may
be necessary to protect the Group's intellectual property
rights in certain circumstances. The Group will continue to
monitor to ensure that its intellectual property rights are
not being infringed upon.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group conducts limited advertising campaigns and
therefore does not involve any significant advertising-
related risks. Nevertheless, in terms of the advertisement
for products and services, the Group strictly regulates and
monitors products and services promotion to ensure that
they comply with advertising and labelling related laws
and regulations. Such marketing and promotion must
accurately reflect the quality of the Group’s products and
performance of the Group’s services.
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B7. Anti-corruption

It is a crucial part of the Group’s principle “We take
corporate responsibility” which states that “We set clear
requirements for corporate responsibility and ethics
within the Group and for the Group’s business partners”.
In order to earn trust from customers, authorities,
shareholders and society, the Group is dependent upon
professionalism, expertise and high ethical standards in
all aspects of the Group’s work. The Group supports a
culture of integrity, ethical conduct, fairness, honesty
and openness when doing business, and adopts a zero-
tolerance attitude towards any bribery, fraud and money
laundering. The Group is committed to ensuring that no
bribes, kickbacks or similar gifts, payments or advantages
are solicited from or given or offered to any person, for
any purposes. Being in line with the Group’s vision, core
values and principles, the “Anti-Corruption Guidelines”
has been drawn up to increase awareness of corruption
and to enable employees across the Group to identify
corruption with direction on how it can be combated.
Managers are responsible to ensure that employees
familiarise themselves with the guideline. Employees are
therefore expected to behave with care, integrity and
professionalism pursuant to the guideline.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money-laundering
that would have a significant impact on the Group.
Relevant laws and regulations include but not limited
to the “Law on Prevention and Suppression of Money
Laundering Crimes (Law no. 2/2006)” of Macau, the
“Company Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China” of the PRC and the “Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance” in Hong Kong. During the Reporting Year,
there was no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees.
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Preventive Measures

To facilitate employees to understand the importance of
anti-corruption, the “Anti-Corruption Guidelines” provides
detailed definition on what constitutes corruption and
inappropriate benefits. Nobody may receive benefits from
the Group’s business contacts or give benefits to them if
such benefits are based on the employment relationship.
Persons in violation of the policies or applicable laws and
regulations may be subject to disciplinary or administrative
action, as well as civil or criminal liability. The Board is
responsible for drawing up and making accessible training
materials to relevant staff to ensure compliance when new
laws and regulations that may impact the business are
introduced. Training sessions are held at least once every
year for Directors and employees. During the Reporting
Year, all of the 8 Directors and 3 employees of the Group
have each received approximately 1 hour of anti-corruption
training. Such training familiarises the Directors and
employees at various levels with their corresponding roles
and responsibilities in anti-corruption and business ethics,
and helps cultivate employees’ awareness towards anti-
corruption and a high standard of professional conduct
to comply with the laws in the operating locations of the
Group.

Whistleblowing Mechanism

Anyone who becomes aware of an incident or situation
which appears to contravene rules and guidelines which
apply to the Group’s operations is encouraged to report
orally or in writing. The procedures of whistleblowing
are set out under the guidelines to facilitate employees’
reporting of corruption incidents. The consequences
of breaches are set out according to the types and
seriousness of breach. All sanctions will be assessed
by the human resources manager or the Board before
implementation. The Group will monitor and review the
effectiveness of the whistleblowing mechanism regularly.
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. Community Investment

The Group attaches great importance to community
contribution, investment and development. Therefore,
the Group has formulated the “Policy on Community
Investment” to uphold its commitments to actively repay
and contribute to the society and promote social harmony.
The Group pursues the sustainable development of the
Group’s community by creating shared benefits thereby
improve the quality of life for those in need. The Group
will also consider the concerns of key stakeholders and
the synergies that arise from interaction with the Group’s
core social responsibility values, products and services.
Approval, reporting and monitoring mechanism are in
place for the community investment procedures to further
enhance accountability and transparency and to ensure
effectiveness.

Corporate Social Responsibility

The Group’'s contribution areas focus on local
development matters. During the Reporting Year, the
Group has donated HK$200,000 to Think Tank of United
Citizens and MOP50,000 to City University of Macau
in support of education and livelihood of residents in
Macau. The Group will continue to embolden and support
the public by various means of social participation and
contribution as part of the Group’s strategic development.
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

TEHE EBH-

Description Section/Declaration

—-REBRERENER #HA B85

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1 : HERY

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water

and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BHERLREREBHN - AR DS EERESEENN

EEEW

(@ BXR: R

(b) BEFHBTABEAFENABEEZREM

HER

Emissions

e

KPIAT.1
BREMIERALT

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

PR KA AR

Emissions — Air Emissions

HER — BRI

KPIAT1.2
BRANIERA2

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit

of production volume, per facility).

B (8E) ReREE (8E2) REREBHRE CAETE) R(nE
B)%E (QDLAlEE B BEREAE)

Emissions — GHG Emissions

P — R EREIK

KPIA1.3
BRI IEIRAL 3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
MELRERENEE (AN E) R(MER)ZE (MASEEES
i - GERmAE)

Emissions — Waste Management —
Hazardous Wastes (Not applicable
- explained)

BB -BEENEE-BEEED
(TER-C®E)

KPI A1.4
WREIEIEAL 4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
MELREEENAE UMHE) R(ER)BE(MAGESE
fii - BERHEEE)

Emissions — Waste Management -
Non-hazardous Wastes

B -BEENEE - BEREY

KPIA1.5
BRREIEIRALS

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

MR MERE B R AZEL R RAERN TSR -

Environmental Targets, Emissions —
Air Emissions, GHG Emissions

REAE - S — BRI
RERBYN

KPIA1.6
BREIEIRAL6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

MR EAERESBEEYNAE - REAMTLRER ERAE
Z5E L B IZFTIR A A 5Y

Environmental Targets, Emissions —
Waste Management

REBR - BEYER
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—REERERENER
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Description
U

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BmEA2 : EFRER

General Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and

Section/Declaration
£,/ B9

Use of Resources

—RiEE other raw materials. BRER
BRERER(BEER « KREMRIE) BB o
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas  Use of Resources — Energy

RSB RAL.1

or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

RENESMERRSREER(NE - ek s (CATET
BB E) REE (NASERER - §IERHETE) o

Management

BIRfER —geRERE

KPIA2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production  Use of Resources — Water
RIREMIRIRA2.2 volume, per facility). Management
BRKERTE(NMABESEN  BEREE) BRER-KERER
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to  Environmental Targets, Use of
BIRENURIEA23 achieve them. Resources — Energy Management
A FTET S MR IRIE ARG B IR R AERIE L B BRI S5 - REBR  BREM-ERER
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit ~ Environmental Targets, Use of
B ERIsIEA2 4 for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Resources — Water Management
them. REER  BREA-KERER
ICKIGERAR Ll B ARRE - AR KRRk ERA
EIE LR RN SR -
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if ~ Use of Resources — Use of Packaging
BIRETIRIEA2S applicable, with reference to per unit produced. Materials (Not applicable -

S mR R NEE A E) R(NER) BLEEMEE -

explained)
BRER - BEMBER
(MNER-B87E)

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 : RERARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the  The Environment and Natural

—RHE environment and natural resources. Resources
REEITAHRERARAERELERT BHHE RENKRAER

KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment  The Environment and Natural

AREBUEEA3 and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Resources — Environmental
MIEBEHHRERRAEFNEATERCENEREBEFEM  Awareness, Indoor Air Quality
18- RERARER-RREH
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

TEHE EBH-

Description

—-REERBRENES

Aspect Ad: Climate Change
BHAL : RIREIE

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related

Section/Declaration
B BB

Climate Change

—MEE issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. ~ &IRE(L

HA R EHE AR U BT AEEYENEAR RIEBEEENK

%o
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have  Climate Change — Physical Risks,
BREBIEIEA4N impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions Transition Risks

taken to manage them.
HRER N AR HBETAELYENEARBIERSEE - REHTT
@J o

Aspect B1: Employment

EEB1 : EE

General Disclosure Information on:
—MRHE (@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
BRFTMLRE  BERES  LENH - RY TEKe
1t~ RIBRARE 58 KR
(@ BX: Rk
(b) EBTFHETABEAYENBBEERAN
MR o

REE(-ERER  BLER

Employment

B

KPI B1.1
B EIEIER 1

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or
part-time), age group and geographical region.

Employment

R

BIER - ERER(NERIER)  FRAFNRMEIASNERS
o
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical ~ Employment — Recruitment,
BB ERIE1ER1.2 region. Compensation, Promotion and

Rith - FRARNREESDNESRKLE -

Dismissal

ERE-FE  F8 &7 RRE
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Description
U

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EmB2 : RERZE

General Disclosure

Information on:

Section/Declaration
£,/ B9

Health and Safety

—MRRE (a)  the policies; and REERLS
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
BRRHZ 2 TIERERRERESEEBENLEEN
(@ B R
(b BETHETABEAZENEBERRAD
HOE R o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the  Health and Safety
SR BIEIEBR2.1 past three years including the reporting year. BEREE
BE=F (PRERFR)BFRAITHOABRLE -
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
MR B RUE1RB2.2 EIGEAIERS - RREZE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and  Health and Safety — Measures on
HRENURIEBR2 3 how they are implemented and monitored. Occupational Health and Safety,

HAFRANBRREEL 2186 - ARRBRTRERE -

Aspect B3: Development and Training

fEEB3 : BREKIEH

Response to the COVID-19

Pandemic
RERT > -FHEBEREEZ S

fO1EHE - FEECOVID-19% 15

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging

Development and Training

—RiEE duties at work. Description of training activities. BRI
BRRTES BT IEREMAB RN EER « BB INES -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee  Development and Training — Training
PSR BUE1EBR3 . category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Programmes
RUEFIREESEN(NSREERE +REER)ESNZIEERS BERIIEI-IHIEE
L e
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and  Development and Training — Training
BRENIRIER3.2 employee category. Programmes

R R EBERIED - B4EE TN TIIEE -

BR RIEI—EIEE
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RiE - HERER

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

TEHE EBH-
—REERERERIER

]E

Description
U

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EHBA | BT &R

General Disclosure

Information on:

Section/Declaration
B BB

Labour Standards

—MRIE (@  the policies; and TR

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BBMIEET ReaHATH

(@ BXR: R

() BFHBETARERZENEBEENRN

HEHY o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child  Labour Standards — Prevention of
FBEIE1ZR4 1 and forced labour. Child and Forced Labour

R R EN AR R E T RS - STRA-BIETRAHST
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when  Labour Standards - Prevention of
HREBUIEERA.2 discovered. Child and Forced Labour

[EMEBS : fLEMER

General Disclosure

IR RE RSN ERR B B R PTEREN P58 o
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply

GTRA-BIEETRAHST

Supply Chain Management

—fREE chain. R E R
B ERNIRE Rt SRBREUR o
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
MR AE BUIEIEBS A BinEE SRR - HERER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of ~ Supply Chain Management
AR A IEIERS.2 suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they &S
are implemented and monitored.
HRERERtEENED  RERTERENINHEEREE - K
HERTRERE -
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social ~ Supply Chain Management — Supply
A BUIE1ERS.3 risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and Chain Environmental and Social
monitored. Risk Management
W EBASCERSERGORE R ERRNOED  EEHR  HEREE - HEBNRE LS
TRERFE - RBER
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable  Supply Chain Management —
HIREIEIEBRS 4 products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are Promoting Environmentally

implemented and monitored.
WO EREHERREEZARRERRRGNEN - ARBENT
RERTE o

Preferable Products and Services
HEREE -RELZARRERR
PR

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

2022 ANNUAL REPORT



Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

TEGR - -BE-
—REERERERERE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HEREGHRSE

Description
U

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EHB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure

Information on:

Section/Declaration
8/ BB

Product Responsibility

—MRE (a) the policies; and EmEM
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
REMRRERNRBNREELZS  BE  RHRIMBEEARME
HOER -
@ BE: Rk
b) BETHETABEAZENEBERRRAED
HE R o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for  Product Responsibility — Quality

RS AE 1386, 1

safety and health reasons.

EERDEREREHTAR2RREFEHMMARKNE DL -

Assurance
ERET-E=RE

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how  Product Responsibility— Quality
B E351286.2 they are dealt with. Assurance
BRI E MR RBEEIRFEE AREL 7% EREM-E2RE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting  Product Responsibility — Intellectual
HREURIEB6.3 intellectual property rights. Property Rights
Hia B B T ARPR A E R FARIE DI ERET-MHERE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility — Quality

RSERE1RB6.4

L EhT R RERERER o

Assurance
ERET-E=2RE

KPI B6.5
BB EIE1ER6.5

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how

they are implemented and monitored.

MR BEERRERARHE - WRRBRTRERE

Product Responsibility - Privacy and
Data Security
EmEE-RBILEBEZE
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BRI - HEREGHRS

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

and KPIs

TEHE -  EBH Description Section/Declaration
—REERBERERER 8/ BB

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[EMEB7 : RES

General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption
— M E (@) the policies; and KBS
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BEB LA - 9R - BEFRARER |

@ HE: R

() BFHBETARERZENEBEENRN

HEHY o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought — Anti-corruption
B IEIERT .1 against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the & &35

outcomes of the cases.

RERPAARETASZHEERITCEEANT SHARMANHE R

AR
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures, — Anti-corruption — Preventive
B EIE1ERT 2 how they are implemented and monitored. Measures, Whistleblowing
il e MRy - I TRERE - Mechanism
RE)5— R - B
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. ~ Anti-corruption — Preventive
HSERIERBRT 3 iR ES R E TREORE)FE - Measures

RES -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEBS : HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the ~ Community Investment
—MEE communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take @& &

into consideration the communities’ interests.

R R2ER T REEMEHREENRRAEXKEDSZ BT

& RIS E KR
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, ~ Community Investment — Corporate
BIRIEIEIERS. labour needs, health, culture, sport). Social Responsibility
EIARSER(NHE BREFE HIFK BFR Xt 8F) . HERE-CEHERE
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment — Corporate
HREIEEZBs.2 EEIHRMBAER(MeERER) o Social Responsibility

HREE-CEHERE
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERS

The Board submits herewith this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2022.

COMPANY INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 18 February 2021 and
was registered as a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) on
7 June 2021. The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange from 15
July 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in provision of IT integrated solutions
services, support services from leasing contracts and security
monitoring services, IT equipment leasing, IT maintenance and
consultancy services, and distribution and resale of packaged
hardware and software in Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and net results for the year by
principal activities is set out in the section headed “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business during the year, which includes
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators, particulars of important events influencing
the Group, an indication of likely future developments in the
Group's business, and discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance and the relationships with its stakeholders,
can be found in the sections headed “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT",
“MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS”, “CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT"”, “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT” and "“INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT”
of this annual report. The review forms part of this directors’ report.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past four financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements, is set out on pages 243 to 247 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidated financial results of the Group for FY2022 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 December
2022 are set out on pages 126 to 129 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
FY2022.

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chao
Ms. Chiu
Ms. Lei
Mr. Ng

Non-executive Director
Mr. Li

INEDs

Mr. Man
Mr. U
Mr. Suen

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of each Director and senior management
are set out in the section headed "DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT" of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Chao, Ms. Chiu, Ms. Lei and Mr. Ng, being the executive
Directors, has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date.

Mr. Li, being the non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date.

Each of Mr. Man, Mr. Suen and Mr. U, being the INEDs, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years commencing from the Listing Date.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation and not aware of any
adverse event, the Company considers that all the INEDs are
independent and have met the independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS", no contract of significance was entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during FY2022 or subsisted at
the end of the year and no contract of significance for the provision
of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during
FY2022 or subsisted at the end of the year.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has adopted a Dividend Policy, details of which are
disclosed as follows:

Purpose

This Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines that the
Company will apply when considering the declaration and payment
of dividends to the Shareholders.

Principals and guidelines

The Board adopts the policy that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth as well
as its shareholder’s value.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio.

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the Shareholders, subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and
regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Company and the Group when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends:

e financial results;

e cash flow situation;

e business conditions and strategies;

e  future operations and earnings;

e capital requirements and expenditure plans;

e interests of Shareholders;

e any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

e any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year
of period:

° interim dividend;
e final dividend;
° special dividend; or

e any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’
approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash
dividend or scrip dividend or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

Review of the Dividend Policy

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time
to time.

AGM

The 2023 AGM will be held on 20 June 2023. The notice of the
AGM will be published and dispatched to Shareholders in the
manner as required by the Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTERED MEMBERS

The Register of Members will be closed from Thursday, 15 June
2023 to Tuesday, 20 June 2023, both days inclusive, for the purpose
of determining the identity of members who are entitled to attend
and vote at the Company’s forthcoming AGM scheduled to be
held on Tuesday, 20 June 2023. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
14 June 2023.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 16 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during FY2022 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
FY2022 are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during FY2022 are set out in the consolidated statements
of changes in equity and note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

The Company may pay dividends out of share premium, retained
earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately following
the payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had distributable reserves
amounting to approximately HK$622.4 million (2021: HK$475.7
million).

BORROWINGS AND GUARANTEE

Details of borrowings from bank and other financial institutions of
the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

During FY2022, the Group had not made any loan or provided any
guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior
management, the Controlling Shareholders or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules).
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 15 July 2022. Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities
during the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this
annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 20 June 2022, the Company has conditionally adopted the Share
Option Scheme, which falls within the ambit of, and is subject to,
the regulations under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to provide selected participants with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company
and to encourage selected participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and the Shares for the benefit of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Share Option
Scheme will provide the Company with a flexible means of either
retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to selected participants.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Company (and to which the provisions
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed
10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the date the Shares
commence trading on the Stock Exchange, which is in aggregate of
up to 50,000,000 Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme
Mandate Limit.

The Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time
subject to prior Shareholders’ approval. However, the Scheme
Mandate Limit as refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of the aforesaid Shareholders’ approval. Options
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and other share
option schemes of the Company (and to which the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with its terms or
exercised), shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
limit as refreshed.
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue (the “Individual Limit”). Any
further grant of options to a participant which would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted
and to be granted to such participant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) in the 12 month period up to and
including the date of grant of such further options exceeding the
Individual Limit shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval in advance
with such participant and his close associates (or his associates if
such participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date, but in all other respects
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of
any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required
in accordance with the provisions of the rules of the Share Option
Scheme.

The amount payable for each share to be subscribed for under
an option in the event of the option being exercised shall be
determined by the Board but shall be not less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant; (i) the average closing prices
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date
of grant (provided that in the event that any option is proposed to
be granted within a period of less than five Business Days after the
trading of the Shares first commences on the Stock Exchange, the
Offer Price of the Shares for the Global Offering shall be deemed to
be the closing price for any Business Day falling within the period
before listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange); and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.
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Exercise of option

Subject to the terms and conditions upon which such option was
granted, an option may be exercised by the grantee at any time
during the option period, provided that:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

in the event that the grantee (being an employee or a director
of any member of the Group) ceases to be a participant for any
reason other than (a) his death or (b) on one or more of the
grounds of termination of employment or engagement that,
he has been guilty of serious misconduct, or appears either to
be unable to pay or to have no reasonable prospect of being
able to pay his debts or has become bankrupt or has made
any arrangement or composition with his creditors generally,
or has been convicted of any criminal offence involving his
integrity or honesty, or on any other ground on which an
employer would be entitled to terminate his employment
summarily (the “Conditions”), the option shall lapse on the
date of cessation of such employment or engagement and not
be exercisable unless the Board otherwise determines in which
event the option shall be exercisable to the extent and within
such period as the Board may determine. The date of cessation
of employment of a grantee (being an employee and who may
or may not be a director of any member of the Group) shall be
the last actual working day on which the grantee was physically
at work with the Company or the relevant subsidiary, whether
salary is paid in lieu of notice or not;

in the event that the grantee dies before exercising the option
in full and none of the events for termination of employment
or engagement under the Conditions with respect to such
grantee, the personal representative(s) of the grantee shall be
entitled within a period of 12 months (or such longer period as
the Board may determine) from the date of death to exercise
the option up to the entitlement of such grantee as at the date
of death;

if a general offer for shares by way of voluntary offer, takeover
or otherwise (other than by way of scheme of arrangement
pursuant to item (iv) below) is made to all the holders of
Shares (or all such holders other than the offeror, any person
controlled by the offeror and any person acting in association
or concert with the offeror) and such offer becomes or is
declared unconditional prior to the expiry date of the relevant
option, the Company shall forthwith give notice thereof to the
grantee and the grantee shall be entitled to exercise the option
to its full extent or, if the Company shall give the relevant
notification, to the extent notified by the Company at any time
within such period as shall be notified by the Company;
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(iv)

(vi)

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

if a general offer for Share by way of scheme of arrangement
is made to all the holders of Shares and has been approved
by the necessary number of holders of Shares at the requisite
meetings, the Company shall forthwith give notice thereof to
the grantee and the grantee may at any time thereafter (but
before such time as shall be notified by the Company) exercise
the option to its full extent or, if the Company shall give the
relevant notification, to the extent notified by the Company;

in the event a notice is given by the Company to the
Shareholders to convene a Shareholders’ meeting for the
purpose of considering and, if thought fit, approving a
resolution to voluntarily wind-up the Company, the Company
shall forthwith give notice thereof to the grantee and the
grantee may at any time thereafter (but before such time as
shall be notified by the Company) exercise the option to its full
extent or, if the Company shall give the relevant notification, to
the extent notified by the Company, and the Company shall as
soon as possible and in any event no later than three days prior
to the date of the proposed Shareholders’ meeting, allot, issue
and register in the name of the grantee such number of fully
paid Shares which fall to be issued on exercise of such option;
and

in the event of a compromise or arrangement, other than
a scheme of arrangement contemplated in item (iv) above,
between the Company and the members and/or creditors being
proposed in connection with a scheme for the reconstruction
or amalgamation of the Company, the Company shall give
notice thereof to all grantees on the same day as it first gives
notice of the meeting to the members and/or creditors to
consider such a compromise or arrangement and the grantee
may at any time thereafter but before such time as shall be
notified by the Company exercise the option to its full extent
or, if the Company shall give the relevant notification, to the
extent notified by the Company, and the Company shall as
soon as possible and in any event no later than three days prior
to the date of the proposed meeting, allot, issue and register
in the name of the grantee such number of fully paid Shares
which fall to be issued on exercise of such option.

(iv)

(vi)
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A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of
the grant of an option.

The total number of options available for grant, hence shares
available for issue, under the Share Option Scheme is 50,000,000
which is 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31
December 2022 and the date of this annual report.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at Shareholders’ meetings.

As at the date of this annual report, the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme is approximately 9.2 years.

No options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2022
and there were no outstanding share options under the Share
Option Scheme during the period from the Listing Date and up to
the date of this annual report. A summary of the terms of the Share
Option Scheme has been set out in the section headed “D. Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Company during FY2022 or subsisted at
the end of FY2022.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed under the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, at no time
during FY2022 was the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt
securities including debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director or any entity connected with
such a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Reporting Year or at any time during
FY2022.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments (including the discretionary bonuses) of the
Directors and senior management of the Group are decided by
the Board with reference to the recommendation given by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individual in the Group are set out in notes 8 and 31 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

For FY2022, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director
or any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None
of the Directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for
FY2022.

The Company has also adopted the Share Option Scheme as
incentive for Directors and eligible employees. Details of the said
scheme are set out under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this annual report and “D. Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the Prospectus. Except as disclosed above, no other
payments have been made or are payable, for FY2022, by the Group
to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management’s remuneration, on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy, and on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of office or appointment.
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Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the Remuneration
Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment, responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group. Further details are disclosed
in the paragraph headed "EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY" under section headed “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty by any of the Directors.

A directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors
against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought
against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During FY2022, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a
director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters as
disclosed in the section headed “DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS”
in this annual report, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Group was entered into or in existence as at the end of the
year or at any time during FY2022.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
FY2022.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at the date of this annual report, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be entered in the register kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were
otherwise required, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are set out below:

EERFETBRAERAQFRA
MESEERNRD - HERORER
HPNERRAR

RAFHRAY  BEFERARBERITHRABRA
NS EARROAE (E & BB F AR ERDIEXV
) mBt - ABERG RERETRAEREE S
KRG 5 BIF 352 1A AR R A TR B i
SARBIZETRIB G AR R LB R Fragiss &
IRBEIIINT

Number of  Approximate

Ordinary percentage of

Director/chief executive Nature of interest Shares held  shareholding

Fr¥s A

B FETHRAE BEME BEROEA ERESL
(Note 1)
(PBF3E1)

Mr. Chao (Note 2) Interest in controlled corporation 311,388,750 (L) 62.28%

B (ME2) RiEHEE S

Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. These 311,388,750 Shares are held by Tai Wah. Tai Wah is wholly-
owned by Mr. Chao. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chao is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Tai Wah.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had, or were
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF

THE COMPANY

As at the date of this annual report, so far as is known to the
Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, the following persons,

other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, had an
interest of 5% or more in the Shares or underlying Shares:
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FTERRREMALTRERTRSG
RAEBROHNERRXR

RAFHRAH - RARBFAA - AR FIREE
7 KB RHIE336(F BN E LML -
AT AL (BREEHRRFRETHRA BN
SRR P BB 5 %A EROHER ¢

Number of  Approximate
Ordinary percentage of

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held  Shareholding
P B

BRERHE, BB ERME ZERMEE FRESL
(Note 1) (Note 1)
(BF&ET) (FFEET)

Tai Wah Beneficial owner 311,388,750 (L) 62.28%

Tai Wah EmEB A

Ms. Wong Pui Fan (Note 2) Interest of a spouse 311,388,750 (L) 62.28%

=M (MFE2) IR £y

DHQ (Macau) (Note 3) Beneficial owner 44,865,000 (L) 8.97%

AEECRF) (H3E3) EmEAA

Zhuhai DHQ Group (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation 44,865,000 (L) 8.97%

HEREEEE(HE3) YRR A E R

Ung Choi Kun Beneficial owner 27,776,000 (L) 5.56%

Ritie EmEAA

Notes:

1.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company issued 500,000,000
Shares. The letter (L) denotes the person’s and/or entity’s long position
in the relevant Shares.

These 311,388,750 Shares are held by Tai Wah. Tai Wah is wholly-
owned by Mr. Chao. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chao is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Tai Wah. Ms. Wong Pui Fan is the
spouse of Mr. Chao and is therefore deemed to be interested in the
311,388,750 Shares held by Tai Wah in which Mr. Chao is deemed to
be interested by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

These 44,865,000 Shares are held by DHQ (Macau), which is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Zhuhai DHQ Group. By virtue of the SFO, Zhuhai
DHQ Group is therefore deemed to be interested in the 44,865,000
Shares held by DHQ (Macau).
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the
Company was not aware of any persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares that were recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest customer accounted
for 8.1% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group's five largest
customers accounted for 30.1% of the Group’s total revenue.

In the year under review, the Group's largest supplier accounted
for 17.2% of the Group's total purchase. The Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 47.6% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group's five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, details of significant transactions with its related
parties or transactions undertaken in the normal course of business
are set out in the note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
None of those transactions constitutes a disclosable connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

During FY2022, the Group has not entered into any connected
transactions.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

During FY2022, the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Hong
Kong are required to participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund
in Hong Kong. The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in Macau
and the PRC are members of the government-managed retirement
benefits scheme operated by the local government. The employees
of both Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement

benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Board, as at the date of
this annual report, the Company has maintained the public float of
not less than 25% of the issued Shares as required under the Rules
Governing the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other significant events after the end of the reporting
period and up to the date of this annual report that either request
adjustment to the financial statement or are material to the
understanding of the Group’s current position.

DONATIONS

During FY2022, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$0.2 million.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management
and independent auditor the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Company and the audited consolidated financial
statements for FY2022.

AUDITOR

There has been no change in the Company’s auditor since the
Listing Date. The consolidated financial statements for FY2022 have
been audited by PwC. A resolution will be proposed at the 2023
AGM to re-appoint PwC as the auditor of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For FY2022, the Company was in compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company in all
material aspects.

On behalf of the Board
Chao Ka Chon
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
i RVR R SCTE: S

_E
pwec

To the shareholders of BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of BoardWare Intelligence
Technology Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 126 to 242, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022;

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
[ ]
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BASIS FOR OPINION (continued)
Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue
recognition from provision of Professional IT services.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
183 % B A ¥R
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition from provision of Professional IT  Our procedures in relation to the judgments and estimates

services

Refer to notes 2.23(i) and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised total revenue of HK$580,833,000, of which
the revenue from provision of Professional IT services
amounted to HK$262,606,000.

Majority of the Group’s revenue from provision of
Professional IT services is recognised over the period of
the contract by reference to the proportion of contract
costs incurred to date to estimated total contract costs
for each contract. The management estimates the total
contract costs at the inception of each contract. As the
contract progresses, the management regularly reviews
and revises the estimates of total contract costs to reflect
any changes based on the latest information available.
The increase or decrease in estimated total contract
costs results in the adjustments to the progress towards
completion and the corresponding amount of revenue
recognised in the period.

used in the revenue recognition over Professional IT
services included, but not limited to:

e  Understanding and evaluating the internal control,
and validating key controls in place on revenue
recognition over Professional IT services and assessing
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and other inherent risk factors;

e Checking to contract costs incurred during the year
by tracing to supporting documents on a sample
basis, and performing cut-off tests on contract costs;

e Comparing, on a sample basis, the actual
total contract costs of completed projects with
management’s latest estimates to assess the
reliability of the management estimates;

2022 FEHE o BEESHEERLT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Key Audit Matter

We have identified the revenue recognition from provision
of Professional IT services as a key audit matter, because
of the significance of the revenue generated from
Professional IT services, as well as significant management
judgements and estimates which are applied to estimate
the total budgeted contract costs and costs to complete
the remaining performance obligations of the contracts,
which in turn impact the progress towards completion of
revenue recognition.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
183 % B A ¥R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

e In respect of on-going/incomplete projects as of
year-end, we performed the following procedures
on a sample basis:

» Reviewing the terms and conditions of the
Professional IT service contracts on which the
contract sum and the estimated total contract
costs were based, and evaluating whether the
basis of recognising revenue over time and the
identification of performance obligations were
appropriate;

» Challenging the reasonableness of the
estimated costs to complete the remaining
performance obligations and management'’s
cost re-estimation by discussing with the site
project management the extent of required
efforts incurred to date and to completion
of the contract and checking to relevant
supporting documents;

»  Testing the mathematical accuracy of revenue
recognised with reference to the progress
towards completion during the year based on
total contract revenue, estimated total contract
costs, and actual contract costs incurred; and

»  Checking to settlement and historical payment
records from the customers of the projects.

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that
the judgments and estimates used in the recognition of
revenue over Professional IT services to be supported by
the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BT R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
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report. However, future events or conditions may cause the REHRFERATLEHR BERETREE
Group to cease to continue as a going concern. g o
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. Ng Wai Ying.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FEIRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022

B Z2022F12H31HIFFE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx AT
Revenue g 5 580,833 534,302
Cost of sales $HE AR 7 (480,481) (422,192)
Gross profit EF 100,352 112,110
Selling and distribution expenses THE R iHk 7 (24,567) (18,687)
General and administrative expenses —mMITHRAY 7 (67,230) (61,651)
Other income and other net gains E A A R B At i 55 58 6 4,807 1,234
Research and development expenses g BRI B R S 7 (6,688) -
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment TRMEENMNBHEER
losses on financial assets and contract  JEi{EETIER[E (B4E)
assets 7 991 (1,278)
Operating profit ommwR 1665 30728
Finance income RN 9 1,264 765
Finance costs BhE AR 9 (2,253) (2,497)
Finance costs — net BhE R A FEE 9 (989) (1,726)
Profit before income tax B Fr 8 B A& F 6,676 30,002
Income tax expense FriSHif X 10 (3,428) (5,999)
Profit for the year FREF 3,248 24,003
Profit for the year is attributable to: AT EIEEEFRNER
Owners of the Company RATHB A 3,252 24,003
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR AR R A 2 (4) -
3,248 24,003
Earnings per share attributable to A TRREELEREFR
shareholders of the Company (ARl A28 )
(expressed in HK cents per share)
Basic earnings per share FRREARAR 11 0.78 6.97
Diluted earnings per share HiEEa R 11 0.78 6.88

o

The notes on pages 133 to 242 form an integral part of these % 133ZE 242 B MW T B4R A MIETRE 2 4K B
b

consolidated financial stateménts.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEEEIAR

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HZ2022F12H31HIFFE
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Profit for the year FRER 3,248 24,003
Other comprehensive (loss)/income H#t2E(EE) KA
Item that may be reclassified Rt e B 7 By EE
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences b =58 (2,442) 188

Total comprehensive income for the ZAATRREEEAZEBALLE
year attributable to shareholders MR IE
of the Company, net of tax 806 24,191

o

The notes on pages 133 to 242 form an integral part of these 5§ 133E 242 B MW T B4R A METRE Z K EE
consolidated financial statements. 7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fRE B IR R

As at 31 December 2022

B 220221231 HILFZE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
Assets EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BE LR 12 14,861 10,858
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13 11,398 9,116
Intangible assets | EE 14 1,582 2,422
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 15 1,379 839
Finance lease receivables RbETH & RIS FIA 24 8,736 12,652
Contract assets BHEE 5 8,669 6,318
Deposits me 19 11,503 3,899
Prepayments and contract costs TR RIA R A KIPK A 19 7,118 10,904
Total non-current assets I RBEERE 65,246 57,008
Current assets REEE
Inventories TE 17 56,569 29,994
Deposits and other receivables e KA M RIS 19 10,815 6,999
Prepayments and contract costs TERTFIE KA KK A 19 49,024 42,564
Finance lease receivables R E & EIGOR 24 5,301 14,326
Contract assets BHEE 5 79,818 78,656
Trade receivables =y e e 18 147,447 188,803
Income tax recoverable AT E TSR - 357
Amount due from non-controlling FEU SRR AR R A 25 SR IR
interests 4 -
Restricted cash X PR IR & 20 53,317 2,925
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEFEY 20 105,519 14,485
Totalcurrentassets = #"BEE®E 507,814 379,109
Total assets EEHLE 573,060 436,117

The notes on pages 133 to 242 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A M IARN T
As at 31 December 2022
BLR2022F 1231 HIFFE
2022 AOYA
20224 20214
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET BT
Equity s
Equity attributable to owners of the AT HEE AE(LGEZE
Company
Share capital [i&N 21 5,000 —*
Share premium Egpapintl=] 21 168,033 48,101
Reserves 1 22 157,990 120,782
331,023 168,883
Non-controlling interests FEERR IR R = - -
Total equity EREE 331,023 168,883
Liabilities =V
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings EEN 23 - 5,933
Lease liabilities HERE 24 5,511 3,983
Financial liability for redeemable rights A fEEIfEAI & Bl & & 25 = 37,900
Contract liabilities Y o= 5 3,503 5,578
Total non-current liabilities *rpEERE 9,014 ! 53,394
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAERFRIE 26 135,553 129,634
Contract liabilities A4EE 5 84,735 45,324
Lease liabilities MHEBE 24 6,647 6,093
Income tax payable FETRTS R 6,088 7,267
Borrowings EEN 23 - 25,522
Total current liabilities REREAR 233,023 213,840
Totalliabilites ________8f&#®&® 242,037 267234
Total equity and liabilities EEREERE 573,060 436,117

* Less than HK$1,000

The consolidated financial statements on pages 126 to 242 were
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and

were signed on its behalf

Chao Ka Chon
BAxR%E

Director

EF

The notes on pages 133 to 242 form an integral part of these

consolidated iinancial statements.

F126E 22 BN AV IEIRKRE R 202343 A
0EKREESHETE > WA THEEARE

=

Chiu Koon Chi
HEZ
Director

EF

o

2022 FERE o

F133E242 BN E RS M TS HE 2 KA
)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

pey e B

For the year ended 31 December 2022

B E20226 12731 AL FE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
AAREE ARGES Non-
Share Share controlling Total
capital  premium  Reserves Total interest equity
BRE  ROEE 1] @t i EREH
Notes  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Bzt AT AT AT AT AT AT
(Note 21) (Note 21) (Note 22)
(fis21)  (Bsk21)  (esE22)
At 1 January 2022 R2022%1A18 =¥ 48,101 120,782 168,883 - 168,883
Profit/(loss) for the year FRER/(BE) - - 3,252 3,252 (4) 3,248
Other comprehensive loss FREM2EEE
for the year
- Currency translation -EXEE
differences - - (2,442) (2,442) = (2,442)
Total comprehensive ER2EUA (B
income/(loss) for the B)EH
year - - 810 810 (4) 806
Transactions with owners SEFANR S
Shares issued pursuant o ARERE AL B1TE
the Capitalisation lssue ~ 1T#0fRfD 3,750 (3.750) - - - -
Shares issued under the  RIBEZIEETET
Global Offering gD \ 1,250 133,750 135,000 135,000
Share issuance costs BRIDBTHA - (12,661) (12,661) (12,661)
Capital injection from non-  FEERRARET &
controlling interests . = = = - 4 4
Derecognition of redemption 48 |- FEZ B & f&
liability - 2,593 36,398 38,991 - 38,991
At 31 December 2022 #2022%12A31R 5,000 168,033 157,990 331,023 —* 331,023
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1818 - - 132,989 132,989 - 132,989
Profit for the year FRER - - 24,003 24,003 - 24,003
Other comprehensive ~ FREMBZHEHEA
income for the year
- Currency translation -ERER
differences - - 188 188 - 188
Total comprehensive FREABWANEE
income for the year - - 24,191 24,191 - 24,191
Transactions with owners EEHANR 5
Contributions from BRIERETIRE
shareholders 21(c) —* 48,101 - 48,101 - 48,101
Recognition of redemption #EREE & E
liability 25 —* - (36,398) (36,398) - (36,398)
At 31 December 2021 W2021F12A31H —* 48,101 120,782 168,883 - 168,883

* Less than HK$1,000

The notes on pages 133 to 242 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statemeénts.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER
BB PSR

Cash flows from operating activities

REZHRERSRE

2022
20225

HK$'000
FTERT

2021
20214F
HK$'000
FBTT

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 4 & Fr15,/ (FrfA)E & 28(a) 67,278 (36,603)
Income tax paid EATATER (4,790) (13,863)
Interest received BYFIE 872 736
Net cash generated from/(used in) wEEBE(FTA)

operating activities e FEE 63,360 (49,730)
Cash flows from investing activities REFZEFEBRERE
Purchases of property, plant and BEWME  WEREE

equipment (6,377) (4,189)
Purchases of intangible assets BEELEE (189) (935)
Interest received B U E - 29
Net cash used in investing activities REESFAREFE (6,566) (5,095)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEEFEHRLSRE
Issuance of ordinary shares BITE B 21 135,000 48,101
Drawdown of borrowings REUER 28(c) 30,900 24,849
Repayment of borrowings BEER 28(c) (62,355) (8,865)
Interest paid EAFLE 28(c) (664) (352)
Payment for listing expenses TR EHRE (9,918) (2,366)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERESHARE IS 28(c) (7,643) (7,642)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EESHF B IS 28(c) (461) (568)
Advances from shareholders LT 28(0) - 701
Repayment of amounts due to EEEMIRRARIE

shareholders 28(c) - (17,447)
Increase in restricted cash S2PR HIZR £ 380 20 (50,000) (2,925)
Release of restricted cash BERR PR HIIR & - 5,885
Net cash generated from financing BEREISIRE T

activities 34,859 39,371

The notes on pages 133 to 242 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
°
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERLRE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

2022 2021
20224 20214

HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TAET

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERBESZEEYEI,

cash equivalents OR2) #88 91,653 (15,454)
Effect on exchange difference X ZREn T E (619) 40
Cash and cash equivalents at FOReRESEEY

beginning of the year 14,485 29,899
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRESRESEEY

of the year 20 105,519 14,485
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS FTEFRERS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the derecognition of the
financial liability for redeemable rights amounting to HK$38,991,000
was a non-cash transaction being credited to the equity. Please refer
to notes 22 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements for
more details.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the recognition of the
financial liability for redeemable rights amounting to HK$36,398,000
was a non-cash transaction and was debited against the equity as
other reserves. Please refer to notes 22 and 25 to the consolidated
financial statements for more details.

The notes on pages 133 to 242 form an integral part of these
consolidated financial stateménts.

HZE2022F12A3181EFE - &R IEERAED
RS R A 1E38,991,0008 T AIEERH I
Rt AR - EEFIERL2HRA TS RERME
22825 °

REZ2021F12A318 LG E - R EBELE
K4 Rb B 536,398,000/ T AR E X 5 MIEA
HMRFENESNR - EZF5H2M880%
SRR FE22125 °

1335242 F PO MI B 5 & B S HRaR 2 46K B

e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IR RE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

B 20221231 A1 FE

1 GENERAL INFORMATION,
REORGANISATION AND PRE-IPO
INVESTMENTS
1.1 General information

1.2

BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 18 February 2021 and
registered as a non-Hong Kong company under Part
16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) on 7 June 2021. The address of the
Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The Company’s shares had been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 15 July 2022.

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in provision of IT
integrated solutions services, support services from leasing
contracts and security monitoring services, IT equipment
leasing, IT maintenance and consultancy services, and
distribution and resale of packaged hardware and
software (collectively, the “Listing Business”) in Macau,
Hong Kong and the PRC.

The ultimate holding company of the Company is Tai Wah
(BVI) Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands and is wholly owned by Mr. Chao or
a Controlling shareholder.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, unless otherwise stated.

Reorganisation of the Group

Prior to the incorporation of the Company and the
completion of the Reorganisation as described below, the
Listing Business was principally operated by BoardWare
Macau and Synergy CCL (collectively, the “Operating
Companies”), which were controlled by the Controlling
shareholder throughout the period from 1 January 2019
to 31 December 2021.

1 —RER BEERBRALHRE
ARE

1.1

1.2

2022 FERE o

—RER
BHREERMEBERARN2021F2 A
1SETEHESRSTMN L AER R
ERARKEN2021F6 A7HRIEE
AR E622F N AIMEHIE 16 3 i
MARIFEBEARQT o AT HEMIF
% JZ Hb HE /B Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands o A2 &%
MER202247 B15BEHB AT ER
Lo

ARRBIRREZERABDEEMB AR
TENRMA - FERPEEHRTES
R R - MEA KSR RS
B 2B RA - ITRREHE - T
K ARG AR D H R BEERBEM
Nt (msl EmE# ) -

AR B EREIE R A] R Tai Wah (BVI)
Holdings Limited * — &5 % 8 & % &
SHMKINERAR - BHELE
Y BIERRREEHEE -

BREBRAN
NCE I

AEBEEA

AT FEMAL AT AR T X pritt & 48
TERKAT c ETEB T ERBARPIR
BHER(AEEEATKE - &
EBAEIR2019F1 A1HE2021F12A
31 H B AR AR SR A ) o

ZERAMB®RERTD

BEESHRERLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eI IS ERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

1 GENERAL INFORMATION,

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNO.LOGY LIMITED e

REORGANISATION AND PRE-IPO
INVESTMENTS (continued)
1.2 Reorganisation of the Group (continued)

Prior to the Listing, the Group underwent the
Reorganisation as detailed below:

()

(i)

Incorporation of the Company

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
on 18 February 2021.

Upon incorporation, one subscriber ordinary share of
a par value of HK$0.01 was issued as fully paid to an
initial subscriber which transferred the one subscriber
ordinary share to Tai Wah at par.

Incorporation of BoardWare (BVI)
Holdings Limited

BoardWare (BVI) Holdings Limited was incorporated
in the BVI with limited liability on 19 February 2021.

On its incorporation, one ordinary share in
BoardWare (BVI) Holdings Limited was allotted and
issued as fully-paid to the Company at par value.
Upon completion of such allotment and issuance,
BoardWare (BVI) Holdings Limited became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

1 —RER - - EAREARARRE
AR E ()

1.2 XEEEHAm@
REMAI - REBETTEAR  F15
N

()

(i)

AR EJEME T
RAFTIA2021%2 B18HERM
SHEIMATNEREERA
E—J o

IR - W REE AT
H{E0.01E T —IRREALE
R (BBEER)  VIPREA
EIREES —RREA LT BN
B ¥ Tai Wah °

it 3 B 7 BoardWare (BVI)
Holdings Limited

BoardWare (BVI) Holdings Limited
TiA20214E2 A19RE BB R L
BEFMATMBERATR -

MR AARIERE R
#% 1T BoardWare (BVI) Holdings
Limited ) — & T @ (B LA
BHHR) BREERBEREITE
B 1% » BoardWare (BVI) Holdings
Limitedfk &R R R 2 EH B A
g e

(iii) Incorporation of BW (BVI) Holdings (iii) Z/H5ZBW (BVI) Holdings
Limited Limited
BW (BVI) Holdings Limited was incorporated in the BW (BVI) Holdings Limited /572021
BVI with limited liability on 19 February 2021. F2R19BE B E A S MK

SHBRAR e
On its incorporation, one ordinary share in BW (BVI) AL - ARA BB B R B
Holdings Limited was allotted and issued as fully- 77BW (BVI) Holdings Limited ) —
paid to the Company at par value. Upon completion REBR(CEEEERESR) -
of such allotment and issuance, BW (BVI) Holdings B NEITTKE  BW
Limited became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the (BVI) Holdings Limitedf &4~ A &)
Company. HEENBAF -
[ ]
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GENERAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

INFORMATION,

REORGANISATION AND PRE-IPO
INVESTMENTS (continued)
1.2 Reorganisation of the Group (continued)

(iv) Incorporation of Synergy (BVI) Holdings

w)

Limited
Synergy (BVI) Holdings Limited was incorporated in
the BVI with limited liability on 19 February 2021.

On its incorporation, one ordinary share in Synergy
(BVI) Holdings Limited was allotted and issued
as fully-paid to the Company at par value. Upon
completion of such allotment and issuance, Synergy
(BVI) Holdings Limited became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Transfer of BoardWare Macau to
BoardWare (BVI) Holdings Limited and
BW (BVI) Holdings Limited

On 4 March 2021, Mr. Chao and Ms. Chiu (on
benefit of Mr. Chao through a power of attorney)
transferred their respective shareholding in
BoardWare Macau, being 20,000 shares and 5,000
shares (held by Ms. Chiu, on behalf of Mr. Chao)
respectively, which in aggregate represent the
entire issued share capital of BoardWare Macau,
to BoardWare (BVI) Holdings Limited in respect of
20,000 shares and to BW (BVI) Holdings Limited in
respect of the remaining 5,000 shares, at a total
consideration of MOP25,000, being the nominal
value of the entire issued share capital of BoardWare
Macau.

The consideration for the transfers is agreed to be
settled by the Company by allotting and issuing,
credited as fully-paid, 8,610 shares to Tai Wah, under
the instructions of Mr. Chao. As a result, BoardWare
Macau became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company.

1 —RER - -EAREARARRE
AR E )

1.2 REEEH@
(iv) & f & iz Synergy (BVI)

(v)

2022 FERE o

Holdings Limited

Synergy (BVI) Holdings Limited J3
2021562 A19R £ RB R B
SFMKIHBERAF]

A SR - AR AR B R B
77 Synergy (BVI) Holdings Limited
B — R E B AR (B R EER B
) o BB E RBEITRMIE
Synergy (BVI) Holdings Limited %
RARTFNZENBRA -

& BoardWare (BVI)
Holdings Limited K BW
(BVI) Holdings Limited#Z:%&
1A P

R202143 848 © BARERBEL
TOBBEAERRALENF
%5 ) [ BoardWare (BVI) Holdings
Limited X BW (BVI) Holdings
Limited B :E 1 5 & B R IT 4R
F Y e (BN 9 51 /520,000 A% A%
1% 1% 5,000 % B 15 (A #E 22 =R
KARERHB)  AHEMEENTE
HRPIM 2B HITRA) D5
20,000 % J& 7 K2 #2 7~ 5,000 A% fi%
153 - #R1{E 525,0008F9 T (1§
#RPI 2 EE BITARAMEE) ©

EERECEREAARRIER
S RIFE R A Tai WahBiD 3% K 3%
1T ANBRPIESS B 798,610 i% A% (7
HEE o AL BRI AAR
AMHEEEENBAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eI ERRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
B Z2022F12H31HIFFE
1 GENERAL INFORMATION, 1 —R&EH - EARBXLHERE
REORGANISATION AND PRE-IPO AR E ()
INVESTMENTS (continued)
1.2 Reorganisation of the Group (continued) 1.2 AEEEH@®)
(vi) Transfer of Synergy CCL to Synergy (BVI) (vi) @ Synergy (BVI) Holdings
Holdings Limited Limited BZ 5 BI5
On 4 March 2021, Mr. Chao transferred his entire R2021F3H48 > ALEE R
shareholding in Synergy CCL, being 1,000,000 Synergy (BVI) Holdings Limited &
shares, which represent the entire issued share of BEHNEEREA 2 50 R (BT
Synergy CCL, to Synergy (BVI) Holdings Limited 1,000,000z fx 1 - HEERE %
for the consideration of HK$20,029,000, which is BREME2HEETRGD)  RE
determined based on the unaudited net asset value 20,029,000/ 7T + JhER 20214
of Synergy CCL as at 31 December 2020. 12A31 AE BRI RECETE
EFENE -
This is agreed to be settled by the Company allotting EERECEREAERRAAILE
and issuing 1,389 shares, credited as fully-paid, to B E R 4ERIAI Tal WahBi 3% & %
Tai Wah, under the instructions of Mr. Chao. As TARRSIER R /91,389 I i 9
a result, Synergy CCL became an indirect wholly- ©EE Bt BEHRERARA
owned subsidiary of the Company. AMEEE2ENBAT -
1.3 Pre-IPO investments — transfer and issuance 13 BXR AHBENRE-RAE
of shares EREBIT
(i) DHQ (Macau) (i) XEZE(HEF)
On 23 March 2021, Tai Wah transferred 499 MR20214F3 238 @ REFEGA
shares and the Company issued 834 shares with EmECB’P) ¢ (i) Tai Wah : &
redeemable rights (see note 25 to the consolidated (i) A2 E 2021 F3 A23HET
financial statements for details), all fully-paid, to DHQ VR RIEE WE - Tai Wah
(Macau) for consideration of HK$21,018,000 and 5 Bl LA X {8 21,018,000 7% 7T K&
HK$35,128,000 respectively, which are determined 35,128,000/ 7oA AfE = (RFT)
with reference to the valuation of the Company as at BEEEAMR R AR R MK
31 December 2020, pursuant to a subscription and 2 (JRPY) B 17834R% AT & [ A% 1D
purchase agreement dated 23 March 2021 entered (HEB2HEEMBEmEWT
into between (i) DHQ (Macau); (ii) Tai Wah; and (i) 25) FTBRHOEHR @ 1h2E
the Company. EHZE20205F 12 A31 B AR EIHET
H{EEETE °
(ii) Kallo (i) Z=Bt
On 23 March 2021, Tai Wah transferred 249 shares R2021F3A238 @ RIFEG)E
and the Company issued 308 shares, all fully-paid, # (i) Tai Wah 5 K (i) &N 2 &)
to Kallo for consideration of HK$10,488,000 and R202149F3 42385 U RER
HK$12,973,000 respectively, which are determined BEW# o Tai Wah o BIARE
with reference to the valuation of the Company as at 10,488,000 7T } 12,973,000%
31 December 2020, pursuant to a subscription and TCIA) 35 BREE R 249 R IR 15 e A A
purchase agreement dated 23 March 2021 entered AIA S B EE 17308/ IR 1D FT A
into between (i) Kallo; (i) Tai Wah; and (iii) the R BEHE - TI2REEE20205
Company. 12 A3V BARR B HEEEE
[ ]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the IFRS and interpretations issued by
the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRS IC”) applicable
to companies reporting under IFRS. The financial
statements comply with IFRS as issued by the IASB and
the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements
are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(i) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group
During the year, the Group has adopted the
following amendments to existing standards which
are relevant to the Group’s operations and are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on 1
January 2022:

Annual Improvement
Projects

Annual Improvements
2018-2020 Cycle

2 EXRETHERHE

A EHEREGEMBHRRERANE
SETBENBE - REIMEAS - ZF
BREERERNAE2IFE -

2.1 RBE%E
A B TSR D AR B B IS 3R
ARBRGERE EARESES
(B RREERBESS )
Wt E R B M RS &R E A
A2MURBEL - ZEMBRES
ARG LR ES FA N EEH
BRE LA RESDTEAIBERT o

IREMBRRCIRELRAERE

R B A TR B MR R AR B 5 4R
EETERE THMG T - 5
1 PR AR O TR AR 7
T HIB - 5 RS R
AR VE KOS - R ELMRER R A 2
MiERENSEEENRERENE
ABEREI A -

(i) FEEFERBBIF T RAZIE
ZTEAR)
RAFE - REBBEHEM TR
AEBLERFBAMN20229F1 A1
A s 2 &5 HfE 8wl A A R
HEAEET -

Proceeds before Intended
Use

IAS 16 (Amendments)

IAS 37 (Amendments)  Onerous Contracts — Cost

of Fulfilling a Contract

Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

IFRS 3 (Amendments)

FEMEIER 2018F %
20204 Hf
2 FEE

BB {EREE ARA
F165% Z T8 R0E
CCHEN)

B Rt R EEUEE—
375 BiTEeHz
CHEN) AR

RO HRE  BESIERZ
AERI 355 El);!
CCHEN)

The adoption of these amendments to existing
standards does not have a material impact to the
Group's results of operations or financial position.

RNRAERIZFETE A E
REZESIM MR L BERE
@,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii) New standard and amendments to
existing standards that are not yet
effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group
The following new standard and amendments to

existing standards have been issued but are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2022 and

2 EXEFHEBEm

2.1 REEE @)
(i) 377K 4 %% A It 1E K F 12

BIFRA G FT AT BRI R BB £
RIzZ&aT

AT AEBMEERREZR2022
F12A3MBIEFEER AW EE
AREBIRAIB A AT 2R 238

have not been early adopted by the Group: BRAZIERT
IAS 1 (Amendments)® Classification of Liabilities as -l BaEIEARY
Current or Non-current EALACHE U EE i)
IAS 1 (Amendments)® Non-current Liabilities with ﬁ???ri'@ﬁ'l BEREN
Covenants SF |(BFTA)0 FEREIARE
IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies RS ERE 1% SHBRNER
Statement 2 (Amendments)? &ﬁ?ﬁﬁ BamEs
BIEBLEER
(CHESU
IAS 8 (Amendments)? Definition of Accounting BIRR & ER SHEENTER
Estimates ERTACCHESU
IAS 12 (Amendments)? Deferred Tax related to Assets and B R REE—RHEH
Liabilities arising from a Single F12R(BITA)  AERERZ
Transaction BRI
IFRS 4 (Amendments)” Expiry Date of the Deferral Gl RiexsER A
Approach ERIE 45
(CHESU
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets BB B iR REEHEBER

(Amendments)'i! between an Investor and its EBIE 105 I At E
Associate or Joint Venture K@t ERIE28 ZEREE
SE(ERIA)D HESITE
IFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and BERMBREEL  E4ARMNEE
Leaseback 16 EFTR)  BE
IFRS 179 Insurance Contracts BB HmEEL RREH
E1750

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

(i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

@ The original effective date of 1 January 2016 has
been postponed until future announcement by the
IASB.

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the impact of these new standard
and amendments to existing standards upon initial
application.

O R2023F1 B1HS 2 BB
FREHRM AR

W FA20245F1 A1 B Z B RIAH
FREHMER

i FEER20165E1 A1 AN E
HELIEE - BERBgTE
AR EERE— DM o

AKE TG B RERLEN
FIRERIRIRE R ZETHNE
£,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Business combination

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired, except for
business combination under common control. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

—  fair values of the assets transferred,

— liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business,

—  equity interests issued by the Group,

—  fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

—  fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

2 EREHHEHMEm@
2.2 #XKE46t

MERRAAKERERITHIENME
ER(BREBIER) - EAKEK
S EE R MAEDSH A 2 [ &R
MERF A A Z L HROERN - XA
EENEBREHBERIINTIERTE
ZEE R - AR RIAEEZGZE
g - MEBARNEHREEEAREE
EREEEGE AR LR IEHIEL
LFEBTBEFREARK -

AEEREABBEBEIBERBAHIA
B EwmPTWEE SR T AREM
BE MIXARZSHNEBSHR
Sh o WEE— RN B AR AEENRE
BHETIRIA -

- HEREENATE-

- FRBRBHOLAEA AELR
A

- AREEETHRE

- HARELHEENTMEESL
BEHQFE &

— (AT R B A TR
ATE -

BRARBISMERIN - REFBA HFHIR
BOAREERARAENRRBERLK
REE - VTR UE R B A FER
B - AREREERWBEER AT
(EBEEIE Fy LT ¢ D
RIEEFEMNL AN RKEERE
AL IR AR AR -
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BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNO.LOGY LIMITED e

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

The excess of the:
—  consideration transferred,

— amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

— acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of consideration is deferred,
the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their
present values as at the date of exchange. The discount
rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being
the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained
from an independent financier under comparable terms
and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified
as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group. Non-controlling
interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of financial position respectively.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHEFEHEm@m)
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Business combination (continued)

2.2 ¥BE/tm

ATREIA -
— FEEAE

— REWBERNEMIHE RS
k- I3

— SRR UL B AR RO A Y
YeiE B IR R FE -

BHAEB A B EEFENATFE
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AR EXEBAIZEETRNE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision makers. The chief operating decision
makers, who are responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, have
been identified as the directors of the Group who make
strategic decisions.

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is the Company’s functional currency
and the Group's presentation currency.

(i) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are generally
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(iii) Group companies
The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional

currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position,

— income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign
entities, and of borrowings and other financial
instruments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Cost includes all attributable costs of
bringing the asset to working condition for its intended
use. This includes direct costs of construction as well
as interest expense capitalised during the period of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
will cease and the construction in progress is transferred
to appropriate categories within property, plant and
equipment when the construction activities necessary to
prepare the assets for their intended use are completed.
No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their costs less residual values over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvement 2-3 years or the remaining
period of the lease, whichever

is shorter
Computer equipment 4-5 years
Furniture and fixture 4-5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Buildings 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see note
2.8 to the consolidated financial statements for details).
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amounts of the relevant
assets and are included within “other income and other
net gains” in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Intangible assets

(@)

Computer software

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment. Acquired computer
software licences are capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software and are amortised over their estimated lives
of one to four years using straight-line method.

(ii) Research and development expenditures

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNO.LOGY LIMITED e

Costs associated with research and development are
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development
costs that are directly attributable to the design and
testing of identifiable and unique software products
controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible
assets when the following criteria are met:

it is technically feasible to complete the
software so that it will be available for use,

—  management intends to complete the software
and use or sell it,

—  thereis an ability to use or sell the software,

— it can be demonstrated how the software will
generate probable future economic benefits,

— adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the software are available, and

—  the expenditure attributable to the software
during its development can be reliably
measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as
incurred.

Development costs previously recognised as
an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period. Capitalised development costs
are amortised from the point at which the assets are
ready for use on a straight-line basis over their useful
lives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets (“cash-generating
units”). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting period.

2.9 Financial assets

(i) Classification
The Group classifies all of its financial assets as debt
instruments measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. The Group
reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

B Z2022F12H31HIFFE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)
(iii) Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset.

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss
arising from derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss presented in other income and other
net gains/losses together with foreign exchange
gains/losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets

The Group has the following types of assets subject
to the expected credit loss model:

—  trade receivables,

—  deposits and other receivables,
—  finance lease receivables,

- contract assets,

—  restricted cash, and

—  cash and cash equivalents.

For trade receivables, contract assets and finance
lease receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach where loss allowances are measured
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit
losses, adjusted for forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.

For all other financial assets, the expected credit loss
is determined using the general approach where
12-month expected credit losses will be recognised
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, which requires the
lifetime expected credit losses to be recognised,
followed by forward-looking adjustments.

Impairment losses are presented as impairment
losses on financial assets and contract assets within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the
same line item. The Group’s accounting policies on
impairment of financial assets and contract assets are
set out in note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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2.9 Financial assets (continued)
(iii)) Measurement (continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHEFEHEm@m)

POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments 210 A

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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2.11Inventories 21 EFE

Inventories are valued at cost using the specific
identification method or the weighted average cost
method, less a provision for impairment of inventories. The
Group applies the same cost formula for all inventories
having a similar nature and use, unless inventories are of
different nature or use, where different cost formulas may
be justified. Costs of purchased inventory are determined
after deducting rebates and discounts.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion, the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.
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2.12Trade and other receivables LN EZ R EMEWFIE

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. Other receivables are measured
at fair value at initial recognition. The Group holds the
trade and other receivables with the objective of collecting
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The Group’s accounting policies on impairment
of trade and other receivables are set out in note 3.1(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with financial institutions, and other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for expected credit losses in accordance
with the policy set out in note 3.1(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

2.15Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods
and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables
are presented as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities. They are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHEFEHEm@m)
POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Financial liability for redeemable rights

216 T EEENERMAE

150
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Redeemable rights issued by the Company to an investor
contain an obligation to purchase its own shares upon
occurrence of certain future events, such redeemable
rights will be automatically cancelled when the closing of
qualified initial public offering.

The potential cash payments related to the redeemable
right are accounted for as financial liabilities. The liabilities
are initially recognised at the present value of the
redemption amount and are reclassified from equity. The
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost.

If the redeemable rights expire without delivery, the
carrying amount of the financial liability is reclassified to
equity. The financial liabilities are classified as non-current
liabilities if the Company does not need to redeem for at
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

2.17 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
drawdown occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

(i) Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

(i) Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. The deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised, or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
(ii) Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

2.19 Employee benefits
(i) Social security fund

In accordance with the rules and regulations
in Macau, employees in Macau are required to
participate in a central social security scheme
operated by the Macau Special Administrative
Region Government. Under this scheme, the Group is
required to contribute a fixed amount on a monthly
basis to the central social security scheme and the
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they are
due in accordance with the rules of the scheme. The
Group'’s obligations are limited to the contributions
payable.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various
defined contribution plans organised by the relevant
governmental authorities. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior years. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (continued)
(ii) Pension obligations (continued)

For employees in Hong Kong, the Group participates
in Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance in December 2000,
which is a defined contribution scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the
Group contributes monthly the lower of HK$1,500
or 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the PRC, the PRC-based employees of the Group
participate in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans administrated and operated by the
relevant municipal and provincial governments
in the PRC under which the Group and the PRC-
based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries. The municipal
and provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and
future retired PRC-based employees’ payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligations
for the payments of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of
these plans are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds managed
by the municipal and provincial governments. The
Group’s contributions to the aforesaid defined
contribution retirement schemes are expensed as
incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (continued)
(iii) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled.

The liabilities are presented within other payables in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

(iv) Bonus plan and commission scheme

v)

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses and commissions based on the
best estimation of the management. The Group
recognises a provision where contractually obliged
or where a constructive obligation has been created
that could be measured reliably.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlement to annual leave is recognised
when they have accrued to employees. A provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of each reporting date. Employee entitlements
to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

(vi) Housing funds, medical insurances and

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNO.LOGY LIMITED e

other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to
participate in local government supervised housing
funds, medical insurances and other social insurance
plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis
to these funds based on certain percentages of
the salaries of the employees, subject to certain
ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect of these
funds is limited to the contributions payable in each
year. Contributions to the housing funds, medical
insurances and other social insurances are expensed
as incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.20 Contract costs

Contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained. Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs relate
to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered.

The costs incurred to fulfil a contract are also recognised as
contract costs only if those costs meet all of the following
criteria:

— the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify (for example, costs relating to services to be
provided under renewal of an existing contract or
costs of designing an asset to be transferred under a
specific contract that has not yet been approved),

—  the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future, and

—  the costs are expected to be recovered.

Contract costs are subsequently amortised on a systematic
basis or when the transfer of the control of goods and
services to the customers happens, consistent with the
pattern of the associated revenue recognition to which
the assets relate.

Contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses
are recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of
the contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining
amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive
in exchange for the goods or services to which the asset
relates, less (ii) any costs that relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not yet been recognised
as expenses.
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A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected
credit losses in accordance with the policy set out in
note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial statements
and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

As a practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15,
an entity need not adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of a significant financing
component if the entity expects, at contract inception,
that the period between when the entity transfers a
promised goods or service to a customer and when the
customer pays for that goods or service will be one year
or less.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EAEHHBFEHEwm@m)
POLICIES (continued)
2.21 Contract assets and liabilities
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22Provisions, contingent liabilities and
onerous contracts

(i) Provisions

(ii)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and
the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is
not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements unless
the possibility of outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits is remote. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.22Provisions, contingent liabilities and

onerous contracts (continued)

(iii) Onerous contracts
An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received from
the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts are
measured at the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract and the
net cost of continuing with the contract.

2.23Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue
is shown net of rebates, returns and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group. The Group recognises
revenue when it transfers control of the goods or services
to a customer.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or services
may transfer over time or at point in time. Control of the
goods or services is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

—  provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer,

—  creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs, or

—  does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.23Revenue recognition (continued)

If service transfers over time, revenue is recognised over
the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains the service. The progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on one of the following
methods that best depict the Group’s performance in
satisfying the performance obligation:

— direct measurements of the value transferred by the
Group to the customer, or

—  the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation.

In determining whether revenue of the Group should be
reported as gross or net, the Group regularly performs
an assessment on various factors, including whether the
Group is acting as the principal or agent in offering goods
or services to the customer. In such case, the Group first
identifies who controls the specified goods or services
before they are transferred to customer.

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customers, the Group is a principal who
obtains control of any one of the following: (i) a good
or another asset from the other party that the Group
transfers to the customer; (ii) a right to a service to be
performed by other party, which gives the Group the
ability to direct that party to provide the service to the
customer on the Group’s behalf; or (iii) a good or service
from the other party that the Group then consolidates
with other goods or services in providing the specified
good or service to the customer.

If control is unclear, when the Group is primarily obligated
in a transaction, is subject to inventory risk, has latitude
in establishing prices, or has several but not all of these
indicators, the Group records revenues on a gross basis.
Otherwise, the Group records the net amount earned as
commission from goods sold or services provided.
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For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligation, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The stand-alone selling price of the
distinct good or service underlying each performance
obligation is determined at contract inception. It
represents the price at which the Group would sell a
promised good or service separately to a customer. If
a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable,
the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to
any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange of transferring the promised goods or services
to the customer.

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a
variable amount, the Group shall estimate the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the promised goods or services to a customer
using either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method, depending on which method the Group
expects to better predict the amount of consideration to
which it will be entitled.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted using
the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and the interest
income is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant financing
component if the period of financing is 12 months or less.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EAZHBEHME@m
POLICIES (continued)
2.23Revenue recognition (continued)

2.23 s TR ER (|)

Contract modifications are recognised when they are
approved by customer. Contract modification is accounted
for as if it is part of the existing contract if the remaining
goods or services are not distinct and, therefore, forms
part of a single performance obligation that is partially
satisfied at the date of the contract modification.
The effect that the contract modification has on the
transaction price, and on measuring of progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation, is
recognised as an adjustment to revenue (either as an
increase in or a reduction of revenue) at the date of the
contract modification (i.e., adjustment to revenue is made
on a cumulative catch-up basis).

The following is a description of the accounting policy for
the principal revenue streams of the Group.

(i) Revenue from provision of Professional
IT services
The Group provides multiple deliverables to
customers, including network configuration,
assessment of system specifications and
requirements, sales of packaged hardware and
software, installation of equipment and software,
and technical support services under fixed price
contracts. These multiple deliverables are collectively
accounted for as a single performance obligation
when the Group provides an integrated service.

The Group recognises revenue from provision of the
integrated service over time as its customers control
the asset being created or enhanced arising from the
Group’s performance. Revenue is recognised over
time under input method, which is by reference to
the proportion of contract costs incurred to date to
estimated total contract costs for each contract.

Upon the completion of the integrated service, the
provision of IT maintenance and consultancy services
to the customers mainly includes post-sales on-site
maintenance support and technical support services.
Such revenue is recognised over time on a straight-
line basis over the period of services as the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance.

BHEEREFPRBRER Mg T
& A S AR A 3B A X R L TR BE —
BHOEBE(MICRANEEEAT
) - HEEHNEE AR - BINEHE
ERBEEH - AHEEURHER
HIBEHBENEENEETENF
ENENEEE R (A AR TIRER
FHEEEEETT) ER SRS FEE (K
IR IR D)

A AR ER 1 2 B W s SRR & AT
R »

(i) FBHRERITREH Kz

AEEREFPRHZER M
BIERREE - RGHABREX
A HEERBEGREMT R
KRR M IA AR IR B E (B
BHRERMFHRYE - 255
BxMmARRAEERETGS
RIS AR IFE—BORE -

AEEREARNEEEQRRRIZER
RABFPEGINEERN —BRE
Al A FERR IR B SRR 4R & RFS A9 K
& o W RBEE AR —BREHE
NHER - W2 EBLSELENA
WA IE B ANMGEHEEH
XA LE B -

RIEKERAIRBE - mEFEM
THEMEBARGEEBRER
3095 4 o BT S 45 AR 7% - AERE
Wat 12 B AR E R B [ B 4R
BRERAREEQR A a8
B B ) T DARERR

2022 FEHE o BEESHEERLT

161



162

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EAZHBEHME@m
POLICIES (continued)
2.23Revenue recognition (continued)

(@)

(i)

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNO.LOGY LIMITED e

Revenue from provision of Professional
IT services (continued)

Where the contracts include multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to
each performance obligation based on the relative
stand-alone selling prices. Where these are not
directly observable, they are estimated based on
expected cost plus a margin approach.

Estimates of costs or extent of progress towards
completion are revised if circumstances change.
The increase or decrease in estimated total contract
costs results in the adjustments to the progress
towards completion and the corresponding amount
of revenue recognised in the period in which the
circumstances that give rise to the revision become
known by management.

The Group also provides its customers with software
development services where the Group will customise
the software based on the user requirements of the
customers and have an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date. Revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred
to date to estimated total contract costs for each
contract as the Group’s customers control the asset
being created or enhanced arising from the Group'’s
performance, unless the control is transferred only
after delivery to the customers where the revenue
shall be recognised as point in time.

Revenue from provision of Managed
services

The Group leases certain IT equipment to its
customers under finance lease arrangements and
renders related technical support services under
fixed price contracts. Where the contracts include
multiple performance obligations, the Group as a
lessor will separate the components of a contract
and the transaction price will be allocated to each
component based on the relative stand-alone selling
prices. Where these are not directly observable, they
are estimated based on the expect cost plus a margin
approach.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.23Revenue recognition (continued)
(ii) Revenue from provision of Managed

services (continued)

Revenue from related technical support services
is recognised in the accounting period when the
Group provides the service and all of the benefits
are received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer throughout the contract period. Therefore,
the Group satisfies a performance obligation
and recognises revenue over time. The Group's
accounting policy as a lessor is set out in note 2.26
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group also provides its customers with
security monitoring services to protect customers’
information and data security as well as network
operating environment. The Group applies time-
based method to measure the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation
when the Group has a stand-ready obligation to
make itself available to provide the services to the
customers over a period of time.

(iii) Revenue from provision of IT

maintenance and consultancy services
The provision of IT maintenance and consultancy
services mainly includes on-site support and technical
support services provided to the customers and post-
sales maintenance and support services provided by
system vendors under extended warranties. Revenue
from IT maintenance and consultancy services is
recognised over time on a straight-line basis over the
period of services as the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance except for extended
warranties. The Group applies time-based method to
measure the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation when the Group has
a stand-ready obligation to make itself available to
provide the services to the customers over a period
of time.

2 BEREFHEHMEm@

2.23 s TR ER (|)

(i)

(iii)

2022 FERE

BT EREL W 25 (&)

EASEREESOHMIERE
BEERRNWKERABFERAORERE
BRI R - BRI I RIS HY
Wan e BEmER o Bt - &K
EER—BREERETEOEL
WiERKD - BEASE(EA
HEA) S BERENGEE VB
WEMIFE2.26 o

AREEZREME - ARETR
A PR L 2 BT RAE AR #E
BEPNERMEEBLZ 2 ARBHE
LERIR - EAKERN —BEH
N A EBBLAE R HAIAE
FPIRERSGE - AEERA DK
BRIEFIERTEANEENTIE
=

BHITRER BHEBHK
i

RUETHEELRZRRGEIERR
A& P AR 3R 5 S5 M Bl S 8%
AR%% - R IERARIE RIS RO R4
HERBMIREMEREEN R
IR# o BRIERARIESN - THEER
ARG NS IEEREERE
F R Y ER B RE R AN 5 B R 40 2
HO A RPRN —REBA
T AR - EAKER —BEH
NI A EBBLAL R HAAE
PRRERSE - ARERAD K
BREAEERTENEENTIE
=

e BMUEESMEARAT

163



164

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNO.LOGY LIMITED e

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.23Revenue recognition (continued)
(iii) Revenue from provision of IT

maintenance and consultancy services
(continued)

While for extended warranties, the Group acts as
an agent as the Group is not the primary obligor
in fulfilling such additional promises and the
corresponding revenue is recognised on a net basis.

(iv) Revenue from distribution and resale of

packaged hardware and software as a
separate performance obligation

The Group sells a range of packaged IT hardware
and software. Revenue from distribution or resale of
packaged hardware and software is recognised at a
point in time when sale is completed and control is
transferred, being at the point of time the products
delivered to the customer’s specific location and no
unfulfilled obligation could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. Transportation and
other related activities that occur before customers
obtaining control of the related products are
considered as fulfilment activities.

A receivable is recognised by the Group when the
products are delivered to the customers as this
represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

2.24Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss as finance income.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12H31HIFFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.25 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received, and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions. Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses
are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the
cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are effectively recognised
in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.

2.26 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

Group as a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group. Contracts may
contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease
and non-lease components based on their relative stand-
alone selling prices. Assets and liabilities arising from a
lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the following
lease payments:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable,

—  variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date,

—  amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.26 Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

—  the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

—  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method. Lease payments are
allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

— the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability,

— any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives

received, and

— any initial direct costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.26 Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-
use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or finance
lease. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. Operating lease income
is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to
its operating nature. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.
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BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNO.LOGY LIMITED e

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.26 Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as operating lease income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee are accounted for as finance leases. At the
commencement date, an amount representing the lease
payment receivables and initial direct costs is included in
the consolidated statement of financial position as finance
lease receivables. Any unguaranteed residual value is also
recognised at the inception of the lease.

When the Group is a dealer lessor that enters into
a finance lease with a customer, it shall recognise
the following for each of its finance leases at the
commencement date of the lease:

—  revenue being the fair value of the underlying asset
or, if lower, the present value of the lease payments
accruing to the lessor, discounted using a market
rate of interest,

—  cost of sale being the cost, or carrying amount if
different, of the underlying asset less the present
value of the unguaranteed residual value, and

—  selling profit or loss (being the difference between
revenue and cost of sale), recognised in accordance
with an its policy for outright sales to which IFRS 15
applies.

Finance lease receivables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method over
the period of the lease. The Group’s accounting policy
on impairment of finance lease receivables is set out in
note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BElZ2022F 1231 HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.26 Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease
is classified as a finance lease or operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition
exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an
operating lease.

Finance lease income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest rate method reflecting a
constant periodic rate of return on the lessor’'s net
investment in the lease, i.e., the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts to the net carrying
amount of the finance lease receivables through the life
of the investment.

2.27 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

—  the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

— by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the
year and excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:

—  the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

—  the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12H31HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EAEHHBFEHEwm@m)

POLICIES (continued)
2.28 Dividend

2.28[R 2

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group'’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. Risk management is carried out by
the senior management of the Group.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised assets
and liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the Group entities’ functional
currency.

For commercial transactions, the exposure to
foreign exchange risk is minimal as a majority
of subsidi